On Bernstein-Euler-Jacobi Operators

Von der Fakultät für Mathematik

der

Universität Duisburg-Essen

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigte

Dissertation

von

Elena Dorina Stanila

aus

Sibiu

Gutachter: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Dr. h.c. Heiner Gonska Prof. Dr. rer. nat. Margareta Heilmann

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 14. Juli 2014



Fakultät für Mathematik Fachgebiet Mathematische Informatik

PhD Thesis

On Bernstein-Euler-Jacobi Operators

Elena Dorina STĂNILĂ

July 16, 2014

Supervised by Prof. Dr. dr. h. c. Heinz H. Gonska.

The most important thing to remember is this: To be ready at any moment to give up what you are for what you might become. W.E.B. DU BOIS To my family.

Contents

Introduction 7								
Notations and symbols 10								
1	Preliminaries and auxiliary results							
	1.1	Main t 1.1.1 1.1.2 1.1.3 1.1.4 1.1.5 1.1.6 1.1.7 The Pe	cools Positive linear operators Positive linear operators Different types of moduli of smoothness Different types of moduli of smoothness Different types of moduli of smoothness Žuk's function and its applications Different types of moduli of smoothness K-functionals and their relationship to the moduli Different types of the Taylor expansion The integral remainder of the Taylor expansion Different types of the Taylor expansion Variation diminution Different types of the Taylor expansion Remarks on (de)compositions of positive linear operators Different types of the types of the types of the type of type of the type of type of the type of ty	12 12 13 15 17 19 19 20 21				
	1.2	1.2.1 1.2.2 1.2.3 1.2.4 1.2.5	Basic properties Basic properties Derivatives of Bernstein polynomials Approximation and shape preserving properties Bernstein polynomials for convex functions Converse result	21 21 22 23 24 24				
	1.3	The (E 1.3.1 1.3.2 1.3.3 1.3.4 1.3.5 1.3.6 1.3.7	Juler-Jacobi) Beta type operatorsDefinition of operators $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ Basic propertiesMoments and their recursionThe moments of order twoAsymptotic formulaeIterates of $\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}$ Variation diminution	25 25 26 27 29 30 33 36				
2	The	Bernste	ein-Euler-Jacobi (BEJ) class of composition operators	38				
	2.12.2	BEJ of 2.1.1 2.1.2 BEJ of 2.2.1 2.2.2	first kindfirst kindDefinitionfirst kindMoments up to order 2first kindsecond kindfirst kindDefinitionfirst kindMoments up to order 2first kindMoments up to order 2first kind	38 38 39 40 40 40				
	2.3 2.4 2.5	Particu Variati Direct 2.5.1 2.5.2	ular cases	42 50 50 50 53				

3	The class of operators U_n^{ϱ} 5		
	3.1	Properties	57
	3.2	Images of the monomials	59
	3.3	The moments of U_n^{ϱ}	60
	3.4 The eigenstructure of U_n^{ϱ}		61
		3.4.1 Diagonalisation and description of the eigenfunctions	61
		3.4.2 Asymptotics of the eigenfunctions	66
		3.4.3 The structure of the dual functionals	67
	3.5	Variation diminution	70
	3.6	Global smoothness preservation	71
	3.7	Strong Voronovskaya-type inequality	74
	3.8	Approximation by powers of U_n^{ϱ}	77
		3.8.1 Upper and lower inequalities	77
		3.8.2 Applications using the eigenstructure	82
	3.9	The difference $U_n^{\varrho} - U_n^{\sigma}$	83
	3.10	The commutators $[U_n^{\varrho}; U_n^{\sigma}]$ and $[U_m^{\varrho}; U_n^{\varrho}]$	85
	3.11	The behavior of U_n^{\flat} with respect to Lipschitz classes of order m	87
	3.12	Lagrange-type operators associated with U_n^{ϱ}	88
		3.12.1 A first description of L_n^{ϱ}	88
		3.12.2 A concrete approach to L_n^{ϱ}	89
		3.12.3 The associated divided difference	90
	3.13	Iterated Boolean sums of the operators U_n^{ϱ}	94
	3.14	The derivatives of U_n^{ϱ}	95
	3.15	Asymptotic formula	96
	3.16	Power series of the operators U_n^{ϱ}	98
		3.16.1 The power series A_n^{ϱ}	99
		3.16.2 The Voronovskava operator A_2	101
		3.16.3 The convergence of A_n^{ϱ} on $C_0[0,1]$	102

Bibliography

Introduction

The present thesis is very much influenced by my late teacher Alexandru Lupaş (Arad, România, 5 January 1942 - Sibiu, România, 14 August 2007) and to subsequent work done by my present thesis advisor. To be more specific, the starting point for our introduction is a very short question at the end of Lupaş' paper [63]. He drew the reader's attention to the fact that at least some well-known "Bernstein-type" operators are compositions of the classical Bernstein operators B_n , and other operators. According to our knowledge, Lupaş was the first one to observe such a phenomenon.

It is his merit to have shown that it can be much easier to look at things from an algebraic point of view and to draw conclusions on the behaviour of a composite operator from properties of the building blocks. The present thesis follows this approach and makes an attempt to give explanations which go far beyond Lupaş' original ambition.

We note that when we talk about Bernstein-type operators we mean certain positive linear operators defined on a space C[a, b], where [a, b] is a compact interval of the real axis. When doing so we explicitly exclude mappings such as the Mirakyan-Favard-Szàsz operators taking care of continuous function on the real semi-axis.

An early attempt to give a survey on operators being defined on such compact sets *X*, where *X* is a subset of \mathbb{R}^d , $d \ge 1$, was given in three bibliographies [96], [41] and [42]. There an informal attempt was made to define such operators of Bernstein-type. What had always been clear is that the classical Bernstein operators introduced in 1912 (see [12]) play a crucial role in this context and that many of the subsequent papers dealing with the subject are treating modifications of such operators.

There is a good reason to consider the classical B_n operator as a fundamental building block. Several attempts have been made to decompose the Bernstein operator into simpler but non-trivial components. A technical report considering this problem was given by Gonska, Heilmann and Raşa (see [37]). There it is shown that all seemingly natural decompositions fail. In this sense B_n can be considered as a kind of "prime" operator.

Following the tracks laid by both my mentors I also became interested in these so-called Bernstein-type operators, although this notion is so broadly defined that none of us knows exactly what it means.

By introducing two classes of <u>Bernstein-Euler-Jacobi (BEJ)</u> operators we will first rediscover and explain many positive linear operators which have been considered in the literature over the years, but were never explained to be compositions. Thus we bring clarity and avoid the original definitions and formulae which are lengthy, confusing and mostly difficult to be handled.

We start our thesis with several auxiliary results which are indispensable for our considerations in later sections. Many of these are in regard to quantitative approximation theory in connection with shape preservation. Besides of the Bernstein operator an important role will be played by Beta-type operators with Jacobi weights.

Some of their properties are presented in Section 1.3 following in part the fundamental work of Lupaş and Mühlbach.

In the second chapter we discuss the two kinds of BEJ operators and give explicit representations of their moments up to order two. This is motivated by the fact that the second moments of a positive linear operator govern the degree of approximation. The expressions obtained are rather complicated, but for special values of the parameters involved they all reduce to results known from the literature. In Section 2.3 we give a survey of special cases which we were able to detect in the literature and which all can be explained as particular instances of BEJ-type operators. In the next two sections we show how the properties of the building blocks can be used to derive results for the general case. First we show that the operators from both BEJ classes have the (strong) variation-diminishing property (SVDP), and then we use a method developed by Finta to give direct and converse results for some special cases.

Our central Chapter 3 deals with the particular class of operators U_n^{ϱ} which were introduced by Păltănea in [75]. With the classical Bernstein operator and so-called "genuine" Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators they share the property to reproduce linear functions and this makes them very different from other BEJ-type operators which do not share this feature.

We begin the chapter by recalling the definition provided by Păltănea and in the first section we collect some properties of the operators. They are either new or come from one of the papers of Gonska and Păltănea (see [45], [46]) but for which we have chosen a different path of proof. We remark that although U_n^{ϱ} coincides with the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operator for the case $\varrho = 1$, when it comes to studying it, its properties are mostly influenced by the Bernstein operator. This will become more and more obvious as we walk through this chapter.

In Section 3.2 we give a representation of the images of monomials that shows exactly how strong this relationship is. Section 3.3 is taken in its entirety from [45] and the results therein will be used repeatedly throughout this work.

After having noted that the images of the monomials for both U_n^{ϱ} and B_n are quite similar we came across the article on the eigenstructure of B_n written by Cooper and Waldron (see [18]) and this motivated us to find a way to develop similar results for U_n^{ϱ} . Thus each result in Section 3.4 has a correspondent in this paper, and also enriches the results known for U_n .

In Section 3.5 we give a complete and detailed proof of the SVDP using a slightly different approach than in the general case. At the end we include an observation on the preservation of convexity.

In Section 3.6 we address the topic of global smoothness preservation, having its roots in the preservation of some Lipschitz classes.

The next section is dedicated to some kind of "strong" Voronovskaya-type inequality. The reason why we call this inequality "strong" is that in addition to the convergence of $n(U_n^{\varrho}f - f)$ towards $\frac{(\varrho + 1)}{2(n\varrho + 1)}\varphi^2 f''$ it also expresses the degree of approximation depending on the smoothness properties of the function. We came across this result in our attempt to prove a strong converse inequality of type B, as defined by Ditzian and Ivanov in [22].

In Section 3.8 we look at approximation by powers of U_n^{ϱ} . First we provide quantitative results using different types of moduli and then consider the eigenstructure

as means to develop further results.

In Section 3.9 we consider the difference of two classes of operators and provide a direct and a constructive approach to estimate it and then in the next section we tackle the problem of the commutators. Other type of such commutators were already studied in [44].

In Section 3.11 we study the behaviour of U_n^{ϱ} with respect to Lipschitz classes of order *m*.

In Sections 3.12 to 3.14 the focus is on the relation they have to certain Lagrangetype interpolators associated to them, a well known feature in the theory of Bernstein operators. Considerations concerning iterated Boolean sums based on a single mapping U_n^{ϱ} , ϱ and n fixed and a relationship between certain divided differences used in Section 3.12 and the representation of the derivatives $(U_n^{\varrho})^{(j)}$ are also included.

In Section 3.15 we give asymptotic formulae for higher order moments using the same approach as in Subsection 1.3.5 where we studied the problem for the Beta operator. These add to our series of Voronovskaya-type results, and help put together an overview on what can be done on the subject.

In the last section we study power series of U_n^{ϱ} . Using the eigenstructure of the operators we give a non-quantitative convergence result towards the inverse Voronovskaya operators. We include a quantitative statement via a smoothing approach.

Much of the material presented in this thesis was submitted for publication and is presently under consideration or it has already been published.

Acknowledgment

First and foremost I wish to thank my Ph.D. advisor Prof. Dr. Dr.h.c. Heiner Gonska, for his support and encouragement throughout this endeavour. I have truly learned a lot and had a good time doing it.

I also thank for their valuable support: Dr. Privatdozent Daniela Kacsó and Prof. Dr. Margareta Heilmann. Their insights proved to be very helpful in the development of the present thesis. My special thanks go to Prof. Univ. Dr. Ioan Raşa which had a great influence during his visits at the University of Duisburg-Essen. As a result of our continuous collaboration, I've came to consider him my second advisor.

Finally I would like to thank my dear colleague M. Sc. Maria Rusu for her support and useful advices.

All this wouldn't have been possible without the aid of the University of Duisburg-Essen, which granted me a three years scholarship that supported my Ph.D. studies here.

Notations and symbols

In this work we shall often make use of the following symbols:

•	is the sign indicating equal by definition"
.–	a := b'' indicates that a is the quantity to be defined or explained
	and h provides the definition or explanation $h-a^{-a}$ has
	the same meaning
INI	the same meaning.
IN INI.	the set of natural numbers,
1 N() ID	the set of real numbers including zero,
$\begin{bmatrix} a & b \end{bmatrix}$	a closed interval
[u, v]	a closed interval
(u, v) or $[u, v]$	Let Y he an interval of the real axis
$D(\mathbf{V})$	Let A be an interval of the real axis.
$D(\Lambda)$ $L^{p}(\mathbf{V})$	the set of all real-valued and <i>bounded</i> functions defined on X .
$L^{r}(\mathbf{X})$	the class of the Lebesgue p-integrable functions on X, $p \ge 1$.
$\ f\ _p$	is the norm on $L^p(X)$ defined by $ f _p := (\int_X f(x) ^p dx)^{1/p}$, $p \ge 1$.
C(X)	the set of all real-valued and <i>continuous</i> functions defined on <i>X</i> .
C[a,b]	the set of all real-valued and <i>continuous</i> functions defined on the compact
	interval [a, b].
	For $f \in B(X)$ or $f \in C(X)$
$\ f\ _{\infty}$	is the <i>Chebyshev norm</i> or <i>sup-norm</i> , namely
	$ f _{\infty} := \sup\{ f(x) : x \in X\}.$
$W_{2,\infty}[0,1]$	the set of all real-valued and <i>continuous</i> functions that verify
	f' absolutely continuous and $ f'' _{L_{\infty}} < \infty$,
	where $ f'' _{L_{\infty}} = vrai \sup f''(x) $.
or [1]	$x \in [0,1]$
C'[a,b]	the set of all real-valued, <i>r-times continuously differentiable</i> function,
	$(r \in \mathbb{N}).$
$Lip_{\tau}M$	the set of all $C[a, b]$ – functions that verify the <i>Lipschitz condition</i> :
-	$ f(x_2) - f(x_1) \le M x_2 - x_1 ^{t}, \ \forall x_1, x_2 \in [a, b], 0 < \tau \le 1, \ M > 0.$
\prod_n	$(\prod_n [a, b], n \in \mathbb{N}_0)$ the linear space of all real polynomials
	with the degree at most <i>n</i> .
e_n	denotes the <i>n</i> -th <i>monomial</i> with $e_n : [a, b] \ni x \mapsto x^n \in \mathbb{R}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$.
	For a function $f : X \to \mathbb{R}$, X an interval of the real axis we have:
$\Delta_h^k f(x)$	is the finite difference of order $k \in \mathbb{N}$, step $h \in \mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$
	and starting point $x \in X$. A computing formula:
	$\Delta_{h}^{k}f(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{k} (-1)^{k-i} {k \choose i} f(x+ih), x+ih \in X, i = 0, \dots, k, h \in \mathbb{R}, h \neq 0.$
D^r or $f^{(r)}$	<i>r</i> -th <i>derivative</i> of the function $f \in C^{r}[a, b]$.
$[x_0,, x_m; f]$	<i>m</i> -th divided difference of $f \in \mathcal{F}(X)$ on the not necessarily distinct
	knots $x_0, \ldots, x_m \in X$.
$a^{\overline{b}}$	are the <i>rising factorials</i>

$$a^{\overline{b}} := \prod_{i=0}^{b-1} (a+i), \ a \in \mathbb{R}, \ b \in \mathbb{N}_0, \text{ where } \prod_{i=0}^{-1} := 1.$$

$$a^{\underline{b}} \qquad \text{are the falling factorials}$$

$$a^{\underline{b}} := \prod_{i=0}^{b-1} (a-i), \ a \in \mathbb{R}, \ b \in \mathbb{N}_0, \text{ where } \prod_{i=0}^{-1} := 1.$$

$$y^{[m,h]} \qquad \text{the factorial power of step } h \in \mathbb{R} \text{ defined by: } y^{[m,h]} := \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} (y-ih),$$

$$m \in \mathbb{N}_0. \text{ As above } \prod_{i=0}^{-1} := 1.$$

Chapter 1

Preliminaries and auxiliary results

1.1 Main tools

1.1.1 Positive linear operators

In this section we will introduce some basic definitions and some basic properties concerning *positive linear operators*. For more information on this topic see [95].

Definition 1.1.1. Let *X*, *Y* be two linear spaces of real functions. The mapping *L* : $X \rightarrow Y$ is called a *linear operator* if $L(\alpha f + \beta g) = \alpha L(f) + \beta L(g)$, for all $f, g \in X$ and for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$.

If for all $f \ge 0$, $f \in X$ we have that $Lf \ge 0$, then *L* is a *positive linear operator*.

- **Remark 1.1.2.** a) The set $\mathcal{L}(X, Y) := \{L : X \to Y \mid L \text{ is a linear operator }\}$ is a real vector space.
 - b) In order to highlight the argument of the function $Lf \in Y$ we use the notation L(f;x) but also in some rare cases (Lf)(x).

Some elementary inequalities are recalled in the following:

Property 1.1.3. *Let* $L : X \to Y$ *be a positive and linear operator.*

- (*i*) If $f, g \in X$ with $f \leq g$ then $Lf \leq Lg$. (monotonicity)
- (ii) $\forall f \in X \text{ we have } |Lf| \leq L|f|$.

Definition 1.1.4. Let $L : X \to Y$, where $X \subseteq Y$ are two linear *normed spaces* of real functions. To each operator *L* we can assign a non-negative number ||L|| defined by

$$||L|| := \sup_{\substack{f \in X \\ ||f||=1}} ||Lf|| = \sup_{\substack{f \in X \\ 0 < ||f|| \le 1}} ||Lf||.$$

By convention, if *X* is the zero linear space, any operator *L* which maps *X* to *Y* must be the *zero operator* and is assigned the *zero norm*.

It can be easily verified that $\|\cdot\|$ satisfies all the properties of a norm and hence is called *the operator norm*.

Choosing X = Y = C[a, b] the following can be stated regarding the continuity and the operator norm:

Corollary 1.1.5. If $L : C[a,b] \to C[a,b]$ is linear and positive then L is also continuous and $||L|| = ||Le_0||$.

The next result provides a necessary and sufficient condition for the convergence of a sequence of positive linear operators towards the identity operator. It was independently discovered and proved by three mathematicians in three consecutive years: T. Popoviciu [80] in 1951, H. Bohman [13] in 1952 and P. P. Korovkin [61] in 1953.

This classical result of approximation theory is mostly known under the name of *Bohman-Korovkin theorem*, because T. Popoviciu's contribution in [80] remained unknown for a long time.

Theorem 1.1.6. Let $L_n : C[a,b] \to C[a,b]$ be a sequence of positive linear operators. If $\lim_{n\to\infty} L_n e_i = e_i$, i = 0, 1, 2, uniformly on [a,b], then $\lim_{n\to\infty} L_n f = f$ uniformly on [a,b] for every $f \in C[a,b]$.

Remark 1.1.7. Due to the above result the monomials e_j , j = 0, 1, 2, play an important role in the approximation theory of linear and positive operators on spaces of continuous functions. They are often called Korovkin test-functions.

This elegant and simple result has inspired many mathematicians to extend the last theorem in different directions, generalizing the notion of sequence and considering different spaces. In this way a special branch of approximation theory arose, called Korovkin-type approximation theory. A complete and comprehensive exposure on this topic can be found in [6].

1.1.2 Different types of moduli of smoothness

The first modulus of smoothness (continuity) has a long history. It appeared already in 1911 in the Ph. D. thesis of D. Jackson [53], the work that laid the basis for what is known today as *Quantitative Approximation Theory*.

Ditzian and Totik introduced in 1987 what they call a "natural modulus of smoothness" which is considered to be a "better tool to deal with the rate of best approximation, inverse theorems and embedding theorems" (see [23, p.1-4]).

The Ditzian-Totik modulus of smoothness is given by

$$\omega_{\varphi}^{r}(f,t)_{p} \equiv \sup_{0 < h \le t} ||\Delta_{h\varphi}^{r}f||_{L_{p}}$$
(1.1)

where the function $\varphi(x)$ and the interval in question are related to the problem at hand.

Remark 1.1.8. A vital feature of (1.1) is that the increment $h\varphi(x)$ varies with x. For $\varphi(x) \equiv 1$, (1.1) is reduced to the classical modulus.

The main tools to measure the degree of convergence of positive linear operators towards the identity operator are the *moduli of smoothness* of first and second order. For $f \in C[a, b]$ and $\delta \ge 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} \omega_1(f;\delta) &:= \sup\{|f(x+h) - f(x)| : x, x+h \in [a,b], \ 0 \le h \le \delta\}; \\ \omega_2(f;\delta) &:= \sup\{|f(x+h) - 2f(x) + f(x-h)| : x, x \pm h \in [a,b], \ 0 \le h \le \delta\}. \end{split}$$

Most of the error estimates in this work are given in terms of the two moduli of smoothness, the Ditzian-Totik second order modulus denoted by $\omega_{\varphi}^2(f, \cdot)$ and sometimes by $\omega_{\varphi}^{\varphi}(f, \cdot)$ or in term of $\tilde{\omega}_1$.

 ω_1 inherits its name from the first part of the following property:

Proposition 1.1.9. *Let* $f \in C[a, b]$ *and* $\delta > 0$ *.*

- a) If $\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \omega_1(f; \delta) = 0$, then f is continuous on [a, b].
- b) The following equivalence holds: $f \in Lip_{\tau}M$ iff $\omega_1(f;\delta) \leq M \cdot \delta^{\tau}$, where $0 < \tau \leq 1$ and M > 0.

A useful modification is represented by the *least concave majorant* of $\omega_1(f; \cdot)$ given by

$$\tilde{\omega}(f;\varepsilon) = \begin{cases} \sup_{\substack{0 \le x \le \varepsilon \le y \le b-a \\ x \ne y \\ \tilde{\omega}(f,b-a) = \omega(f,b-a) \end{cases}} & \text{for} \quad 0 \le \varepsilon \le b-a, \\ \tilde{\omega}(f,b-a) = \omega(f,b-a) & \text{if} \quad \varepsilon > b-a. \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

The definition of $\tilde{\omega}(f, \cdot)$ shows that

$$\omega_1(f;\cdot) \le \tilde{\omega}_1(f;\cdot) \le 2 \cdot \omega_1(f;\cdot). \tag{1.3}$$

For some further properties of $\tilde{\omega}(f; \cdot)$ see, e.g., V.K. Dzjadyk [24, p. 153ff] or [35].

It was shown by N.P. Korneičuk [60, p. 670] that for any $\varepsilon \ge 0$ and $\xi > 0$ the function $\omega(f; \cdot)$ and its least concave majorant $\tilde{\omega}(f; \cdot)$ are related by the inequality

$$\tilde{\omega}(f;\xi\cdot\varepsilon) \le (1+\xi)\cdot\omega(f;\varepsilon),\tag{1.4}$$

and that this inequality cannot be improved for each $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\xi = 1, 2 \dots$

However we also give estimates, where moduli of higher order are involved. Therefore we give the definition of ω_k , $k \in \mathbb{N}$, as given in 1981 by L. L. Schumaker in his book [90]:

Definition 1.1.10. For $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $\delta \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $f \in C[a, b]$ the *modulus of smoothness* of order *k* is defined by

$$\omega_k(f;\delta) := \sup\{|\Delta_h^k f(x)| \mid 0 \le h \le \delta, \ x, x + kh \in [a,b]\}.$$

$$(1.5)$$

Remark 1.1.11. For clarity sometimes we will write $\omega_k(f; \delta; [a, b])$. It is obvious that for $\delta \geq \frac{b-a}{k}$ one has $\omega_k(f; \delta) = \omega_k(f; \frac{b-a}{k})$.

We collect in the following proposition some useful properties of ω_k :

Property 1.1.12. (see [95])

- 1) $\omega_k(f;0) = 0.$
- 2) $\omega_k(f; \cdot)$ is a positive, continuous and non-decreasing function on \mathbb{R}_+ .
- 3) $\omega_k(f; \cdot)$ is sub-addititive, i.e., $\omega_1(f; \delta_1 + \delta_2) \leq \omega_1(f; \delta_1) + \omega_1(f; \delta_2)$, $\delta_i \geq 0$, i = 1, 2.
- 4) $\forall \delta \geq 0, \ \omega_{k+1}(f;\delta) \leq 2\omega_k(f;\delta).$
- 5) If $f \in C^1[a, b]$ then $\omega_{k+1}(f; \delta) \leq \delta \cdot \omega_k(f'; \delta), \ \delta \geq 0$.

- 6) If $f \in C^{r}[a,b]$ then $\omega_{r}(f;\delta) \leq \delta^{r} \sup_{\delta \in [a,b]} |f^{(r)}(\delta)|.$
- 7) $\forall \delta > 0 \text{ and } n \in \mathbb{N}, \ \omega_k(f; n\delta) \le n^k \omega_k(f; \delta).$
- 8) $\forall \delta > 0$ and r > 0, $\omega_k(f; r\delta) \le (1 + [r])^k \omega_k(f; \delta)$, where [a] is the integer part of *a*.
- 9) If $\delta \ge 0$ is fixed, then $\omega_k(f; \cdot)$ is a seminorm on C[a, b].

Corollary 1.1.13. (see [95])

- 1) $\forall \delta > 0, \omega_{k+r}(f; \delta) \leq 2^r \omega_k(f; \delta), \ k, r \in \mathbb{N}.$
- 2) $\forall 0 < \delta \leq 1, \ \omega_{k+1}(f; \delta^k) \leq \omega_k(f; \delta).$

1.1.3 Žuk's function and its applications

Some of the estimates in terms of different moduli of smoothness can be elegantly proven by using as an intermediate a special smoothing function that was constructed by V. Žuk in [103]. Therefore we find it instructive to present here its definition and its relevant properties, see also [38].

Žuk's approach was the following: For $f \in C[a, b]$ he first defined the extension $f_h : [a - h, b + h] \rightarrow \mathbb{R}$, with h > 0, by

$$f_h(x) := \begin{cases} P_-(x), & a-h \le x \le a, \\ f(x), & a \le x \le b, \\ P_+(x), & b < x \le b+h, \end{cases}$$

where $P_{-}, P_{+} \in \prod_{1}$ are *the best approximants* to *f* on the indicated intervals.

Then Žuk defined its function $Z_h f(\cdot)$ (sometimes also denoted by $f_{2,h}(\cdot)$) using the *second order Steklov means*

$$Z_h f(x) := \frac{1}{h} \cdot \int_{-h}^{h} \left(1 - \frac{|t|}{h}\right) f_h(x+t) dt, \ x \in [a,b].$$

It can be shown that $Z_h f \in W_{2,\infty}[a, b]$.

The following estimates were proven in [103, Lemma 1] (or [38, Lemma 2.1])

Lemma 1.1.14. Let $f \in C[a, b]$, $0 < h \le \frac{1}{2}(b - a)$. Then

$$\begin{split} \|f - Z_h f\|_{\infty} &\leq \quad \frac{3}{4} \cdot \omega_2(f;h), \\ \|(Z_h f)''\|_{L_{\infty}} &\leq \quad \frac{3}{2} \cdot h^{-2} \cdot \omega_2(f;h). \end{split}$$

Supplementary estimates for lower order derivatives of $Z_h f$ are given in

Lemma 1.1.15. (see [38, Lemma 2.4]) Let f, h and $Z_h f$ be given as in Lemma 1.1.14. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|(Z_h f)'\|_{\infty} &\leq \frac{1}{h} \cdot \left[2 \cdot \omega_1(f;h) + \frac{3}{2} \cdot \omega_2(f;h) \right], \\ \|Z_h f\|_{\infty} &\leq \|f\|_{\infty} + \frac{3}{4} \cdot \omega_2(f;h). \end{aligned}$$

Corollary 1.1.16. *As an immediate consequence of the latter lemma, one has the simpler inequalities*

$$\|(Z_h f)'\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{5}{h} \cdot \omega_1(f;h)$$
, and $\|Z_h f\|_{\infty} \leq 4 \cdot \|f\|_{\infty}$

As an application of the upper inequalities the authors proved in [38] the following:

Lemma 1.1.17. (see [38, Lemma 4.1]) Let $g \in W_{2,\infty}$ and the polynomial B_ng , where B_n is the Bernstein operator defined on [a, b] (see Section 1.2 for details). Then for any $\varepsilon > 0$ and a sufficiently large n the following inequalities hold:

 $||g - B_n g||_{\infty} < \varepsilon, ||B_n g||_{\infty} \le ||g||_{\infty}, ||(B_n g)'||_{\infty} \le ||g'||_{\infty},$

and

$$||(B_ng)''||_{\infty} \leq ||g''||_{L_{\infty}}.$$

In other words, the latter lemma affirms that functions in $W_{2,\infty}[a, b]$ can be approximated well by functions in $C^2[a, b]$, while "retaining important differential characteristics", see [38].

Supplementary results on "smoothing of functions by smoother ones" can be found in [34, Lemma 3.1]. Having further applications in mind, we shall present this assertion below:

Lemma 1.1.18. Let I = [0,1] and $f \in C^r(I)$, $r \in \mathbb{N}_0$. For any $h \in (0,1]$ and $s \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists a function $f_{h,r+s} \in C^{2r+s}(I)$ with

(i)
$$\|f^{(j)} - f^{(j)}_{h,r+s}\|_{\infty} \le c \cdot \omega_{r+s}(f^{(j)};h)$$
 for $0 \le j \le r$,
(ii) $\|f^{(j)}_{h,r+s}\|_{\infty} \le c \cdot h^{-j} \cdot \omega_j(f;h)$, for $0 \le j \le r+s$,
(iii) $\|f^{(j)}_{h,r+s}\|_{\infty} \le c \cdot h^{-(r+s)} \cdot \omega_{r+s}(f^{(j-r-s)};h)$, for $r+s \le j \le 2r+s$.

Here the constant c depends only on r and s.

Next we present a partial generalization of a theorem of Brudnyĭ which will be used as means to prove some further results.

Theorem 1.1.19. (see [38, Theorem 4.2]) Let $(B, || \cdot ||_B)$ be a Banach space, and let $H : C[a, b] \rightarrow (B, || \cdot ||_B)$ be an operator, where

(*i*)
$$||H(f+g)||_B \le \gamma\{||Hf||_B + ||Hg||_B\}$$
 for all $f, g \in C[a, b]$,

- (*ii*) $||Hf||_B \le \alpha ||f||_C$ for all $f \in C[a, b]$,
- (*iii*) $||Hg||_B \leq \beta_0 ||g||_C + \beta_1 ||g'||_C + \beta_2 ||g''||_C$ for all $g \in C^2[a, b]$.

Then for all $f \in C[a, b]$, $0 < h \le (b - a)/2$ *the following inequality holds:*

$$||Hf||_{B} \leq \gamma \left\{ \beta_{0}||f|| + \frac{2\beta_{1}}{h}\omega_{1}(f;h) + \frac{3}{4}\left(\alpha + \beta_{0} + \frac{2\beta_{1}}{h} + \frac{2\beta_{2}}{h}\right)\omega_{2}(f;h) \right\}.$$

Corollary 1.1.20. (see [38, Corollary 4.3]) In many cases one has $\gamma = 1$ and $\beta_0 = \beta_1 = 0$, so that the inequality from Theorem 1.1.19 simplifies to

$$||Hf||_B \leq \left(\frac{3\alpha}{4} + \frac{3\beta_2}{2h^2}\right)\omega_2(f;h).$$

1.1.4 K-functionals and their relationship to the moduli

In 1968 J. Peetre introduced in [77] a functional, nowadays called *Peetre's K-functional*, for investigation of interpolation spaces between two Banach spaces. As predicted by Peetre this became another important instrument to measure the smoothness of a function in terms of how well it can be approximated by smoother functions.

It is possible to define the K-functional in a very general context as is presented in [23]. This can be used in applications and in particular for polynomials of best approximation.

Definition 1.1.21. For a positive integer *r* the *K*-functional of the pair of spaces $L_p(a, b), 1 \le p \le \infty$, and a corresponding weighted Sobolev space with the weight function φ^r is given by

$$K_{r,\varphi}(f,t^r)_p = \inf_{g^{(r-1)} \in A.C.} \{ ||f-g||_p + t^r ||\varphi^r g^{(r)}||_p \}.$$

where $g^{(r-1)} \in A.C.$ means that g is r-1 differentiable and $g^{(r-1)}$ is absolutely continuous in every closed finite interval [c, d] such that $[c, d] \subset (a, b)$.

Sometimes the notation K_r^{φ} is used.

For various *K*-functionals probably the most important problem is that of characterizing their behavior using structural properties of the functions. Here the characterization will be done using the modulus of smoothness $\omega_{\varphi}^{r}(f,t)_{p}$. To that end the following equivalence theorem is given

Theorem 1.1.22. (see [23, p.11]) Suppose r is a positive integer, $f \in L_p(0,1), 1 \le p \le \infty$ and $\varphi(x) = \sqrt{x(1-x)}$. Then

$$M^{-1}\omega_{\varphi}^{r}(f,t)_{p} \leq K_{r,\varphi}(f,t^{r})_{p} \leq M\omega_{\varphi}^{r}(f,t)_{p}, \ 0 < t \leq t_{0}$$

for some constants M > 0 and t_0 .

Remark 1.1.23. This result is also valid if C[0, 1] replaces $L_{\infty}(0, 1)$.

For the applications we have in mind in this general context, it suffices to consider the case r = 2.

The classical definition of the K-functional is given below.

Definition 1.1.24. For any $f \in C[a, b]$, $\delta \ge 0$ and integer $s \ge 1$ we call

$$K_{s}(f;\delta)_{[a,b]} := K(f;\delta;C[a,b],C^{s}[a,b])$$

$$:= \inf\{\|f-g\|_{\infty} + \delta \cdot \|g^{(s)}\|_{\infty} : g \in C^{s}[a,b]\},$$
(1.6)

Peetre's K-functional of order s.

Whenever there is no doubt about the interval of definition of f we shall use for $K_s(f;\delta)_{[a,b]}$ the abbreviation $K_s(f;\delta)$.

It is clear that the quantity in (1.6) reflects some approximation properties of f: the inequality $K_s(f;\delta) < \varepsilon$, $\delta > 0$ implies that f can be approximated with error $||f - g||_{\infty} < \varepsilon$ in C[a, b] by an element $g \in C^s[a, b]$, whose norm is not to large, $||g^{(s)}||_{\infty} < \frac{\varepsilon}{\delta}$.

The following lemma collects some of the properties of $K_s(f; \cdot)$. They were proven by P.L. Butzer & H. Berens [14], but they can also be found in more recent work on approximation theory as in: [90], [21] and [35]. **Lemma 1.1.25.** (see Proposition 3.2.3 in [14]) Let $K_s(f; \cdot)$ be defined as in (1.6).

1) The mapping $K_s(f; \delta) : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is continuous especially at $\delta = 0$, i.e.,

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} K_s(f;\delta) = 0 = K_s(f;0).$$

- 2) For each fixed $f \in C[a,b]$ the application $K_s(f;\cdot) : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is monotonically increasing and concave function.
- 3) For arbitrary $\lambda, \delta \geq 0$, and fixed $f \in C[a, b]$, one has the inequality

$$K_s(f; \lambda \cdot \delta) \leq \max\{1, \lambda\} \cdot K_s(f; \delta).$$

- 4) For arbitrary f_1 , $f_2 \in C[a, b]$ we have $K_s(f_1 + f_2; \delta) \leq K_s(f_1; \delta) + K_s(f_2; \delta)$, $\delta \geq 0$.
- 5) For each $\delta \ge 0$ fixed, $K_s(\cdot; \delta)$ is a seminorm on C[a, b], such that

$$K_s(f;\delta) \leq ||f||_{\infty}$$

for all $f \in C[a, b]$.

The following theorem establishes the close relationship between the K-functional and the moduli of smoothness. K_s and ω_s are related by the following *equivalence relation*, see H. Johnen [54]:

Theorem 1.1.26. There exist constants C_1 and C_2 , depending only on s and [a, b] such that

$$C_1 \cdot \omega_s(f;\delta) \le K_s(f;\delta^s) \le C_2 \cdot \omega_s(f;\delta), \tag{1.7}$$

for all $f \in C[a, b]$ and $\delta > 0$.

In general there are no sharp constants known in the above (double) inequality. However, there are two exceptional cases for s = 1, 2. We present them below.

The following lemma known as *Brudnyĭ's representation theorem* establishes the connection between $K_1(f;\delta)_{[a,b]}$ and the least concave majorant defined at (1.2).

Lemma 1.1.27. *Every function* $f \in C[a, b]$ *satisfies the equality*

$$K_1\left(f,\delta;C[a,b],C^1[a,b]\right) = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \tilde{\omega}_1(f;2\delta), \ \delta \ge 0.$$
(1.8)

More details and also proofs of the above lemma can be found in many different sources, as for example: in the article of B. S. Mitjagin & E. M. Semenov [70], or in the book by R. T. Rockafellar [87], or in the monograph of R. A. DeVore & G. G. Lorentz [21, p. 175] and more recently in a paper of R. Păltănea [76].

Also for the case s = 2 there is something known about the constants in front of the moduli of smoothness. Thus, H. Gonska proved in [32, p. 31] the following

Lemma 1.1.28. *Let* $f \in C[a, b]$ *and* $0 \le \delta$ *. Then we have*

$$\frac{1}{4} \cdot \omega_2(f;\delta) \le K_2\left(f, \frac{\delta^2}{2}; C[a,b], C^2[a,b]\right) \text{ and}$$
$$K_2(f, \delta^2; C[a,b], C^2[a,b]) \le \left(\frac{3}{2} + 2 \cdot \max\left\{1, \frac{\delta^2}{(b-a)^2}\right\}\right) \cdot \omega_2(f;\delta)$$

In another context, but also very useful for our next applications is the following:

Lemma 1.1.29. For any $f \in C[a, b]$ and $\delta \ge 0$ the following identity holds,

$$K(f;\delta;C[a,b],C^{2}[a,b]) = K(f;\delta;C[a,b],W_{2,\infty}[a,b]),$$
(1.9)

where the K-functional on the right hand side can be defined in an analogous way to the other one.

Proof. It is trivial to see that $C^2[a, b] \subset W_{2,\infty}[a, b]$ implies $K(f; \delta; C[a, b], W_{2,\infty}[a, b]) \leq K(f; \delta; C[a, b], C^2[a, b])$. In order to prove the inverse inequality let $\varepsilon > 0$ be fixed and $g \in W_{2,\infty}[a, b]$. Obviously we have $B_ng \in C^2[a, b]$ and furthermore $||(B_ng)''||_{\infty} \leq ||g''||_{L_{\infty}}$, see Lemma 1.1.17. Having this in mind, for a sufficiently large $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 \leq \delta$ the following inequality holds:

$$\begin{aligned} K(f;\delta;C[a,b],C^2[a,b]) &\leq \|f-B_ng\|_{\infty} + \delta \cdot \|(B_ng)''\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|f-g\|_{\infty} + \|g-B_ng\|_{\infty} + \delta \cdot \|(B_ng)''\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|f-g\|_{\infty} + \varepsilon + \delta \cdot \|g''\|_{L_{\infty}}. \end{aligned}$$

This implies, by passing on the right hand side to the *infimum* for all functions in $W_{2,\infty}[a, b]$ that

$$K(f,\delta;C[a,b],C^{2}[a,b]) \leq K(f,\delta;C[a,b],W_{2,\infty}[a,b]) + \varepsilon, \ \varepsilon > 0.$$

But ε was arbitrarily chosen, so letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ we arrive at the desired inequality. \Box

1.1.5 The integral remainder of the Taylor expansion

The following lemma proved to be very useful in the proof of some converse inequalities and in establishing a strong Voronovskaya-type inequality for U_n^{ϱ} (to be defined later).

Lemma 1.1.30. Let $R_2(f, u, x) = \int_x^u (u - v) f''(v) dv$ be the integral remainder of f in Taylor expansion. Then for $x, y \in [0, 1]$ we have:

$$|R_2(f, u, x)| \le \frac{|u - x|}{\varphi^2(x)} \left| \int_u^x \varphi^2(v) f''(v) dv \right|.$$
(1.10)

Proof. Lemma 1.1.30 results from Lemma 9.6.1 ([23], p.140).

1.1.6 Variation diminution

Shape preservation properties of an approximation method are considered to be of great importance in both Approximation Theory and Computer Aided Geometric Design. Among them, we discuss the variation diminution.

We refer to [29], which contains historical remarks clarifying the various meanings of "variation–diminishing" employed in the past.

Thus, the following scheme is valid:

$$GVDP \Rightarrow SVDP \Rightarrow WVDP$$

where

- Geometric Variation Diminishing Property (GVDP): is the verification criteria introduced by Schoenberg in [89, p. 267] - for an operator to have this property it must have the SVDP and also preserve linear functions;
- Strong Variation Diminishing Property (SVDP): see description below;
- Weak Variation Diminishing Property (WVDP): is a method which diminishes the total variation.

Let *K* be any interval on the real line, and let $f : K \to \mathbb{R}$ be an arbitrary function. For an ordered sequence $x_0 < x_1 < ... < x_n$ of points in *K*, let $S[f_k]$ denote the number of sign changes in the finite sequence of ordinates $f(x_k)$, where zeros are disregarded. The number of sign changes of *f* in the interval *K* is defined by

$$S_K[f] = \sup S[f(x_k)],$$

where the supremum is taken over all ordered finite sets $\{x_k\}$.

Let *I* and *J* be two intervals, let *U* be a subspace of C(I), and suppose that $L : U \to C(J)$ is a linear operator reproducing constant functions.

The operator *L* is said to be (strongly) variation-diminishing (as an operator from *U* into C(J)) if

$$S_I[Lf] \leq S_I[f]$$
, for all $f \in U$.

The main result presented in [29] (see Theorem 1 there), which represents a new approach in proving the SVDP, reads as follows.

Theorem 1.1.31. Let I = (a, b) or $I = (a, \infty)$ with $a \ge 0$, let $w : I \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a strictly positive continuous weight function, and $[\alpha, \beta] \subset [0, \infty)$. Consider a linear and positive definite functional $A : C(I) \to \mathbb{R}$ having the following properties: there exists a subspace $C_w^{[\alpha,\beta]}(I) \subset C(I)$ such that for $f \in C_w^{[\alpha,\beta]}(I) \subset C(I)$ the function $Lf : (\alpha, \beta) \to \mathbb{R}$ given by $(Lf)(x) := A_t[t^x \cdot w(t) \cdot f(t)]$ is well–defined. If the function Lf has one-sided limits at the endpoints, then

$$S_{[\alpha,\beta]}[Lf] \leq S_I[f], \quad \forall f \in C_w^{[\alpha,\beta]}(I),$$

where, for $x \in {\alpha, \beta}$, one understands by sgn(Lf)(x) the sign of the corresponding onesided limit.

1.1.7 Remarks on (de)compositions of positive linear operators

In [36] a representation of the second moments of compositions of positive linear operators was given. In particular the following general situations were considered:

- (i) products of more than two operators;
- (ii) the assumption $Qe_i = e_i$, i = 0, 1 is dropped.

In the first case we have:

Theorem 1.1.32. Suppose that k operators $P_i : C[a,b] \rightarrow C[a,b], 1 \le i \le k$, are given, satisfying $P_ie_1 = e_1, P_ie_0 = e_0$ for $2 \le i \le k$. Then

$$\left(\prod_{i=1}^{k} P_i\right)((e_1 - x_1)^2; x_1) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} P_1(\dots P_j((e_1 - x_j)^2; x_j; \dots); x_1).$$

In the above the variable x_j is related to the operator P_j in the sense that P_j yields functions of the variable x_j (such as $P_j((e_1 - x_j)^2; x_j)$).

The less convenient case in which some of the operators do not reproduce e_1 and e_0 was also considered. Thus it was shown

Lemma 1.1.33. Let P, Q, R be positive, linear operators with $Qe_1 \neq e_1 \neq Re_1$. Then the second moment of the composition is given by:

(*i*) for two operators

$$(P \circ Q))((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) = P^u(Q((e_1 - ue_0)^2; u); x) - P((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) + 2P((e_1 - xe_0)' \cdot (Qe_1 - x); x)$$
(1.11)

(*ii*) for three operators

$$(P \circ (Q \circ R))((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) = P(Q(R((e_1 - se_0)^2; s); u); x) - -P(Q((e_1 - ue_0)^2; u); x) - P((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) + +2P(Q((e_1 - ue_0) \cdot (Re_1 - ue_0); u); x) + 2P((e_1 - xe_0) \cdot (QRe_1 - x); x)$$
(1.12)

where for clarity a superscript such as in P^u indicates that the operator P is applied to functions in the variable u.

1.2 The Bernstein operators

Maybe the best-known and celebrated positive operators are the *Bernstein operators*, introduced by S. N. Bernstein [12] in 1912 in order to prove Weierstrass' fundamental theorem, see [101]. For any $f \in C[0, 1]$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x \in [0, 1]$, they are given by

$$B_n(f;x) := \sum_{k=0}^n p_{n,k}(x) f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right), \qquad (1.13)$$

where the polynomials

$$p_{n,k}(x) = \binom{n}{k} x^k (1-x)^{n-k}, \ 0 \le k \le n,$$
(1.14)

form the *Bernstein basis*. To be formally correct we set for k < 0 or k > n that $p_{n,k} := 0$. It is not difficult to define the Bernstein operators on an arbitrary compact interval [a, b], a < b. We shall come back many times to the properties of these operators and their generalizations. As references we will mainly use [21] and [95].

1.2.1 Basic properties

The operators B_n , $n \in \mathbb{N}$ defined by (1.13) have the following properties:

1. they are linear and positive;

2.
$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} p_{n,k}(x) = 1;$$

- 3. $B_n(e_0; x) = 1, B_n(e_1; x) = x, B_n(e_2; x) = x^2 + \frac{x(1-x)}{n};$
- 4. $||B_n|| = 1;$
- 5. $\lim_{n \to \infty} B_n(f; x) = f(x) \text{ uniformly on } [0, 1], (\forall) f \in C[0, 1];$
- 6. $|B_n(f;x) f(x)| \le k\omega_f(\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}), (\forall)x \in [0,1];$

7.
$$|B_n(f;x) - f(x)| \le \frac{3}{4\sqrt{n}}\omega_{f'}(\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}), (\forall)f \in C^1[0,1], (\forall)x \in [0,1].$$

Remark 1.2.1. (i) The Bernstein operator interpolates at the end points.

$$B_n(f,0) = p_{n,0}(0)f(0) = f(0), \ B_n(f,1) = p_{n,n}(1)f(1) = f(1);$$

- (ii) The exact value of the constant in property 6. above was found by Sikkema in 1961, namely $k = (4306 + 837\sqrt{6})/5832 \approx 1,089$. Previous estimations were given in 1935 by T. Popoviciu who found $k \leq \frac{3}{2}$, and in 1953 by G.G. Lorentz who found $k \leq \frac{5}{4}$.
- (iii) A finite set of real non-negative functions defined on the interval I, which have the sum equal to 1 is called a partition of unity on I. The set $\{p_{n,k} : k = 0, ..., n\}$ is a blending system of [0, 1] for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- (iv) In 1966 G. Călugăreanu (see [15]) showed that B_n has n eigenvalues all in the interval (0, 1), and they have the following representation:

$$\lambda_k = \left(1 - \frac{1}{n}\right) \left(1 - \frac{2}{n}\right) \cdot \dots \cdot \left(1 - \frac{k-1}{n}\right), k = 1, \dots, n.$$

The k-th eigenvalue has an infinity of corresponding eigenvectors given by polynomials of degree k.

1.2.2 Derivatives of Bernstein polynomials

With the usual notations the following relationships hold:

(i)
$$p'_{n,k}(x) = n(p_{n-1,k-1}(x) - p_{n-1,k}(x)) = \frac{k - nx}{x(1-x)} p_{n,k}(x), k = 0, ..., n$$
 for all $x \in (0,1)$. $(p_{0,0} := 1 \text{ and } p_{s,-1} = p_{s,s+1} := 0, s \in \mathbb{N}_0)$.

(ii)
$$B'_n(f;x) = n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \Delta_{1/n} f(\frac{k}{n}) p_{n-1,k}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} p_{n-1,k}(x) \left[\frac{k}{n}, \frac{k+1}{n}; f \right].$$

(iii)
$$B_n^{(j)}(f;x) = n(n-1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (n-j+1) \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} p_{n-j,k}(x) \Delta_{1/n}^j f(\frac{k}{n}), j \le n.$$

With $B_n^{(j)} f$ we denoted the *j*-th derivative of the polynomial $B_n f$. In particular $B_n^{(j)}(f;0) = n(n-1) \cdot ... \cdot (n-j+1)\Delta_{1/n}^j f(0), j = 0, ..., n$. This gives the Taylor expansion:

$$B_n(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{k} \Delta_{1/n}^k f(0) x^k.$$

If *f* is a polynomial of degree *n*, then $\Delta_{1/n}^k f(0) = 0$ for k > n and $\Delta_{1/n}^n f(0) \neq 0$. Therefore, the Bernstein polynomial of degree *n* is itself a polynomial of degree *n*. For further information on this topic see [21, p. 305-307] and [95, p. 300-303].

1.2.3 Approximation and shape preserving properties

We begin with the following simple but important fact:

Theorem 1.2.2. (Voronovskaya [100]) If f is bounded on [0, 1], differentiable in some neighborhood of x, and has second derivative f''(x) for some $x \in [0, 1]$, then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n[B_n(f, x) - f(x)] = \frac{x(1-x)}{2} f''(x).$$
(1.15)

If $f \in C^2[0,1]$ the convergence is uniform.

Remark 1.2.3. (see [21, p.307]) Historically, this has been the first example of saturation: for certain operators, convergence cannot be too fast, even for very smooth functions. The theorem shows that $f(x) - B_n(f;x)$ is of order not better than 1/n if $f''(x) \neq 0$.

Theorem 1.2.4. *For some constant* C > 0*, and for all* $f \in C[0, 1]$ *,*

$$|f(x) - B_n(f;x)| \le C\omega_2\left(f, \sqrt{\frac{x(1-x)}{n}}\right), x \in [0,1].$$
 (1.16)

In particular, if $f \in C^{1}[0,1]$, then

$$|f(x) - B_n(f;x)| \le C\sqrt{\frac{x(1-x)}{n}}\omega_2\left(f', \sqrt{\frac{x(1-x)}{n}}\right), x \in [0,1].$$
(1.17)

Inequalities (1.16) and (1.17) show that the Bernstein polynomials have a slow rate of convergence. This is compensated for by their shape preserving properties.

- **Theorem 1.2.5.** (*i*) The polynomial $B_n f$ increases on [0,1] if f is increasing on this interval;
 - (ii) For $k = 1, 2, ..., B_n f$ is monotone of order k on [0, 1] if f has this property;
- (iii) $VarB_nf \leq Varf$;
- (iv) one has $Z_{(0,1)}B_nf \leq S_{(0,1)}f$ where the first term is the number of zeros of B_nf on (0,1) and the second term is the number of sign changes of f on (0,1).

Proof. See ([21], p.309).

Remark 1.2.6. Taking into consideration the theorem above it is clear that the Bernstein operators have the strong variation diminution property as operators from C[0,1] into itself (see also [29, p. 97]).

1.2.4 Bernstein polynomials for convex functions

We begin with a result established by Stancu in 1967 (see [93]), which is sometimes falsely attributed to B. Averbach (see e.g. [58, p.306]).

Theorem 1.2.7. *For n* = 1, 2, ..., *we have*

$$B_n(f;x) - B_{n+1}(f;x) = \frac{x(1-x)}{n(n+1)} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left[\frac{k}{n}, \frac{k+1}{n+1}, \frac{k+1}{n}; f \right] p_{n-1,k}(x).$$
(1.18)

Proof. We have

$$\begin{split} B_{n+1}(f,x) &= f(0)(1-x)^{n+1} + f(1)x^{n+1} + \sum_{v=1}^{n} f\left(\frac{v}{n+1}\right) \binom{n+1}{v} x^{v} (1-x)^{n+1-v}, \\ B_{n}(f,x) &= B_{n}(f,x) [x+(1-x)] \\ &= f(0)(1-x)^{n+1} + f(1)x^{n+1} + \sum_{v=1}^{n} f\left(\frac{v-1}{n}\right) \binom{n}{v-1} x^{v} (1-x)^{n+1-v} \\ &+ \sum_{v=1}^{n} f\left(\frac{v}{n}\right) \binom{n}{v} x^{v} (1-x)^{n+1-v}. \end{split}$$

Subtracting and replacing v - 1 by k in all sums, we obtain

$$B_{n}(f,x) - B_{n+1}(f,x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} x^{k+1} (1-x)^{n-k} \times \left[\binom{n}{k} f\binom{k}{n} - \binom{n+1}{k+1} f\binom{k+1}{n+1} + \binom{n}{k+1} f\binom{k+1}{n} \right] \\ = \frac{x(1-x)}{n(n+1)} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \binom{n-1}{k} x^{k} (1-x)^{n-1-k} \times \left[\frac{n^{2}(n+1)}{n-k} f\binom{k}{n} - \frac{n^{2}(n+1)^{2}}{(k+1)(n-k)} f\binom{k+1}{n+1} + \frac{n^{2}(n+1)}{k+1} f\binom{k+1}{n} \right] \\ = \frac{x(1-x)}{n(n+1)} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} p_{n-1,k}(x) \left\{ \left[\frac{k}{n}, \frac{k+1}{n+1}, \frac{k+1}{n}; f \right] \right\}$$

If f is convex, then all the terms in the sum (1.18) are non-negative and we obtain:

Corollary 1.2.8. (W.B. Temple 1954, O. Aramă 1957, I.J. Schoenberg 1959, see [99], [9], [88]) If f is convex on [0, 1], then for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $x \in (0, 1)$

$$B_n(f;x) \ge B_{n+1}(f;x) \ge f(x).$$
 (1.19)

The inequalities are strict if f is strictly convex on [0, 1].

1.2.5 Converse result

In 1994, H.B. Knoop and X.L. Zhou (see [59]) gave a lower estimate for the Bernstein operators. They proved that:

Theorem 1.2.9. *There exists an absolute constant* C > 0 *such that*

$$C^{-1}\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-\frac{1}{2}}) \leq ||f - B_{n}f|| \leq C\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-\frac{1}{2}})$$

holds, for all $f \in C[0, 1]$ *.*

A main tool in the proof is the following lemma which is of crucial importance in the proof of some results in Section 2.5:

Lemma 1.2.10. *Let* $f \in C[0, 1]$ *. Then*

$$\frac{1}{n} ||\varphi^2 B_n'' f|| \le C_0 ||B_n f - f||$$
(1.20)

where $C_0 > 0$ is an absolute constant.

Proof. See the inequality (2.1) in ([59], p.317)

1.3 The (Euler-Jacobi) Beta type operators

Along with the Bernstein operator presented in the previous section we shall also use as factor operators, in the next chapter, the (Euler-Jacobi) Beta-type operators $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ of various kinds which will be further discussed below.

The reason for the name is the fact that the operators contain both Euler's Beta function and Jacobi weights.

1.3.1 Definition of operators $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$

Definition 1.3.1. For $f \in C[0, 1]$, r > 0 and $x \in [0, 1]$ we define

(i) in case a = b = -1:

$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{-1,-1}(f;x) = \begin{cases} f(0), x = 0; \\ \int _{0}^{1} t^{rx-1} (1-t)^{r-rx-1} f(t) dt \\ \frac{0}{B(rx,r-rx)}, 0 < x < 1; \\ f(1), x = 1. \end{cases}$$

(ii) in case a = -1, b > -1:

$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{-1,b}(f;x) = \begin{cases} f(0), x = 0; \\ \int _{1}^{1} t^{rx-1}(1-t)^{r-rx+b}f(t)dt \\ \frac{0}{B(rx,r-rx+b+1)}, 0 < x \le 1. \end{cases}$$

(iii) in case a > -1, b = -1:

$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,-1}(f;x) = \begin{cases} \int_{0}^{1} t^{rx+a} (1-t)^{r-rx-1} f(t) dt \\ \frac{0}{B(rx+a+1,r-rx)}, 0 \le x < 1; \\ f(1), x = 1. \end{cases}$$

(iv) in case a, b > -1:

$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}(f;x) = \frac{\int\limits_{0}^{1} t^{rx+a} (1-t)^{r-rx+b} f(t) dt}{B(rx+a+1,r-rx+b+1)}, 0 \le x \le 1.$$

Remark 1.3.2. *We prefer to use the Jacobi notation* $\alpha, \beta \ge -1$ *for natural r and a, b* ≥ -1 *for the real r.*

Remark 1.3.3. When discussing this class of operators one must refer to the papers of Mühlbach [71] and Lupaş in [62] where the first special cases were considered. Case a = b = -1: This case can be traced back to a paper by Mühlbach [71] who used a real number $\frac{1}{\lambda} > 0$. The same case with a natural n instead of the r was investigated by Lupaş in [62], where the operator was denoted by $\overline{\mathbb{B}}_n$ (see [62, p.63]). Case a = b = 0: These were called Beta operators by Lupaş (see [62, p.37]) and denoted by

1.3.2 Basic properties

 \mathbb{B}_n .

The operators $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$, r > 0 as given in Definition 1.3.1 have the following properties:

1. they are linear and positive;

2.
$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}(e_{0};x) = 1, \mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}(e_{1};x) = \frac{rx+a+1}{r+a+b+2},$$

 $\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}(e_{2};x) = \frac{(rx+a+1)(rx+a+2)}{(r+a+b+2)(r+a+b+3)};$

3. $\lim_{r \to \infty} \mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}(f;x) = f(x)$ uniformly on $[0,1], (\forall) f \in C[0,1];$

For the case a = b = -1 we have the following additional properties:

- 4. the operator $\mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}$ reproduces linear functions;
- 5. it interpolates at the end points

$$\mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}(f,0) = f(0), \ \mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}(f,1) = f(1);$$

6. $||\mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}|| = 1.$

Lemma 1.3.4. *Let* $f \in C[0, 1]$ *convex. If* s > r > 0*, then*

$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{-1,-1}(f;x) \ge \mathcal{B}_{s}^{-1,-1}(f;x).$$
(1.21)

Remark 1.3.5. *Lemma 1.3.4 is a consequence of [5, Theorem 1] and it was proved using methods specific to probability theory.*

1.3.3 Moments and their recursion

We shall focus on the building blocks $\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}$ for *n* a natural number, $\alpha, \beta \ge -1$ and on their moments of all orders. As is well known, knowledge of their behavior is essential for asymptotic statements as, for example, Voronovskaya-type results.

Definition 1.3.6. Let $\alpha, \beta \ge -1, n > 1, m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $x \in [0, 1]$, then the moment of order *m* is defined by

$$T_{n,m}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}((e_1 - xe_0)^m; x).$$

Theorem 1.3.7.

$$T_{n,0}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = 1, \ T_{n,1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \frac{\alpha + 1 - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x}{n + \alpha + \beta + 2}$$
(1.22)

and for $m \ge 1$ we have the following recursion formula

$$(n + m + \alpha + \beta + 2)T_{n,m+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = mXT_{n,m-1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) + [m + \alpha + 1 - (2m + \alpha + \beta + 2)x]T_{n,m}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$$
(1.23)

where X = x(1 - x)*.*

Proof. Below we will repeatedly use the function $\psi(t) = t(1-t), t \in [0,1]$. Let $f \in C^1[0,1], \alpha, \beta \ge -1, 0 < x < 1$. Then

$$\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(\psi f';x) = \frac{\int_{0}^{1} t^{nx+\alpha} (1-t)^{n-nx+\beta} t(1-t) f'(t) dt}{B(nx+\alpha+1, n-nx+\beta+1)}$$

Using integration by parts we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(\psi f';x) &= \frac{1}{B(nx+\alpha+1,n-nx+\beta+1)} [t^{nx+\alpha+1}(1-t)^{n-nx+\beta+1}f(t)]_{0}^{1} \\ &\quad -\int_{0}^{1} f(t)[(nx+\alpha+1)t^{nx+\alpha}(1-t)^{n-nx+\beta+1} - \\ &\quad -(n-nx+\beta+1)t^{nx+\alpha+1}(1-t)^{n-nx+\beta}]dt] \\ &= \frac{\int_{0}^{1} f(t)t^{nx+\alpha}(1-t)^{n-nx+\beta}[t(n-nx+\beta+1) - (1-t)(nx+\alpha+1)]dt}{B(nx+\alpha+1,n-nx+\beta+1)} \\ &= \frac{\int_{0}^{1} f(t)t^{nx+\alpha}(1-t)^{n-nx+\beta}[n(t-x) - (\alpha+1) + t(\alpha+\beta+2)]dt}{B(nx+\alpha+1,n-nx+\beta+1)} \end{split}$$

and taking into consideration the identity

$$n(t-x) - (\alpha + 1) + t(\alpha + \beta + 2) =$$

= $((e_1 - xe_0)(n + \alpha + \beta + 2) + [x(\alpha + \beta + 2) - (\alpha + 1)]e_0)(t)$

we can now write

$$\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(\psi f';x) = \mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}([(e_{1} - xe_{0})(n + \alpha + \beta + 2) + (x(\alpha + \beta + 2) - (\alpha + 1))e_{0}]f;x).$$
(1.24)
In (1.24) we choose $f = (e_{1} - xe_{0})^{m}$ and use the fact that $t(1 - t) = (X + X'(e_{1} - xe_{0}) - (e_{1} - xe_{0})^{2})(t)$:

$$m\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}([X(e_{1}-xe_{0})^{m-1}+X'(e_{1}-xe_{0})^{m}-(e_{1}-xe_{0})^{m+1}];x) = \mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}([(n+\alpha+\beta+2)(e_{1}-xe_{0})^{m+1}-(\alpha+1-(\alpha+\beta+2)x)(e_{1}-xe_{0})^{m}];x).$$

The equality above becomes successively:

$$mXT_{n,m-1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) + mX'T_{n,m}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) - mT_{n,m+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = (n + \alpha + \beta + 2)T_{n,m+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) - [\alpha + 1 - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x]T_{n,m}^{\alpha,\beta}(x);$$

$$(m+n+\alpha+\beta+2)T_{n,m+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = mXT_{n,m-1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) + [m+\alpha+1-(\alpha+\beta+2+2m)x]T_{n,m}^{\alpha,\beta}(x).$$

So (1.23) is established for 0 < x < 1. Due to the continuity, it is valid also for $x \in \{0, 1\}$.

In particular we have:

Corollary 1.3.8. For $\alpha = \beta = 0$ we have $\mathcal{B}_n^{0,0} = \mathbb{B}_n$ (Lupaş notation) with the corresponding recurrence formula for the moments:

$$(n+m+2)T_{n,m+1}^{0,0}(x) = mXT_{n,m-1}^{0,0}(x) + (m+1)X'T_{n,m}^{0,0}(x)$$

where $T_{n,0}^{0,0}(x) = 1$, $T_{n,1}^{0,0}(x) = \frac{X'}{n+2}$. For $\alpha = \beta = -1$ we have $\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,-1} = \overline{\mathbb{B}}_n$ (Lupaş notation). Then the recurrence formula becomes

$$(n+m)T_{n,m+1}^{-1,-1}(x) = mXT_{n,m-1}^{-1,-1}(x) + mX'T_{n,m}^{-1,-1}(x)$$

where $T_{n,0}^{-1,-1}(x) = 1$, $T_{n,1}^{-1,-1}(x) = 0$.

The next proposition contains another kind of recurrence formula for the moments.

Proposition 1.3.9. Let $i \ge 0$ and $j \ge 0$ be integers. Then

$$T_{n,m}^{\alpha+i,\beta+j}(x) = \frac{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)^{\overline{i+j}}}{(nx+\alpha+1)^{\overline{i}}(nx+\beta+1)^{\overline{j}}} \sum_{k=0}^{i+j} \frac{[x^i(1-x)^j]^{(k)}}{k!} T_{n,m+k}^{\alpha,\beta}(x).$$
(1.25)

Proof. Using the definition of the Beta operator it is easy to show that

$$\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(t^{i}(1-t)^{j}f(t);x) = \frac{(nx+\alpha+1)^{i}(nx+\beta+1)^{j}}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)^{\overline{i+j}}}\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha+i,\beta+j}(f(t);x).$$
(1.26)

The following equation

$$t^{i}(1-t)^{j} = \sum_{k=0}^{i+j} \frac{[x^{i}(1-x)^{j}]^{(k)}}{k!}(t-x)^{k}$$
(1.27)

is a consequence of Taylor's formula. Next using (1.27) and the fact that the Beta operator is linear we get

$$\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(t^{i}(1-t)^{j}f(t);x) = \sum_{k=0}^{i+j} \frac{[x^{i}(1-x)^{j}]^{(k)}}{k!} \mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}((t-x)^{k}f(t);x).$$
(1.28)

Combining (1.26) and (1.28) we arrive at

$$\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha+i,\beta+j}(f(t);x) = \frac{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)^{\bar{i}+\bar{j}}}{(nx+\alpha+1)^{\bar{i}}(nx+\beta+1)^{\bar{j}}} \times \sum_{k=0}^{i+j} \frac{[x^{i}(1-x)^{j}]^{(k)}}{k!} \mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}((t-x)^{k}f(t);x).$$

For $f(t) = (t - x)^m$ we obtain (1.25).

Remark 1.3.10. Another recurrence formula for the moments of $\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,-1}$ can be found in [71, Satz 3].

1.3.4 The moments of order two

Since the second moment controls to a certain extent the approximation properties of $\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}$, it is useful to have a closer look at it. From Theorem 1.3.7 we obtain

$$T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \frac{(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2) + (n-2(\alpha+1)(\alpha+\beta+3))x}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)(n+\alpha+\beta+3)} + \frac{(-n+6+(\alpha+\beta)(\alpha+\beta+5))x^2}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)(n+\alpha+\beta+3)}.$$
(1.29)

(I). First, let us remark that

$$\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = (1-x)^2, \text{ uniformly on } [0,1],$$

and

$$\lim_{\beta \to \infty} T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = x^2, \text{ uniformly on } [0,1].$$
(1.30)

Roughly speaking, a large value of α (with a fixed β) suggests a better approximation near 1, and we draw a similar conclusion from (1.30).

(II). Now let $\beta = \alpha \ge -1$. Consider the sequence $s_n := \frac{\sqrt{4n+1}-5}{4}, n \ge 1$. In this case, $T^{\alpha,\alpha}(x) = \frac{(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2) - (-n+6+2\alpha(2\alpha+5))x(1-x)}{4}$

$$T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x) = \frac{(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2) - (-n+0+2\alpha(2\alpha+3))x(1-\alpha)}{(n+2\alpha+2)(n+2\alpha+3)}$$

Therefore,

$$T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\alpha}(0) = T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\alpha}(1) = \frac{(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2)}{(n+2\alpha+2)(n+2\alpha+3)},$$

and

$$T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\alpha}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{4(n+2\alpha+3)}.$$

(i) If $-1 \le \alpha < s_n$, the graph of $T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\alpha}$ has the following form:



This suggests a better approximation near the end points.

(ii) If $\alpha = s_n$, $T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\alpha}$ is a constant function, namely

$$T_{n,2}^{s_{n},s_{n}}(x) = \left(\frac{\sqrt{4n+1}-1}{4n}\right)^{2}$$
, $x \in [0,1]$.

(iii) For $\alpha > s_n$, the graph looks like



and indicates a better approximation near $\frac{1}{2}$.

(iv) In the extreme cases, when $\alpha = -1$, respectively $\alpha \to \infty$, we have $T_{n,2}^{-1,-1}(x) = \frac{x(1-x)}{n+1}$, respectively $\lim_{\alpha \to \infty} T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\alpha}(x) = \left(\frac{1-2x}{2}\right)^2$.

1.3.5 Asymptotic formulae

Here we present first two asymptotic formulae for higher order moments of $\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}$ in order to arrive at Voronovskaya-type results.

Theorem 1.3.11. *For* α , $\beta \ge -1$ *and all* $l \ge 1$ *one has*

$$(P_{l}): \begin{cases} \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l} T_{n,2l}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = (2l-1)!!X^{l}, \\ \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l} T_{n,2l-1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = X^{l-1} \left[(l-1)!2^{l-1}X' \sum_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} + (2l-1)!!(\alpha+1-(\alpha+\beta+2)x) \right]. \end{cases}$$
(1.31)

The convergence is uniform on [0, 1]*.*

Proof. We shall prove the proposition by induction on $l \ge 1$. $T_{n,1}^{\alpha,\beta}$ and $T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\beta}$ are given by (1.22), respectively (1.29), and it is easy to prove that (P_1) is true. Suppose that (P_l) is true. According to (1.23) and (1.31),

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} T_{n,2l+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{2lX}{n+2l+\alpha+\beta+2} T_{n,2l-1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) + \\ &+ \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{2l+\alpha+1-(4l+\alpha+\beta+2)x}{n+2l+\alpha+\beta+2} T_{n,2l}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \\ &= 2lX^l \left[(l-1)!2^{l-1}X' \sum_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} + (2l-1)!!(\alpha+1-(\alpha+\beta+2)x) \right] + \\ &+ [2l+\alpha+1-(4l+\alpha+\beta+2)x](2l-1)!!X^l \\ &= X^l [2^l l!X' \sum_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} \\ &+ (2l-1)!!(2l(\alpha+1)-2l(\alpha+\beta+2)x+2l+\alpha+1-(4l+\alpha+\beta+2)x)] \\ &= X^l [2^l l!X' \sum_{k=1}^{l} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} - (2l)!!X' \frac{(2l-1)!!}{(2l-2)!!} + \\ &+ (2l-1)!!((2l+1)(\alpha+1-(\alpha+\beta+2)x)+2l-4lx] \\ &= X^l \left[2^l l!X' \sum_{k=1}^{l} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} + (2l+1)!!(\alpha+1-(\alpha+\beta+2)x) \right] \end{split}$$

and this proves the first formula in (1.31) for l + 1 instead of l. Similarly,

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} T_{n,2l+2}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{(2l+1)X}{n+2l+1+\alpha+\beta+2} T_{n,2l}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) + \\ &+ \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{2l+1+\alpha+1 - (4l+2+\alpha+\beta+2)x}{n+2l+1+\alpha+\beta+2} T_{n,2l+1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \\ &= (2l+1)X(2l-1)!!X^l = (2l+1)!!X^{l+1}, \end{split}$$

which is the second formula in (1.31) for l + 1 instead of l. This concludes the proof by induction.

The following result of Sikkema (see [92, p. 241]) will be used below. Note also the 1962 result of Mamedov [66] dealing with a similar problem.

Theorem 1.3.12. Let $L_n : B[a, b] \to C[c, d], [c, d] \subseteq [a, b]$, be a sequence of positive linear operators. Let the function $f \in B[a, b]$ be q-times differentiable at $x \in [c, d]$, where $q \ge 2$ is a natural number. Let $\varphi : \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function such that

(i) $\lim_{n\to\infty}\varphi(n)=\infty$,

(ii)
$$L_n((e_1 - x)^q; x) = \frac{c_q(x)}{\varphi(n)} + o\left(\frac{1}{\varphi(n)}\right), n \to \infty$$
, where $c_q(x)$ does not depend on n ,

(iii) there exists an even number m > q such that $L_n((e_1 - x)^m; x) = o\left(\frac{1}{\varphi(n)}\right), n \to \infty$.

Then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi(n) \left\{ L_n(f; x) - \sum_{r=0}^q \frac{L_n((e_1 - x)^r; x)}{r!} f^{(r)}(x) \right\} = 0.$$

Corollary 1.3.13. *(i) Theorem 1.3.12 can be rewritten in the form*

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi(n) \left\{ L_n(f; x) - \sum_{r=0}^{q-1} \frac{L_n((e_1 - x)^r; x)}{r!} f^{(r)}(x) \right\} = c_q(x) \frac{f^{(q)}(x)}{q!}$$

(ii) If in addition to the assumption of Theorem 1.3.12, one assumes that

$$L_n((e_1-x)^r;x) = \frac{c_r(x)}{\varphi(n)} + o\left(\frac{1}{\varphi(n)}\right), \ n \to \infty, r = 1, 2, ..., q,$$

where the functions c_r are independent of n, then one also has

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\varphi(n)\left\{L_n(f;x)-f(x)L_n(e_0;x)\right\} = \sum_{r=1}^q c_r(x)\frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{q!}.$$

That is, all derivatives now appear on the right hand side which is independent of *n*.

As a consequence of Corollary 1.3.13 (ii) we have the following Voronovskayatype relation.

Corollary 1.3.14. *Let* $f \in C^{2}[0, 1]$ *. Then*

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n \left\{ \mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha, \beta}(f; x) - f(x) \right\} = \frac{x(1-x)}{2} f''(x) + [\alpha + 1 - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x] f'(x),$$

uniformly on [0, 1].

Proof. For $\varphi(n) = n$ and q = 2 as given in Corollary 1.3.13 (ii),

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n \left\{ \mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha, \beta}(f; x) - f(x) \right\} = \sum_{r=1}^2 c_r(x) \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} = c_1(x) \frac{f'(x)}{1!} + c_2(x) \frac{f''(x)}{2!}$$

where $c_r(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} n T_{n,r}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)$. By using Lemma 1.3.11 with l = 1 we get

$$c_1(x) = \alpha + 1 - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x$$

$$c_2(x) = X,$$

and this concludes the proof.

Remark 1.3.15. As a consequence of Lemma 1.3.11 and Corollary 1.3.13 (i) we deduce similarly that for $f \in C^{2l}[0,1]$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^l \left\{ \mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f(t);x) - \sum_{k=0}^{2l-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!} T_{n,k}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \right\} = \frac{(2l-1)!!}{(2l)!} X^l f^{(2l)}(x), l \ge 1.$$
(1.32)

From this we get also

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l} \left\{ \mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(f(t);x) - \sum_{k=0}^{2l-2} \frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!} T_{n,k}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) \right\} = \frac{(2l-1)!!}{(2l)!} X^{l} f^{(2l)}(x) + \frac{X^{l-1}}{(2l-1)!} \left[(l-1)! 2^{l-1} X' \sum_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} + (2l-1)!! (\alpha+1-(\alpha+\beta+2)x) \right] f^{(2l-1)}(x).$$
(1.33)

Remark 1.3.16. In order to compare the result above with a special previous result for the case $\alpha = \beta = -1$ we manipulate the left hand side of (1.33) for l = 2 by writing

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{n \to \infty} n[n(\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(f(t);x) - f(x)) - (\alpha + 1 - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x)f'(x) - \frac{X}{2}f''(x)] \\ &= \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{2} \left[(\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}(f(t);x) - f(x) - T_{n,1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)f'(x) - T_{n,2}^{\alpha,\beta}(x)\frac{f''(x)}{2} \right] + \\ &+ \lim_{n \to \infty} n[nT_{n,1}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) - (\alpha + 1 - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x)]f'(x) + \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \lim_{n \to \infty} n[nT_{n,2}^{\alpha,\beta}(x) - X]f''(x). \end{split}$$

By using (1.22), (1.31) and (1.33) with l = 2, we get

$$\begin{split} &\lim_{n \to \infty} n[n(\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f(t);x) - f(x)) - \frac{X}{2}f''(x) - (\alpha + 1 - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x)f'(x)] \\ &= \frac{1}{8}X^2 f^{IV}(x) + \frac{1}{6}X(3\alpha + 5 - (3\alpha + 3\beta + 10)x)f'''(x) - \\ &- (\alpha + \beta + 2)(\alpha + 1 - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x)f'(x) + \frac{1}{2}f''(x)[(\alpha + 1)(\alpha + 2) - \\ &- (2\alpha^2 + 2\alpha\beta + 10\alpha + 4\beta + 11)x + x^2((\alpha + \beta)(\alpha + \beta + 7) + 11)]. \end{split}$$

For $\alpha = \beta = -1$, this reduces to

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n[n(\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,-1}(f;x) - f(x)) - \frac{X}{2}f''(x)] =$$

= $\frac{1}{24} \left(3X^2 f^{IV}(x) + 8X(1-2x)f'''(x) - 12Xf''(x) \right).$

This result can be also deduced from [4, Remark 3].

1.3.6 Iterates of $\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}$

1. $\alpha = \beta = -1$. In this case $\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,-1}$ are positive linear operators preserving linear functions, and $\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,-1}e_2(x) = \frac{nx(nx+1)}{n(n+1)} > e_2(x)$, for 0 < x < 1. Consequently

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \left(\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,-1} \right)^m f(x) = (1-x)f(0) + xf(1), f \in C[0,1],$$

uniformly on [0, 1] (see [83]).

2. $\alpha > -1, \beta = -1$. Then $\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,-1}$ are positive linear operators preserving constant functions, $\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,-1} f(1) = f(1)$ for all $f \in C[0,1]$, and

$$\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,-1}e_2(x) = \frac{(nx+\alpha+1)(nx+\alpha+2)}{(n+\alpha+1)(n+\alpha+2)} > e_2(x), 0 \le x < 1.$$

Therefore

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \left(\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha, -1} \right)^m f(x) = f(1), f \in C[0, 1],$$

uniformly on [0, 1] (see [83]).

3. $\alpha = -1$, $\beta > -1$. As in the previous case, one proves that

$$\lim_{m\to\infty} \left(\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,\beta}\right)^m f(x) = f(0), f \in C[0,1].$$

4. $\alpha > -1$, $\beta > -1$. In this case we have for all $k \ge 0$,

$$\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}e_k(x)=rac{(nx+lpha+1)^k}{(n+lpha+eta+2)^{\overline{k}}}, x\in[0,1].$$

From this we get

$$\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta}e_{k}(x) = \frac{1}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)^{\overline{k}}} \sum_{j=0}^{k} s_{k-j}(k,\alpha)n^{j}x^{j}, \qquad (1.34)$$

where $s_{k-j}(k, \alpha)$ are elementary symmetric sums of the numbers $\alpha + 1, \alpha + 2, ..., \alpha + k$; in particular $s_0(k, \alpha) = 1$ and

$$s_1(k,\alpha) = (\alpha+1) + \dots + (\alpha+k) = k\alpha + \frac{k(k+1)}{2}.$$
 (1.35)

It follows that the numbers

$$\lambda_{n,k} := \frac{n^k}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)^{\overline{k}}}, k \ge 0,$$

are eigenvalues of $\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta}$, and to each of them there corresponds a monic eigenpolynomial $q_{n,k}$ with $deg q_{n,k} = k$. Let $q \in \Pi$ and d = deg q. Then q has a decomposition

$$q = a_{n,0}(q)q_{n,0} + a_{n,1}(q)q_{n,1} + \dots + a_{n,d}(q)q_{n,d}$$

with some coefficients $a_{n,k}(q) \in \mathbb{R}$. Since $\lambda_{n,0} = 1$ and $q_{n,0} = e_0$ we get

$$(\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta})^{m}p = a_{n,0}(q)e_{0} + \sum_{k=1}^{d} a_{n,k}(q)\lambda_{n,k}^{m}q_{n,k}, \ m \ge 1$$

and so

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta})^m q = a_{n,0}(q)e_0, \ p \in \Pi.$$
(1.36)

Consider the linear functional $\mu_n : \Pi \to \mathbb{R}$, $\mu_n(q) = a_{n,0}(q)$, and the linear operator $P_n : \Pi \to \Pi$,

$$P_nq = \mu_n(q)e_0, q \in \Pi.$$

Then (1.36) becomes

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} (\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha,\beta})^m q = P_n q, \ q \in \Pi.$$
(1.37)

Obviously P_n is positive, and so μ_n is positive; moreover, $||\mu_n|| = 1$ because $\mu_n(e_0) = 1$. By the Hahn-Banach theorem, μ_n can be extended to a norm-one linear functional on C[0,1]. Since Π is dense in C[0,1], the extension is unique and the extended functional $\mu_n : C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ is also positive. Now P_n can be extended from Π to C[0,1] by setting $P_n : C[0,1] \to \Pi$, $P_n f = \mu_n(f)e_0$, $f \in C[0,1]$. Remark that

$$||(\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,\beta})^{m}|| = ||P_{n}|| = 1, \ m \ge 1.$$
(1.38)

Using again the fact that Π is dense in C[0, 1], we get from (1.37) and (1.38)

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} (\mathcal{B}_n^{\alpha, \beta})^m f = P_n f, \ f \in C[0, 1].$$
(1.39)

On the other hand, from (1.34) we deduce the following recurrence formula for the computation of $P_n e_k$, $k \ge 1$:

$$\left((n+\alpha+\beta+2)^{\overline{k}}-n^k\right)P_ne_k=\sum_{j=0}^{k-1}s_{k-j}(k,\alpha)n^jP_ne_j.$$

Since $P_n e_k = \mu_n(e_k) e_0$, we get for $n \ge 1$ and $k \ge 1$

$$\mu_n(e_k) = \sum_{j=0}^{k-1} s_{k-j}(k,\alpha) \frac{n^j}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)^{\overline{k}} - n^k} \mu_n(e_j).$$
(1.40)

Using (1.40) it is easy to prove by induction on k that there exists

$$\mu(e_k) := \lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_n(e_k), k \ge 0, \tag{1.41}$$

and, moreover,

$$\mu(e_k) = \frac{s_1(k, \alpha)}{(\alpha + \beta + 2) + \dots + (\alpha + \beta + k + 1)} \mu(e_{k-1}),$$

i.e., taking (1.35) into account,

$$\mu(e_k) = \frac{2\alpha + k + 1}{2\alpha + 2\beta + k + 3}\mu(e_{k-1}), \ k \ge 1.$$

Since $\mu(e_0) = 1$, it follows that

$$\mu(e_k) = \frac{(2\alpha+2)^k}{(2\alpha+2\beta+4)^{\overline{k}}}, \ k \ge 0.$$

This can be rewritten as

$$\mu(e_k) = \frac{B(2\alpha + k + 2, 2\beta + 2)}{B(2\alpha + 2, 2\beta + 2)} = \frac{\int_0^1 t^{2\alpha + 1} (1 - t)^{2\beta + 1} e_k(t) dt}{\int_0^1 t^{2\alpha + 1} (1 - t)^{2\beta + 1} dt},$$

so that

$$\mu(q) = \frac{\int\limits_{0}^{1} t^{2\alpha+1} (1-t)^{2\beta+1} q(t) dt}{\int\limits_{0}^{1} t^{2\alpha+1} (1-t)^{2\beta+1} dt}, q \in \Pi.$$

Consider the extension of μ to C[0, 1], i.e.,

$$\mu(f) = \frac{\int\limits_{0}^{1} t^{2\alpha+1} (1-t)^{2\beta+1} f(t) dt}{\int\limits_{0}^{1} t^{2\alpha+1} (1-t)^{2\beta+1} dt}, f \in C[0,1],$$
and the positive linear operator $P : C[0, 1] \to \Pi$, $Pf = \mu(f)e_0, f \in C[0, 1]$. According to (1.41), $\lim_{n\to\infty} \mu_n(q) = \mu(q), q \in \Pi$, i.e.,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} P_n q = Pq, q \in \Pi.$$
(1.42)

Since $||P_n|| = ||P|| = 1, n \ge 1$, we conclude from (1.42) that $\lim_{n\to\infty} P_n f = Pf, f \in C[0, 1]$. Thus, for the operators P_n described in (1.39) we have proved:

Theorem 1.3.17. *Let* $\alpha > -1$, $\beta > -1$. *Then for each* $f \in C[0, 1]$ *and* $n \ge 1$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} P_n f = \frac{\int_0^1 t^{2\alpha+1} (1-t)^{2\beta+1} f(t) dt}{\int_0^1 t^{2\alpha+1} (1-t)^{2\beta+1} dt} e_0$$

For $\alpha = \beta = 0$, this result was obtained, with different methods, in [11].

1.3.7 Variation diminution

Theorem 1.3.18. The operators $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ as given in Definition 1.3.1 have the (strong) variationdiminishing property, that is,

$$S_{[0,1]}[\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}f] \le S_{[0,1]}[f]$$
 for all $f \in C[0,1]$.

Proof. (i) in case a = b = -1:

$$S_{[0,1]}[\mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}f] = S_{[0,1]}\left[\int_0^1 t^{rx-1}(1-t)^{r-rx-1}f(t)\,dt\right].$$

Substituting $\left(\frac{t}{1-t}\right)^r = u$ the above integral becomes

$$\frac{1}{r}\int_{0}^{\infty} u^{x} \cdot \frac{u^{-1}}{(u^{\frac{1}{r}}+1)^{r}} \cdot f\left(\frac{u^{\frac{1}{r}}}{u^{\frac{1}{r}}+1}\right) du.$$

Obviously, the number of sign changes of $f(t), t \in [0, 1]$ equals the number of sign changes of the function $g(u) = f\left(\frac{u^{\frac{1}{r}}}{u^{\frac{1}{r}+1}}\right), u \in [0, \infty)$. Applying Theorem 1.1.31 for the functional $A(g) = \int_0^\infty g(u) \, du$ with $w(u) = \frac{u^{-1}}{(u^{\frac{1}{r}+1})^r}$ we get that the operators $\mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}$ have the (strong) variation–diminishing property on C[0,1]. That means

$$S_{[0,1]}[\mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}f] \le S_{[0,1]}[f].$$

(ii) in case a = -1, b > -1:

$$S_{[0,1]}[\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,-1}f] = S_{[0,1]}\left[\int_{0}^{1} t^{rx-1}(1-t)^{r(1-x)-1}t^{a+1}f(t)dt\right]$$

$$\leq S_{[0,1]}\left[t^{a+1}f(t)\right] = S_{[0,1]}[f].$$

(iii) in case a > -1, b = -1:

$$S_{[0,1]}[\mathcal{B}_r^{-1,b}f] = S_{[0,1]} \left[\int_0^1 t^{rx-1} (1-t)^{r(1-x)-1} (1-t)^{b+1} f(t) dt \right]$$

$$\leq S_{[0,1]} \left[(1-t)^{b+1} f(t) \right] = S_{[0,1]} [f].$$

(iv) in case a, b > -1: In [29] it was shown that

$$\begin{split} S_{[0,1]}[\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}f] &= S_{[0,1]} \left[\int_0^1 t^{rx} (1-t)^{r(1-x)} t^a (1-t)^b f(t) dt \right] \\ &\leq S_{[0,1]} \left[t^a (1-t)^b f(t) \right] = S_{[0,1]} \left[f \right]. \end{split}$$

Chapter 2

The Bernstein-Euler-Jacobi (BEJ) class of composition operators

Many operators arising in the theory of positive linear operators are compositions of other mappings of this type. Many times the classical Bernstein operator B_n is one of the building blocks. Other frequently used factor operators are Beta-type operators $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ of various kinds. Our intention is to use these building blocks to provide an overview of the various operators that fit into this pattern. This comes to emphasize the importance of understanding the singular pieces that form the composition. As one will notice we will refer many times to the properties of the building blocks presented in the previous chapter.

2.1 BEJ of first kind

2.1.1 Definition

We introduce and study a class of positive linear operators that are given by

Definition 2.1.1. For $r > 0, a, b \ge -1, n, m > 1$ we define $R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)} : C[0,1] \rightarrow C[0,1]$ by

$$R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)} = B_m \circ \mathcal{B}_r^{a,b} \circ B_n.$$
(2.1)

Here $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ is the Euler-Jacobi Beta operator defined in the previous chapter and B_n , B_m are the n-th and m-th Bernstein operators.

The purpose of introducing such an operator is to explain known operators using decomposition.

Lemma 2.1.2. (*Images of the monomials up to degree 2*)

$$\begin{aligned} R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}(e_0, x) &= e_0 \\ R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}(e_1, x) &= \frac{re_1 + a + 1}{r + a + b + 2} \\ R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}(e_2, x) &= \frac{(n-1)\left(r^2\left(\frac{m-1}{m}e_2 + \frac{e_1}{m}\right) + 2are_1 + 3re_1 + a^2 + 3a + 2\right)}{n(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)} + \frac{re_1 + a + 1}{n(r + a + b + 2)} \end{aligned}$$

Remark 2.1.3. The BEJ operator of first kind reproduces constants. For special choices of *a* and *b*, namely when a = b = -1 it also reproduces linear functions.

2.1.2 Moments up to order 2

Definition 2.1.4. Let $r > 0, a, b \ge -1, n, m > 1, s \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $x \in [0, 1]$, then the moment of order *s* is given by

$$M_s(x) := R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}((e_1 - xe_0)^s; x).$$

Lemma 2.1.5. (*Explicit representation of the moments until order 2*)

$$\begin{split} M_0(x) &:= R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}((e_1 - xe_0)^0; x) = e_0, \\ M_1(x) &:= R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}((e_1 - xe_0)^1; x) = \frac{a + 1 - e_1(a + b + 2)}{r + a + b + 2} \\ M_2(x) &= \frac{e_2[mn(a^2 + b^2 + 5a + 5b + 2ab + 6 - r) + r^2(1 - m - n)]}{mn(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)} - \frac{e_1[mn(2a^2 + 2ab + 8a + 2b + 6 - r) + r^2(1 - m - n) + mr(a - b)]}{mn(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)} + \frac{e_0[mn(a + 1)(a + 2) + m(r(a + 1) + ab + a + b + 1)]}{mn(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)} \end{split}$$

Proof. The proof of the formula for the first moments is straightforward and we shall omit it.

In order to express the second moments of $R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}$ we shall employ (1.12). Thus we obtain

$$M_{2}(x) = (B_{m} \circ \mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b} \circ B_{n})((e_{1} - xe_{0})^{2}; x)$$

$$= B_{m}(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}(B_{n}((e_{1} - ze_{0})^{2}; z); y); x))$$

$$-B_{m}(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}((e_{1} - ye_{0})^{2}; y); x) -$$

$$-B_{m}((e_{1} - xe_{0})^{2}; x) +$$

$$+2B_{m}(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}((e_{1} - ye_{0})(B_{n}e_{1} - ye_{0}); y); x) +$$

$$+2B_{m}((e_{1} - xe_{0})(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}B_{n}e_{1} - xe_{0}); x)$$

$$(2.2)$$

$$B_m(\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}(B_n((e_1 - ze_0)^2; z); y); x) = B_m\left(\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}\left(\frac{e_1 - e_2}{n}; y\right); x\right)$$
$$= B_n\left(\frac{re_1 + a + 1}{n(r + a + b + 2)} - \frac{(re_1 + a + 1)(re_1 + a + 2)}{n(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)}; x\right)$$
$$= \frac{rx + a + 1}{n(r + a + b + 2)} - \frac{r^2\left(\frac{m-1}{m}x^2 + \frac{x}{m}\right) + 2arx + 3rx + a^2 + 3a + 2}{n(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)}$$

$$B_m(\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}((e_1 - ye_0)^2; y); x) = B_m\left(\frac{a^2 + b^2 + 2ab + 5a + 5b + 6 - r}{(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)}e_2 - \frac{2ab + 2a^2 + 8a + 2b + 6 - r}{(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)}e_1 + \frac{a^2 + 3a + 2}{(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)}e_0; x\right)$$
$$= \frac{a^2 + b^2 + 2ab + 5a + 5b + 6 - r}{(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)}\left(\frac{m - 1}{m}x^2 + \frac{x}{m}\right) - \frac{2ab + 2a^2 + 8a + 2b + 6 - r}{(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)}x + \frac{a^2 + 3a + 2}{(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)}$$

$$B_m((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) = \frac{x(1 - x)}{m}$$

$$2B_m(\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}((e_1 - ye_0)(B_ne_1 - ye_0); y); x) = 2B_m(\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}((e_1 - ye_0)^2; y); x)$$

$$2B_m((e_1 - xe_0)(\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}B_ne_1 - xe_0); x) = 2B_m((e_1 - xe_0)(\frac{re_1 + a + 1}{r + a + b + 2} - xe_0); x)$$

$$= \frac{2r}{r + a + b + 2} \left(\frac{m - 1}{m}x^2 + \frac{x}{m}\right) - \frac{2rx^2}{r + a + b + 2}.$$

If we substitute all these equations in (2.2) we obtain the expression for the second moments given above. \Box

2.2 BEJ of second kind

2.2.1 Definition

The second class of positive linear operators that we consider are given by

Definition 2.2.1. For $r, s > 0, a, b, c, d \ge -1, n, m > 1$ we define $R_n^{s,c,d;r,a,b} : C[0,1] \to C[0,1]$ by

$$\mathsf{R}_{n}^{s,c,d;r,a,b} = \mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d} \circ B_{n} \circ \mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}. \tag{2.3}$$

Here $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ and $\mathcal{B}_s^{c,d}$ are Euler-Jacobi Beta operators and B_n the n-th Bernstein operator.

 $\begin{aligned} \text{Lemma 2.2.2. (Images of the monomials up to degree 2)} \\ R_n^{s,c,d;r,a,b}(e_0, x) &= e_0 \\ R_n^{s,c,d;r,a,b}(e_1, x) &= \frac{r(se_1 + c + 1)}{(r + a + b + 2)(s + c + d + 2)} + \frac{a + 1}{(r + a + b + 2)} \\ R_n^{s,c,d;r,a,b}(e_2, x) &= \frac{r^2}{n(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)} \left[\frac{(n - 1)(se_1 + c + 1)(se_1 + c + 2)}{(s + c + d + 2)(s + c + d + 3)} + \frac{se_1 + c + 1}{s + c + d + 2} \right] + \frac{(se_1 + c + 1)(2ar + 3r)}{(s + c + d + 2)(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)} \\ &+ \frac{a^2 + 3a + 2}{(r + a + b + 2)(r + a + b + 3)} \end{aligned}$

Remark 2.2.3. The BEJ operator of second kind reproduces constants. For special choices of *a*, *b* and *c*, *d*, namely when a = b = c = d = -1 it also reproduces linear functions.

2.2.2 Moments up to order 2

Definition 2.2.4. Let $r > 0, a, b, c, d \ge -1, n > 1, t \in \mathbb{N}_0$ and $x \in [0, 1]$, then the moment of order *t* is given by

$$M_t(x) := R_n^{s,c,d;r,a,b}((e_1 - xe_0)^t; x).$$

Lemma 2.2.5. (Explicit representation of the moments until order 2)

$$M_0(x) := R_n^{s,c,d;r,a,b}((e_1 - xe_0)^0; x) = e_0,$$

$$\begin{split} M_1(x) &:= R_n^{s,c,d;r,a,b}((e_1 - xe_0)^1; x) = \frac{-e_1[r(c+d+2) + (a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)]}{(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)} + \\ &+ \frac{r(c+1) + (s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+2)}{(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)} + \\ M_2(x) &= \frac{(n-1)(a^2+b^2+2ab+5a+5b+6-r)(se_1+c+1)(se_1+c+2)}{n(r+a+b+2)(r+a+b+3)(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} + \\ &+ \frac{(a^2+b^2+2ab+5a+5b+6-r-n(2ab+2a^2+8a+2b+6-r))(se_1+c+1)}{n(r+a+b+2)(r+a+b+3)(s+c+d+2)} + \\ &+ \frac{a^2+3a+2}{(r+a+b+2)(r+a+b+3)} + \frac{(se_1+c+1)(se_1+c+2)}{n(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} - \\ &- \frac{se_1+c+1}{n(s+c+d+2)} - \frac{c^2+d^2+2cd+5c+5d+6-s}{(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} e_2 + \\ &+ \frac{2cd+2c^2+8c+2d+6-s}{(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)}e_1 - \frac{c^2+3c+2}{(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} + \\ &+ \frac{2r(se_1+c+1)}{n(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+3)} e_1 - \frac{2r(se_1+c+1)(se_1+c+2)}{n(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+3)} + \\ &+ \frac{2r(se_1+c+1)(se_1+c+2)}{(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} + \frac{2(a+1-e_1(2r+a+b+2))(se_1+c+1)}{(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} - \\ &- \frac{2(a+1)e_1}{r+a+b+2} + 2e_2. \end{split}$$

Proof. The proof of the formula for the first moments is straightforward and we shall omit it.

In order to express the second moments of $R_n^{s,c,d;r,a,b}$ we shall employ once again (1.12). Thus we obtain

$$M_{2}(x) = (\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d} \circ B_{n} \circ \mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b})((e_{1} - xe_{0})^{2}; x)$$

$$= \mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(B_{n}(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}((e_{1} - ze_{0})^{2}; z); y); x))$$

$$-\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(B_{n}((e_{1} - ye_{0})^{2}; y); x) -$$

$$-\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}((e_{1} - xe_{0})^{2}; x) +$$

$$+2\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(B_{n}((e_{1} - ye_{0})(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}e_{1} - ye_{0}); y); x) +$$

$$+2\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}((e_{1} - xe_{0})(B_{n}\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}e_{1} - xe_{0}); x)$$

$$(2.4)$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(B_{n}(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}((e_{1}-ze_{0})^{2};z);y);x) = \frac{a^{2}+3a+2}{(r+a+b+2)(r+a+b+3)}$$

$$+\frac{(a^{2}+b^{2}+2ab+5a+5b+6-r-n(2ab+2a^{2}+8a+2b+6-r))(sx+c+1)}{n(r+a+b+2)(r+a+b+3)(s+c+d+2)}$$

$$+\frac{(n-1)(a^{2}+b^{2}+2ab+5a+5b+6-r)(sx+c+1)(sx+c+2)}{n(r+a+b+2)(r+a+b+3)(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(B_{n}((e_{1} - ye_{0})^{2}; y); x) = \mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}\left(\frac{e_{1}(1 - e_{1})}{n}; x\right)$$
$$= \frac{sx + c + 1}{n(s + c + d + 2)} - \frac{(sx + c + 1)(sx + c + 2)}{n(s + c + d + 2)(s + c + d + 3)}$$

41

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}((e_{1}-xe_{0})^{2};x) &= \frac{c^{2}+d^{2}+2cd+5c+5d+6-s}{(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)}x^{2} + \\ &+ \frac{2cd+2c^{2}+8c+2d+6-s}{(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)}x + \frac{c^{2}+3c+2}{(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} \\ &(e_{1}-y)(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}e_{1}-y) &= (e_{1}-y)\left(\frac{re_{1}+a+1}{r+a+b+2}-y\right) \\ \mathcal{B}_{n}((e_{1}-y)(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}e_{1}-y);y) &= \frac{r}{r+a+b+2} \\ \mathcal{B}_{n}(e_{1};y) + \left(y^{2}-y\frac{a+1}{r+a+b+2}\right) \\ \mathcal{B}_{n}(e_{0};y) &= \\ &= \frac{r}{n(r+a+b+2)}(y-y^{2}) \\ \mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(B_{n}((e_{1}-ye_{0})(\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}e_{1}-ye_{0});y);x) &= 2\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}\left(\frac{r}{n(r+a+b+2)}(e_{1}-e_{2});x\right) \\ &= \frac{2r(sx+c+1)}{n(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)} - \frac{2r(sx+c+1)(sx+c+2)}{n(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} \\ &(e_{1}-x)(B_{n}\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}e_{1}-x) &= (e_{1}-x)\left(\frac{re_{1}+a+1}{r+a+b+2}-x\right) \\ \mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(e_{1};x) + 2\left(\frac{a+1}{r+a+b+2}-x-\frac{xr}{r+a+b+2}\right)\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(e_{1};x) + 2\left(x^{2}-\frac{x(a+1)}{r+a+b+2}\right)\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(e_{0};x) \\ &= \frac{2r(sx+c+1)(sx+c+2)}{(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} \\ \mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(e_{1};x) + 2\left(\frac{a+1}{r+a+b+2}-x-\frac{xr}{r+a+b+2}\right)\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(e_{1};x) + 2\left(x^{2}-\frac{x(a+1)}{r+a+b+2}\right)\mathcal{B}_{s}^{c,d}(e_{0};x) \\ &= \frac{2r(sx+c+1)(sx+c+2)}{(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)(s+c+d+3)} + 2\frac{[a+1-x(2r+a+b+2)](sx+c+1)}{(r+a+b+2)(s+c+d+2)} \\ - \frac{2x(a+1)}{r+a+b+2} + 2x^{2} \end{split}$$

If we substitute all these equations in (2.4) we obtain the expression for the second moments given above. \Box

2.3 Particular cases

The general setting can be adapted in such a way that for different values of the indices we find many known operators. We use the convention $B_{\infty} = \mathcal{B}_{\infty}^{a,b} = Id$. Thus, the first two tables contain all the particular cases of both classes that we were able to locate in the literature. In the next three we give the general form of the specific operators, if it exists, and cite the articles where they were first mentioned. In our opinion it is impossible to get a complete overview because of the great amount of articles being published every day, but we are confident that most of the cases are included.

We also include the description of the second moments of these cases and differentiate between operators that reproduce linear functions and those that do not.

		BEJ	first kir	ıd		BEJ second kind						
m	r	а	b	n	Other notation	S	c	d	n	r	а	b
n	n	-1	-1	∞	U_n	∞	-	-	n	n	-1	-1
n	n	0	0	∞	M_n	∞	-	-	n	n	0	0
n	n	<i>α>-</i> 1	<i>α>-</i> 1	∞	$D^{<\alpha>}$	∞	-	-	n	n	<i>α>-</i> 1	α>-1
n	n	a>-1	b>-1	∞	M_n^{ab}	∞	-	-	n	n	a>-1	b>-1
n	$n \cdot \varrho$	-1	-1	∞	U_n^{ϱ}	∞	-	-	n	$n \cdot \varrho$	-1	-1
n	n·c	>-1	>-1	∞	P_n	∞	-	-	n	$n \cdot c$	>-1	>-1
∞	n	-1	-1	n	L_n^{∇}	n	-1	-1	n	∞	-	-
∞	n	0	0	n	$V_{n}^{0,0}$	n	0	0	n	∞	-	-
∞	n	<i>α</i> >-1	β>-1	n	$V_n^{\alpha,\beta}$	n	α>-1	β>-1	n	∞	-	-
∞	1/α	-1	-1	n	S_n^{α}, Q_n	1/α	-1	-1	n	∞	-	-
∞	$n \cdot \varrho$	c>-1	d>-1	n	$Q_n^{\varrho,c,d}$	$n \cdot \varrho$	c>-1	d>-1	n	∞	-	-
-	-	-	-	-	$\mathbb{B}_{\infty}^{(lpha,\lambda)}$	1/α	-1	-1	∞	$1/\lambda$	-1	-1
-	-	-	-	-	F_n^{α}	1/α	-1	-1	n	n	-1	-1
-	-	-	-	-	$\mathbb{B}_n^{(\alpha,\lambda)}$	1/α	-1	-1	n	$1/\lambda$	-1	-1
n	∞	-	-	n+1	D_n	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
m	∞	-	-	n	$R^{\infty}_{m,n}$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
m	$n \cdot \varrho$	-1	-1	n	$R^{\varrho}_{m,n}$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
∞	n	-1	-1	∞		n	-1	-1	∞	∞	-	-
					$\overline{\mathbb{B}}_n, \mathcal{B}_n^{-1,-1}$	∞	-	-	∞	n	-1	-1
∞	$1/\lambda$	-1	-1	∞		$1/\lambda$	-1	-1	∞	∞	-	-
					$\mathbb{\tilde{B}}_{\lambda}, T_{\lambda}$	∞	-	-	∞	$1/\lambda$	-1	-1

Table 2.3.1: Particular cases overview - part 1

		BI	EJ first k	ind		BEJ second kind			nd			
m	r	а	b	n	Other notation	s	с	d	n	r	а	b
∞	n	0	0	∞		n	0	0	∞	∞	-	-
					\mathbb{B}_n , $\mathcal{B}_n^{0,0}$	∞	-	-	∞	n	0	0
∞	n	-1	β> -1	∞		n	-1	β> -1	∞	∞	-	-
					$\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,eta}$	∞	-	-	∞	n	-1	β> - 1
∞	n	<i>α> -</i> 1	-1	∞		n	<i>α></i> -1	-1	∞	∞	-	-
					$\mathcal{B}_n^{lpha,-1}$	∞	-	-	∞	n	<i>α> -</i> 1	-1
∞	n	<i>α></i> -1	β>-1	∞		n	<i>α></i> -1	β>-1	∞	∞	-	-
					$\mathcal{B}_n^{lpha,eta}$	∞	-	-	∞	n	<i>α></i> -1	β> - 1
n	∞	-	-	∞		∞	-	-	n	∞	-	-
∞	∞	-	-	n	B_n							

Table 2.3.2: Particular cases overview - part 2

Name	General form	References
Bernstein operator	$B_n(f;x) := \sum_{k=0}^n p_{n,k}(x) f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right)$	[12]
Mühlbach Beta type operator	$T_{\lambda}[f;x] = \int_{0}^{1} f(t)K_{\lambda}(t,x)dt, T_{\lambda}[f;0] = f(0), T_{\lambda}[f;1] = f(1)$ $K_{\lambda}(t,x) = \psi(t;\frac{x}{\lambda},\frac{1-x}{\lambda}), \psi(t;p,q) = \frac{t^{p-1}(1-t)^{q-1}}{B(p,q)}$ sometimes the following notation is used: $\tilde{\mathbb{B}}_{\lambda}(f;x)$ (see [78])	[71]
Lupaş Beta operator of the first kind	$\mathbb{B}_n(f;x) = \frac{1}{B(nx+1,n+1-nx)} \int_0^1 t^{nx} (1-t)^{n(1-x)} f(t) dt$	[62, p.37]
Lupaş Beta operator of the second kind	$\overline{\mathbb{B}}_{n}(f;x) = \frac{1}{B(nx,n-nx)} \int_{0}^{1} t^{nx-1} (1-t)^{n-1-nx} f(t) dt,$ (x \in (0,1), $\overline{\mathbb{B}}_{n}(f;0) = f(0), \overline{\mathbb{B}}_{n}(f;1) = f(1)$)	[62, p.63]
genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operator	$U_n(f;x) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} p_{n,k}(x) \int_0^1 p_{n-2,k-1}(t) f(t) dt + f(0) p_{n,0}(x) + f(1) p_{n,n}(x)$	[16] [31]
classical Durrmeyer	$M_n(f;x) = (n+1)\sum_{k=0}^n p_{n,k}(x)\int_0^1 p_{n,k}(t)f(t)dt$	[25]
Durrmeyer with Jacobi weights	$M_n^{ab}(f;x) := \sum_{k=0}^n p_{n,k}(x) \frac{\int\limits_0^1 f(t) p_{n,k}(t) t^a (1-t)^b dt}{\int\limits_0^1 p_{n,k}(t) t^a (1-t)^b dt}$	[73]
Păltănea operator	$ U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) = \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \left(\int_0^1 \frac{t^{k\varrho-1}(1-t)^{(n-k)\varrho-1}}{B(k\varrho,(n-k)\varrho)} f(t) dt \right) p_{n,k}(x) + f(0)(1-x)^n + f(1)x^n $	[75]
a Stancu type operator	$L_n^{\nabla}(f;x) = C_n(f;x) = \frac{1}{n^{\overline{n}}} \sum_{k=0}^n {\binom{n}{k}(nx)^{\overline{k}}(n-nx)^{\overline{k}}f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right)}$	[64]

Table 2.3.3: General form of known operators - part 1

45

Name	General form	References
Bernstein-Durrmeyer with symmetric weight	$D^{<\alpha>}(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} p_{n,k}(x) \frac{(2\alpha+2)^{\overline{n}}}{(\alpha+1)^{\overline{k}}(\alpha+1)^{\overline{n-k}}} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{t^{k+\alpha}(1-t)^{n+k+\alpha}}{B(\alpha+1,\alpha+1)} f(t) dt$	[63]
Mache-Zhou operator	$P_n(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^n p_{n,k}(x) \frac{\int\limits_0^1 f(t)t^{ck+a}(1-t)^{c(n-k)+b}dt}{B(ck+a+1,c(n-k)+b+1)}, a, b > -1$	[65]
Stancu-type operator with parameters <i>a</i> , <i>b</i>	$Q_n^{\varrho,a,b}(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^n f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) {\binom{n}{k}} \frac{B(n\varrho x + a + k + 1, n\varrho(1-x) + n - k + b + 1)}{B(n\varrho x + a + 1, n\varrho(1-x) + b + 1)}$	Gonska handwrit- ten notes, 18 March 2009.
Lupaş operator with Jacobi weights	$V_n^{\alpha,\beta}(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^n {n \choose k} f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) \frac{(nx+\alpha+1)^{\overline{k}}(n-nx+\beta+1)^{\overline{n-k}}}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)^{\overline{n}}}$	Raşa hand- written notes, 19 August 2008.
Lupaş operator	$(\mathbb{B}_n \circ B_n)(f; x) = V_n^{0,0}(f; x) = \sum_{k=0}^n {n \choose k} f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) \frac{(nx+1)^{\overline{k}}(n-nx+1)^{\overline{n-k}}}{(n+2)^{\overline{n}}}$	[63]
Stancu operator	$S_{n}^{\alpha}(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) {\binom{n}{k}} \frac{\prod_{i=0}^{k-1} (x+i\alpha) \prod_{j=0}^{n-k-1} (1-x+j\alpha)}{(1+\alpha)(1+2\alpha) \cdot \dots \cdot (1+(n-1)\alpha)}$	[94]
Stancu operator (Mühlbach notation)	$\begin{vmatrix} Q_n[f](x) = Q_n[f;x,a] = \sum_{k=0}^n f(x_{nk})q_{nk}(x,a), \\ f(x_{nk}) = f(\frac{k}{n}), q_{nk}(x,a) = \binom{n}{k} \frac{\varphi_k(x,a)\varphi_{n-k}(1-x,a)}{\varphi_n(1,a)}, \varphi_k(x,a) = \prod_{l=0}^{k-1} (x+la), \varphi_0(x,a) := 1 \end{vmatrix}$	[71]

Table 2.3.4: General form of known operators - part 2

Name	General form	References
Finta operator	$\begin{vmatrix} F_n^{\alpha}(f;x) = f(0)w_{n,0}^{(\alpha)}(x) + f(1)w_{n,n}^{(\alpha)}(x) + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} w_{n,k}^{(\alpha)}(x) \int_0^1 (n-1)p_{n-2,k-1}(t)f(t)dt, \\ w_{n,k}^{(\alpha)}(x) := \binom{n}{k} \frac{x^{[k,-\alpha]}(1-x)^{[n-k,-\alpha]}}{1^{[n-\alpha]}} \end{vmatrix}$	[27]
general Beta-type operators	$\mathbb{B}_{n}^{(\alpha,\lambda)}(f;x) = (\tilde{\mathbb{B}}_{\alpha} \circ B_{n} \circ \tilde{\mathbb{B}}_{\lambda})(f;x)$	[78]
Piţul Beta operator	$\mathbb{B}_{\infty}^{(\alpha,\lambda)}(f;x) = (\tilde{\mathbb{B}}_{\alpha} \circ \tilde{\mathbb{B}}_{\lambda})(f;x)$	[78]
D_n	$D_n(f;x) = (B_n \circ B_{n+1})(f;x)$	[43]

Table 2.3.5: General form of known operators - part 3

Notation	Second moments
* U _n	$U_n((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{2X}{n+1}$
M_n	$M_n((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{2X(n-3) + 2}{(n+2)(n+3)}$
$D^{<\alpha>}$	$D^{<\alpha>}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X(2n - 4a^2 - 10a - 6) + (a + 1)(a + 2)}{(n + 2a + 2)(n + 2a + 3)}$
M_n^{ab}	$\frac{a^2 + b^2 + 2ab + 5a + 5b + 6 - 2n}{(n + a + b + 2)(n + a + b + 3)} \cdot x^2 - \frac{2a^2 + 2ab + 8a + 2b + 6 - 2n}{(n + a + b + 2)(n + a + b + 3)} \cdot x + \frac{(a + 1)(a + 2)}{(n + a + b + 2)(n + a + b + 3)}$
* U _n ^e	$U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X(1 + \varrho)}{n\varrho + 1}$
P _n	$\frac{P_n((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) :=}{(nc + a + b + 2)(nc + a + b + 3)} \cdot x^2 - \frac{(2a^2 + 2ab + 8a + 2b + 6 - nc - nc^2) \cdot x + (a + 1)(a + 2)}{(nc + a + b + 2)(nc + a + b + 3)}$

* these operators reproduce linear functions

Table 2.3.6: Second moments - part 1

2.3 Particular cases

Notation	Second moments
* L_n^{∇}	$L_n^{\nabla}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{2X}{2+1}$
$V_n^{0,0}$	$V_n^{0,0}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X(2n^2 - 6n) + 3n + 1}{n(n+2)(n+3)}$
$V_n^{lpha,eta}$	$\frac{\lambda^2 + \beta^2 + 2\alpha\beta + 5\alpha + 5\beta + 6 - 2n}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)(n+\alpha+\beta+3)} \cdot x^2 - \frac{2\alpha^2 + 2\alpha\beta + 9\alpha + \beta + 6 - 2n}{(n+\alpha+\beta+2)(n+\alpha+\beta+3)} \cdot x + \frac{n\alpha^2 + 4n\alpha + \alpha\beta + 3n + \alpha + \beta + 1}{n(n+\alpha+\beta+2)(n+\alpha+\beta+3)}$
$* S_n^{\alpha}$	$S_n^{\alpha}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{2X}{n+1}$
$Q_n^{\varrho,c,d}$	$Q_n^{\varrho,c,d}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{c^2 + d^2 + 2cd + 5c + 5d + 6 - n\varrho - n\varrho^2}{(n\varrho + c + d + 2)(n\varrho + c + d + 3)} \cdot x^2 - \frac{2c^2 + 2cd + 8c + 2d + 6 - n\varrho - n\varrho^2}{(n\varrho + c + d + 2)(n\varrho + c + d + 3)} \cdot x + \frac{nc^2 + 3nc + nc\varrho + n\varrho + 2n + c + d + cd + 1}{n(n\varrho + c + d + 2)(n\varrho + c + d + 3)}$
* $\mathbb{B}_{\infty}^{(\alpha,\lambda)}$	$\mathbb{B}^{lpha,\lambda}_{\infty}((e_1-xe_0)^2;x):=rac{X(lpha+\lambda+lpha\lambda)}{(1+lpha)(1+\lambda)}$
* <i>F</i> ^{<i>α</i>} _{<i>n</i>}	$F_n^{\alpha}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X(n\alpha + \alpha + 2)}{(\alpha + 1)(n + 1)}$
* $\mathbb{B}_n^{(\alpha,\lambda)}$	$\mathbb{B}_n^{(\alpha,\lambda)}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X(n\alpha + n\lambda + n\alpha\lambda + 1)}{n(1+\alpha)(1+\lambda)}$
* <i>D</i> _n	$D_n((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{2X}{n+1}$
* $R^{\infty}_{m,n}$	$R_{m,n}^{\infty}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X(n+m-1)}{nm}$

* these operators reproduce linear functions

Table 2.3.7: Second moments - part 2

Notation	Second moments
* R ^ę _{m,n}	$R^{\varrho}_{m,n}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X(n\varrho + m\varrho - \varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)}$
$* \overline{\mathbb{B}}_{n'} \\ \mathcal{B}_{n}^{-1,-1}$	$\overline{\mathbb{B}}_n((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X}{n+1}$
* $\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}_{\lambda}$, T_{λ}	$\widetilde{\mathbb{B}}_{\lambda}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{\lambda X}{1 + \lambda}$
$\mathbb{B}_n, \mathcal{B}_n^{0,0}$	$\mathbb{B}_n((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X(n-6) + 2}{(n+2)(n+3)}$
$\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,eta}$	$\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,\beta}((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{nX + (\beta + 1)(\beta + 2)x^2}{(n + \beta + 1)(n + \beta + 2)}$
$\mathcal{B}_n^{lpha,-1}$	$\mathcal{B}_{n}^{\alpha,-1}((e_{1}-xe_{0})^{2};x) := \frac{nX+(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2)(x-1)^{2}}{(n+\alpha+1)(n+\alpha+2)}$
$\mathcal{B}_n^{lpha,eta}$	$\frac{\alpha^2 + \beta^2 + 2\alpha\beta + 5\alpha + 5\beta + 6 - n}{(n + \alpha + \beta + 2)(n + \alpha + \beta + 3)} \cdot x^2 - \frac{2\alpha^2 + 2\alpha\beta + 8\alpha + 2\beta + 6 - n}{(n + \alpha + \beta + 2)(n + \alpha + \beta + 3)} \cdot x + \frac{(\alpha + 1)(\alpha + 2)}{(n + \alpha + \beta + 2)(n + \alpha + \beta + 3)}$
* B _n	$B_n((e_1 - xe_0)^2; x) := \frac{X}{n}$

* these operators reproduce linear functions

Table 2.3.8: Second moments - part 3

2.4 Variation diminution

Theorem 2.4.1. *The BEJ operators of first, respectively second kind as given in Definitions* 2.1.1 *and* 2.2.1 *have the (strong) variation-diminishing property, that is,*

$$S_{[0,1]}[R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}f] \le S_{[0,1]}[f] \text{ for all } f \in C[0,1]$$
(2.5)

$$S_{[0,1]}[R_n^{s,c,d,r,a,b}f] \le S_{[0,1]}[f] \text{ for all } f \in C[0,1].$$
(2.6)

Proof. It is known that the Bernstein operators satisfy the SVDP. Thus we have

$$S_{[0,1]}[R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}f] \leq S_{[0,1]}[(\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b} \circ B_n)f].$$

In Section 1.3.7 we have shown that $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ also satisfy the SVDP. Thus we have

$$S_{[0,1]}[R_{m,n}^{(r,a,b)}f] \le S_{[0,1]}[(\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b} \circ B_n)f] \le S_{[0,1]}[B_nf] \le S_{[0,1]}[f]$$

for all $f \in C[0,1]$. Similarly it can be shown that (2.6) holds, but we'll skip that proof.

2.5 Direct and converse results

Direct and strong converse inequality of type A, in the terminology of [22], exist for the Bernstein operators in [59], for "genuine" Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators in [72], for a special selection of Stancu operators in [26] and for the Finta operator in [28].

Using the method presented by Finta in [26] and [28] we can give such results for two more cases, that is, for the composition of two different Bernstein operators and for a particular case of the general composition that reproduces linear functions.

The results presented in this section have been published in [97].

2.5.1 Case I - a composition of two Bernstein operators

We define

$$R_{m,n}^{\infty}f = (B_m \circ B_n)(f, x) = \sum_{k=0}^m p_{m,k}(x)B_nf\left(\frac{k}{m}\right),$$

a positive linear operator that reproduces linear functions, where $p_{m,k}$ are the Bernstein basis polynomials with $p_{m,k}(x) = {m \choose k} x^k (1-x)^{m-k}$, $x \in [0,1]$. For this first case we need the following result:

Lemma 2.5.1. *Let* $f \in C[0, 1]$ *. Then*

$$||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - B_nf|| \le \frac{1}{m} ||\varphi^2 B_n''f||.$$
(2.7)

Proof. $R_{m,n}^{\infty}f = B_m(B_nf) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x)B_nf(\frac{k}{m})$ where $p_{m,k} = {m \choose k}x^k(1-x)^{m-k}$. Hence

$$(R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - B_n f)(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \left(B_n f\left(\frac{k}{m}\right) - B_n f(x) \right)$$

and by Taylor expansion with integral remainder, namely

$$B_n f\left(\frac{k}{m}\right) = B_n f(x) + \left(\frac{k}{m} - x\right) B'_n f(x) + \int_x^{\frac{k}{m}} \left(\frac{k}{m} - u\right) B''_n f(u) du,$$

we can write

$$R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - B_n f = \sum_{k=0}^m p_{m,k}(x) \left[\left(\frac{k}{m} - x\right) B'_n f(x) + \int_x^{\frac{k}{m}} \left(\frac{k}{m} - u\right) B''_n f(u) du \right].$$

By simple computation we obtain:

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \left(\frac{k}{m} - x\right) = 0,$$
(2.8)

and

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \left(\frac{k}{m} - x\right)^2 = \frac{\varphi^2(x)}{m}.$$
(2.9)

Then in view of (2.8), (2.9) and Lemma 1.1.30, for $x \neq 0, 1$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} ||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - B_{n}f|| &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \left| \int_{x}^{\frac{k}{m}} \left(\frac{k}{m} - u\right) B_{n}''f(u)du \right| \\ &\leq \frac{||\varphi^{2}B_{n}''f||}{\varphi(x)^{2}} \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \left(\frac{k}{m} - x\right)^{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{m} ||\varphi^{2}B_{n}''f||, \end{aligned}$$
(2.10)

which completes the proof.

Theorem 2.5.2. Let $f \in C[0, 1]$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - f|| \le C\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}.$$
(2.11)

Proof. We have

$$||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - f|| \le ||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - B_nf|| + ||B_nf - f||.$$
(2.12)

Let $g \in W^2_{\infty}(\varphi)$. In view of Lemma 2.5.1 and [21, Lemma 7.4, p.324] we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} ||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - B_{n}f|| &\leq \frac{1}{m} ||\varphi^{2}B_{n}''f|| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m} \{||\varphi^{2}B_{n}''(f - g)|| + ||\varphi^{2}B_{n}''g||\} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{m} \{2n||f - g|| + 12||\varphi^{2}g''||\} \\ &\leq 12\frac{n}{m} \{||f - g|| + \frac{1}{n}||\varphi^{2}g''||\}. \end{aligned}$$

51

So

$$\begin{aligned} ||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - B_n f|| &\leq 12 \frac{n}{m} \inf\{||f - g|| + \frac{1}{n} ||\varphi^2 g''|| : g \in W_{\infty}^2(\varphi)\} \\ &= 12 \frac{n}{m} K_{2,\varphi}(f, n^{-1})_{C[0,1]}. \end{aligned}$$

Because $K_{2,\varphi}(f, n^{-1})_{C[0,1]}$ is equivalent with $\omega_{\varphi}^2(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}$ in view of Theorem 1.1.22 we obtain the existence of a constant $C_1 \neq C_1(f, n, m) > 0$ such that

$$||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - B_nf|| \le 12\frac{n}{m}C_1\omega_{\varphi}^2(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}.$$
(2.13)

On the other hand it has been shown in [23] that for some constant $C_2 \neq C_2(f, n, m) > 0$

$$||B_n f - f|| \le C_2 \omega_{\varphi}^2 (f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]},$$
(2.14)

for every $f \in C[0,1]$. Thus, by (2.12), (2.13) and (2.14) we obtain for a constant $C = 12\frac{n}{m}C_1 + C_2$ the estimate (2.11).

Corollary 2.5.3. Under the assumption of Theorem 2.5.2 we have

$$||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - f|| \le C||B_nf - f||$$
(2.15)

where C > 0 is constant.

Proof. In view of [59] we have for some absolute constant M > 0

$$M\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]} \le ||B_{n}f - f||.$$
(2.16)

Thus by Theorem 2.5.2 we get (2.15).

Theorem 2.5.4. Let $\alpha_1 = C_0 \frac{n}{m} < 1$, where C_0 denotes the absolute constant in Lemma 1.2.10 and the pair (n,m) is chosen accordingly. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all $f \in C[0,1]$ we have

$$C^{-1}||B_n f - f|| \le ||R_{m,n}^{\infty} f - f|| \le C||B_n f - f||$$
(2.17)

and

$$C^{-1}\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]} \le ||R_{m,n}^{\infty}f - f|| \le C\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}.$$
(2.18)

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} ||B_n f - f|| &\leq ||R_{m,n}^{\infty} f - f|| + ||R_{m,n}^{\infty} f - B_n f|| \\ &\leq ||R_{m,n}^{\infty} f - f|| + C_0 \frac{n}{m} ||B_n f - f|| \end{aligned}$$

in view of Lemma 1.2.10 and (2.7). But $\alpha_1 = C_0 \frac{n}{m} < 1$, by assumption, and therefore

$$||B_n f - f|| \le ||R_{m,n}^{\infty} f - f|| + \alpha_1 ||B_n f - f||.$$

So

$$(1 - \alpha_1)||B_n f - f|| \le ||R_{m,n}^{\infty} f - f||.$$

Hence by Corollary 2.5.3 we obtain (2.17) for some C > 0. The inequalities in (2.18) are direct consequences of (2.16) and (2.17). Thus the theorem is proved.

2.5.2 Case II - BEJ of first kind general composition

We define

$$R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f(x) = (B_{m} \circ \mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1} \circ B_{n})(f,x)$$

= $\sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \frac{\int_{0}^{1} t^{\frac{n\varrho k}{m}-1} (1-t)^{n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m}-1} B_{n}f(t) dt}{B(\frac{n\varrho k}{m}, n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m})},$

a positive linear operator that reproduces linear functions with $\rho > 0$. Lemma 2.5.5. Let $f \in C[0, 1]$ and $\rho > 0$. Then

$$||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - B_nf|| \le \frac{n\varrho + m}{m(n\varrho + 1)} ||\varphi^2 B_n''f||.$$
(2.19)

Proof.

$$R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \frac{\int_{0}^{1} t^{\frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (1 - t)^{n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} B_{n}f(t)dt}{B(\frac{n\varrho k}{m}, n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m})}, \quad x \in (0, 1).$$

Hence

$$R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f(x) - B_n f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \frac{\int\limits_{0}^{1} t^{\frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (1-t)^{n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} [B_n f(t) - B_n f(x)] dt}{B(\frac{n\varrho k}{m}, n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m})}$$

and by Taylor expansion with integral remainder, that is,

.

$$B_n f(t) = B_n f(x) + (t - x)B'f(x) + \int_x^t (t - u)B''_n f(u)du,$$

we can write

$$R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f(x) - B_{n}f(x) =$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \frac{\int_{0}^{1} t^{\frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (1-t)^{n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} \left[(t-x)B'f(x) + \int_{x}^{t} (t-u)B''_{n}f(u)du \right] dt}{B(\frac{n\varrho k}{m}, n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m})}.$$

By simple computations we obtain

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \frac{1}{B(\frac{n\varrho k}{m}, n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m})} \int_{0}^{1} t^{\frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (1-t)^{n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (t-x) dt = 0$$
(2.20)

and

$$\sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \frac{1}{B(\frac{n\varrho k}{m}, n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m})} \int_{0}^{1} t^{\frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (1-t)^{n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (t-x)^{2} dt = \frac{n\varrho + m}{m(n\varrho + 1)} \varphi^{2}(x),$$
(2.21)

respectively. Then in view of (2.20), Lemma 1.1.30 and (2.21), we get

$$\begin{aligned} |R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f(x) - B_{n}f(x)| &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \frac{\int_{0}^{1} t^{\frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (1-t)^{n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} \left| \int_{x}^{t} (t-u) B_{n}''f(u) du \right| dt}{B(\frac{n\varrho k}{m}, n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m})} \\ &\leq \frac{||\varphi^{2} B_{n}''f||}{\varphi^{2}(x)} \sum_{k=0}^{m} p_{m,k}(x) \frac{\int_{0}^{1} t^{\frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (1-t)^{n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m} - 1} (t-x)^{2} dt}{B(\frac{n\varrho k}{m}, n\varrho - \frac{n\varrho k}{m})} \\ &= \frac{n\varrho + m}{m(n\varrho + 1)} ||\varphi^{2} B_{n}''f|| \end{aligned}$$

which completes the proof.

Theorem 2.5.6. Let $f \in C[0,1]$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - f|| \le C\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}.$$
(2.22)

Proof. We have

$$||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - f|| \le ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - B_nf|| + ||B_nf - f||.$$
(2.23)

Let $g \in W^2_{\infty}(\varphi)$. In view of Lemma 2.5.5 and [21, Lemma 7.4, p.324] we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - B_{n}f|| &\leq \frac{n\varrho + m}{m(n\varrho + 1)} ||\varphi^{2}B_{n}''f|| \\ &\leq \frac{n\varrho + m}{m(n\varrho + 1)} \{||\varphi^{2}B_{n}''(f - g)|| + ||\varphi^{2}B_{n}''g||\} \\ &\leq \frac{n\varrho + m}{m(n\varrho + 1)} \{2n||f - g|| + 12||\varphi^{2}g''||\} \\ &\leq 12\frac{n(n\varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)} \{||f - g|| + \frac{1}{n}||\varphi^{2}g''||\}. \end{aligned}$$

So

$$\begin{aligned} ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - B_nf|| &\leq 12 \frac{n(n\varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)} \inf\{||f - g|| + \frac{1}{n} ||\varphi^2 g''|| : g \in W^2_{\infty}(\varphi)\} \\ &= 12 \frac{n(n\varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)} K_{2,\varphi}(f, n^{-1})_{C[0,1]}. \end{aligned}$$

Because $K_{2,\varphi}(f, n^{-1})_{C[0,1]}$ is equivalent to $\omega_{\varphi}^2(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}$ in view of Theorem 1.1.22, we obtain the existence of a constant $C_1 \neq C_1(f, n, m, \varrho) > 0$ such that

$$||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - B_nf|| \le 12 \frac{n(n\varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)} C_1 \omega_{\varphi}^2(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}.$$
(2.24)

On the other hand it has been shown in [23] that for some constant $C_2 \neq C_2(f, n, m, \varrho) > 0$

$$||B_n f - f|| \le C_2 \omega_{\varphi}^2 (f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}.$$
(2.25)

for every $f \in C[0, 1]$. Thus, by (2.23), (2.24) and (2.25) for a constant $C = 12 \frac{n(n\varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)} C_1 + C_2$ we obtain (2.22).

Corollary 2.5.7. Under the assumption of Theorem 2.5.6 we have

$$||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - f|| \le C||B_n f - f||$$
(2.26)

where C > 0 is constant.

Proof. In view of [59] we have for some absolute constant M > 0

$$M\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]} \le ||B_{n}f - f||$$
(2.27)

Thus by Theorem 2.5.6 we get (2.26).

Theorem 2.5.8. Let $\alpha_2 = C_0 \frac{n(n\varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)} < 1$, where C_0 denotes the absolute constant in Lemma 1.2.10, $\varrho \ge 1$ and the triplet (n, m, ϱ) is chosen accordingly. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that for all $f \in C[0, 1]$ we have

$$C^{-1}||B_nf - f|| \le ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - f|| \le C||B_nf - f||$$
(2.28)

and

$$C^{-1}\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]} \leq ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho}f - f|| \leq C\omega_{\varphi}^{2}(f, n^{-1/2})_{C[0,1]}.$$
(2.29)

Proof. We have

$$\begin{aligned} ||B_n f - f|| &\leq ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho} f - f|| + ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho} f - B_n f|| \\ &\leq ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho} f - f|| + C_0 \frac{n(n\varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)} ||B_n f - f|| \end{aligned}$$

in view of Lemma 1.2.10 and (2.19). But $\alpha_2 = C_0 \frac{n(n\varrho + m)}{m(n\varrho + 1)} < 1$ by assumption, and therefore

$$||B_n f - f|| \le ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho} f - f|| + \alpha_2 ||B_n f - f||.$$

So

$$(1 - \alpha_2)||B_n f - f|| \le ||R_{m,n}^{\varrho} f - f||.$$

Hence by Corollary 2.5.7 we obtain (2.28) for some C > 0. The inequalities in (2.29) are direct consequences of (2.27) and (2.28). Thus the theorem is proved.

Remark 2.5.9. This method can be applied for compositions of linear positive operators that reproduce linear functions under the assumption that a strong converse inequality as the one given in Lemma 1.2.10 exists for the operator on the right hand side.

This method does not cover all the cases of the composition as a result of the restrictions applied to the constants.

Chapter 3

The class of operators U_n^{ϱ} linking the Bernstein and the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators

Denote by C[0,1] the space of continuous, real-valued functions on [0,1] and by Π_n the space of polynomials of degree at most $n \in \mathbb{N}_0 := \{0, 1, 2...\}$.

Definition 3.0.10. Let $\varrho > 0$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}_0$, $n \ge 1$. Define the operator $U_n^{\varrho} : C[0,1] \rightarrow \Pi_n$ by

$$U_{n}^{\varrho}(f;x) := \sum_{k=0}^{n} F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f) p_{n,k}(x)$$

$$:= \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \left(\int_{0}^{1} \frac{t^{k\varrho-1}(1-t)^{(n-k)\varrho-1}}{B(k\varrho,(n-k)\varrho)} f(t) dt \right) p_{n,k}(x) + f(0)(1-x)^{n} + f(1)x^{n},$$
(3.1)

 $f \in C[0,1], x \in [0,1]$ and $B(\cdot, \cdot)$ is Euler's Beta function. The fundamental functions $p_{n,k}$ are defined by

$$p_{n,k}(x) = \binom{n}{k} x^k (1-x)^{n-k}, \quad 0 \le k \le n, \quad k, n \in \mathbb{N}_0, \quad x \in [0,1].$$

For $\rho = 1$ and $f \in C[0, 1]$, we obtain

$$U_n^1(f;x) = U_n(f;x) = (n-1)\sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \left(\int_0^1 f(t) p_{n-2,k-1}(t) dt \right) p_{n,k}(x) + (1-x)^n f(0) + x^n f(1),$$
(3.2)

where U_n are the "genuine" Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators (see [16], [31]), while for $\rho \to \infty$, for each $f \in C[0, 1]$ the sequence $U_n^{\varrho}(f; x)$ converges uniformly to the Bernstein polynomial

$$B_n(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^n f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) p_{n,k}(x).$$
(3.3)

The U_n^{ϱ} were introduced in [75] by R. Păltănea and further investigated in [45] and [46].

Remark 3.0.11. *The "genuine"* Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators were studied by many authors. See for example the Habilitationschrift from D. Kacsó which has a whole chapter dedicated to the operators [55, Chapter 3] and the citations therein for further information.

As a consequence of the extensive investigations that we've conducted on the class of operators U_n^{ϱ} , several articles have been published or find themselves currently under review. We feel that in this sense an overview is in order. Thus, we find in [48] Sections 3.2, 3.4 and Subsection 3.8.2, in [57] some properties given in Section 3.1, but also Sections 3.5, 3.6 and Subsection 3.8.1, in [85] part of Section 3.1 and Sections 3.9, 3.10 and 3.11, in [51] Sections 3.12, 3.13 and 3.14 and in [49] Section 3.16.

3.1 Properties

 U_n^{ϱ} share many properties common for the well–known operators B_n , U_n , $\mathcal{B}_n^{-1,-1}$, such as being positive linear operators preserving linear functions.

Basic properties of the functionals $F_{n,k}^{\varrho} : C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ are the following

$$F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(e_m) = \frac{(k\varrho)^{\overline{m}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{m}}}, 0 \le k \le n, \text{ and } e_m(x) = x^m, x \in [0,1], \text{ for } m \ge 0.$$
(3.4)

This implies

$$U_n^{\varrho}(e_0) = e_0, \quad U_n^{\varrho}(e_1) = e_1.$$

Lemma 3.1.1. *If f is convex on* C[0, 1]*, then*

$$U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) \ge U_{n+1}^{\varrho}(f;x) \ge f(x), 0 < x < 1.$$
(3.5)

The inequalities are strict when f *is strictly convex on* [0, 1]*.*

Proof. This result is a consequence of Corollary 1.2.8 and Lemma 1.3.4.

We choose $s = (n + 1)\varrho$ and $r = n\varrho$ in (1.21) and we compose to the left with the (n + 1)-st Bernstein operator. We get then

$$(B_{n+1} \circ \mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1})(f;x) \ge (B_{n+1} \circ \mathcal{B}_{(n+1)\varrho}^{-1,-1})(f;x) = U_{n+1}^{\varrho}(f;x).$$
(3.6)

Next in the inequality below we compose to the right with $\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}(f;x)$

$$B_n(f;x) \ge B_{n+1}(f;x)$$

and get

$$U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) = (B_n \circ \mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1})(f;x) \ge (B_{n+1} \circ \mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1})(f;x).$$
(3.7)

Combining (3.6) and (3.7) we get (3.5).

Lemma 3.1.2. *If f is convex on* C[0, 1]*, then*

$$U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) \ge B_n(f;x), 0 < x < 1.$$
(3.8)

The inequality is strict if f is strictly convex on [0, 1]*.*

Proof. In [85] it is shown that for $f \in C[0, 1]$ convex and $0 < \rho < \sigma$,

$$U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) \ge U_n^{\sigma}(f;x).$$

Letting $\sigma \to \infty$ in the inequality above we get (3.8).

In [45] the authors proved that for each $n \ge 1$ and $f \in C[0, 1]$,

$$\lim_{\varrho \to \infty} U_n^{\varrho} f = B_n f, \text{ uniformly on } [0, 1]$$

Thus, for *n* fixed and $\varrho \in [1, \infty)$, the operators U_n^{ϱ} constitute a link between the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators U_n and the Bernstein operators B_n . The authors of [46] proved that for $n \ge 1$ and $f \in C[0, 1]$,

$$\lim_{\varrho \to 0^+} U_n^{\varrho} f = B_1 f, \text{ uniformly on } [0,1].$$
(3.9)

Moreover, they proved

Theorem 3.1.3. For U_n^{ϱ} , $0 < \varrho < \infty$, $n \ge 1$, we have

$$|U_n^{\varrho}f(x) - B_1f(x)| \leq \frac{9}{4}\omega_2\left(f;\sqrt{\frac{n\varrho-\varrho}{n\varrho+1}x(1-x)}\right).$$

In what follows, we give a different proof of (3.9). First of all, we have

$$F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(e_j) = \frac{k\varrho(k\varrho+1)\cdot\ldots\cdot(k\varrho+j-1)}{n\varrho(n\varrho+1)\cdot\ldots\cdot(n\varrho+j-1)}, \ j \ge 0, \ 0 \le k \le n,$$

and consequently,

$$\lim_{\varrho \to 0^+} F^{\varrho}_{n,k}(e_0) = 1 \tag{3.10}$$

and

$$\lim_{p \to 0^+} F^{\varrho}_{n,k}(e_j) = \frac{k}{n}, \ j = 1, 2, \dots$$
(3.11)

Now let $p \in \Pi$, $p = a_0e_0 + a_1e_1 + ... + a_me_m$ for some $a_0, a_1, ..., a_m \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, according to (3.10) and (3.11),

$$\lim_{\varrho \to 0^+} F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(p) = a_0 + (a_1 + \dots + a_m)\frac{k}{n} = p(0) + (p(1) - p(0))\frac{k}{n}$$

This leads to

$$\lim_{\varrho \to 0^+} U_n^{\varrho} p = \sum_{k=0}^n \left(p(0) + (p(1) - p(0)) \frac{k}{n} \right) p_{n,k} = p(0)e_0 + (p(1) - p(0))e_1,$$

and so

$$\lim_{\rho \to 0^+} U_n^{\varrho} p = B_1 p, \quad p \in \Pi.$$
(3.12)

Since Π is dense in C[0, 1], and $||U_n^{\varrho}|| = ||B_1|| = 1$, (3.9) is a consequence on (3.12).

In the sequel we shall be concerned with shape preserving properties of the operators U_n^{ϱ} . In [45, Theorem 4.1], the authors proved that for $n \ge 1$ and $\varrho > 0$, the operators U_n^{ϱ} transform *k*-convex functions into *k*-convex functions. Basically this means that if $f^{(k)} \ge 0$, then $(U_n^{\varrho})^{(k)} f \ge 0, k \ge 0$; see [45] for the complete terminology. Here we shall present briefly another proof of this theorem.

First, let $\alpha \ge -1$, $\beta \ge -1$ be real numbers. For r > 0 consider the kernel

$$(x,y) \in [0,1] \times]0,1[\to K_r^{a,b}(x,y) := \frac{y^{rx+a}(1-y)^{r(1-x)+b}}{B(rx+a+1,r(1-x)+b+1)}$$

and the operator

$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}f(x) := \int_{0}^{1} K_{r}^{a,b}(x,y)f(y)dy, \ f \in C[0,1], \ x \in [0,1].$$

Let us remark that the kernel $K_r^{a,b}$ can be represented also as

$$K_r^{a,b}(x,y) = \frac{e^{a\log y + (r+b)\log(1-y)} \cdot e^{rx(\log y - \log(1-y))}}{B(rx + a + 1, r(1-x) + b + 1)}.$$

According to [58, Theorem 1.1, part (a), p. 99], and [58, (1.5), p. 100], $K_r^{a,b}$ is a totally positive kernel. Moreover, a direct computation yields

$$\mathcal{B}_{r}^{a,b}e_{k}(x) = \frac{(rx+a+1)(rx+a+2)\cdot...\cdot(rx+a+k)}{(r+a+b+2)\cdot...\cdot(r+a+b+k+1)}.$$

Thus, for any $k \ge 0$, $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}e_k$ is a polynomial of degree k with leading coefficient

$$a_{r,k}^{a,b} := \frac{r^k}{(r+a+b+2) \cdot \dots \cdot (r+a+b+k+1)}.$$

By [10, Theorem 2.3 and Remark 2.5], $\mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ transforms *k*-convex functions into *k*-convex functions, $k \ge 0$. Since the Bernstein operator B_n does the same, we conclude that $B_n \circ \mathcal{B}_r^{a,b}$ preserves *k*-convexity. In particular, $U_n = B_n \circ \mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}$ preserves *k*-convexity, and this is the content of [45, Theorem 4.1].

3.2 Images of the monomials

More generally we have

Theorem 3.2.1. The images of the monomials under U_n^{ϱ} can be written as

$$U_n^{\varrho}(e_m) = \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^m} \sum_{l=0}^m c_{m-l}^{(m)} (n\varrho)^l B_n(e_l)$$
(3.13)

where the coefficients $c_j^{(m)}$, j = 0, 1, ..., m are given by the elementary symmetric sums:

$$\begin{aligned} c_0^{(m)} &:= 1, \quad c_m^{(m)} := 0, \\ c_1^{(m)} &= 1 + 2 + \dots + (m-1) = \frac{m(m-1)}{2}, \\ c_2^{(m)} &= 1 \cdot 2 + 1 \cdot 3 + \dots + 1 \cdot (m-1) + 2 \cdot 3 + \dots + (m-2) \cdot (m-1), \\ & \dots \\ c_{m-1}^{(m)} &= 1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 \cdot \dots \cdot (m-1) = (m-1)!. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.14)$$

Proof.

$$\begin{split} U_n^{\varrho}(e_m;x) &= \sum_{k=0}^n F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(e_m) p_{n,k}(x) \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{k\varrho(k\varrho+1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (k\varrho+m-1)}{n\varrho(n\varrho+1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (n\varrho+m-1)} p_{n,k}(x) \\ &= \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^m} \sum_{k=0}^n k\varrho(k\varrho+1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (k\varrho+m-1) p_{n,k}(x) \\ &= \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^m} \sum_{k=0}^n [c_0^{(m)}(k\varrho)^m + c_1^{(m)}(k\varrho)^{m-1} + \ldots + c_{m-1}^{(m)}k\varrho] p_{n,k}(x) \\ &= \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^m} \left\{ c_0^{(m)} \varrho^m \sum_{k=0}^n k^m p_{n,k}(x) + c_1^{(m)} \varrho^{m-1} \sum_{k=0}^n k^{m-1} p_{n,k}(x) + \ldots \\ & \ldots + c_{m-1}^{(m)} \varrho \sum_{k=0}^n kp_{n,k}(x) \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^m} \left\{ c_0^{(m)} \varrho^m n^m \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{k^m}{n^m} p_{n,k}(x) + c_1^{(m)} \varrho^{m-1} n^{m-1} \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{k^{m-1}}{n^{m-1}} p_{n,k}(x) + \ldots \\ & \ldots + c_{m-1}^{(m)} n\varrho \sum_{k=0}^n \frac{k}{n} p_{n,k}(x) \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^m} \left\{ c_0^{(m)} \varrho^m n^m B_n(e_m;x) + c_1^{(m)} \varrho^{m-1} n^{m-1} B_n(e_{m-1};x) + \ldots \\ & \ldots + c_{m-1}^{(m)} n\varrho B_n(e_1;x) \right\} \\ &= \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^m} \sum_{l=0}^m c_{m-l}^{(m)}(n\varrho)^l B_n(e_l;x). \end{split}$$

Remark 3.2.2. This representation of the images of the monomials highlights the close relationship between B_n and U_n^{ϱ} .

3.3 The moments of U_n^{ϱ}

In [45] the following formulas for the moments of U_n^{ϱ} are proved.

Theorem 3.3.1. *For* $x, y \in [0, 1]$ *, we have*

$$U_n^{\varrho}(e_0; x) = 1, \ U_n^{\varrho}(e_1 - ye_0; x) = x - y$$

and for $r \ge 1$ and $\Psi(x) = x(1-x)$

$$U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - ye_0)^{r+1}; x) = \frac{\varrho \Psi(x)}{n\varrho + r} (U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - ye_0)^r; x))'_x + \frac{(1 - 2y)r + n\varrho(x - y)}{n\varrho + r} (U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - ye_0)^r; x)) + \frac{r\Psi(y)}{n\varrho + r} (U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - ye_0)^{r-1}; x)).$$

For brevity we set $M_{n,r}^{\varrho}(x) := U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - xe_0)^r; x), n \ge 1, r \ge 0, x \in [0, 1]$. It is immediate that

$$(M_{n,r}^{\varrho}(x))' = (U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - ye_0)^r; x))'_x|_{y=x} - rM_{n,r-1}^{\varrho}(x).$$
(3.15)

Using (3.15) and setting y = x in Theorem 3.3.1, we obtain the following recursion for the central moments:

Corollary 3.3.2. The following relations are true

$$M_{n,0}^{\varrho}(x) = 1, M_{n,1}^{\varrho}(x) = 0,$$

and for $r \ge 1$

$$M_{n,r+1}^{\varrho}(x) = \frac{r(\varrho+1)\Psi(x)}{n\varrho+r}M_{n,r-1}^{\varrho}(x) + \frac{(1-2x)r}{n\varrho+r}M_{n,r}^{\varrho}(x) + \frac{\varrho\Psi(x)}{n\varrho+r}(M_{n,r}^{\varrho}(x))'.$$
(3.16)

In particular

$$M_{n,2}^{\varrho}(x) = \frac{(\varrho+1)\Psi(x)}{n\varrho+1},$$

$$M_{n,3}^{\varrho}(x) = \frac{(\varrho+1)(\varrho+2)\Psi(x)\Psi'(x)}{(n\varrho+1)(n\varrho+2)},$$

$$M_{n,4}^{\varrho}(x) = \frac{3\varrho(\varrho+1)^{2}\Psi^{2}(x)n}{(n\varrho+1)(n\varrho+2)(n\varrho+3)} + \frac{-6(\varrho+1)(\varrho^{2}+3\varrho+3)\Psi^{2}(x) + (\varrho+1)(\varrho+2)(\varrho+3)\Psi(x)}{(n\varrho+1)(n\varrho+2)(n\varrho+3)}.$$
(3.17)

3.4 The eigenstructure of U_n^{ϱ}

There are many applications that arise from having a complete description of the eigenstructure. Applications of the results presented in this section can be found in Sections 3.12, 3.13, 3.16 and Subsection 3.8.2.

3.4.1 Diagonalisation and description of the eigenfunctions

We shall use the *Stirling numbers of second kind* S(k, j) defined by

$$x^{k} = \sum_{j=0}^{k} S(k,j)x(x-1)...(x-j+1).$$

The following identity holds (see [17], Theorem A [1b], p.204):

$$S(k,j) = \frac{1}{j!} \sum_{i=0}^{j} {j \choose i} (-1)^{j-i} i^k, \ 0 \le j \le k.$$
(3.18)

Consider the eigenfunction equation

$$U_n^{\varrho} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} = \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$$
(3.19)

with respect to the basis of monomials $\{e_0, e_1, ..., e_n\}$. Since U_n^{ϱ} is degree reducing, we have to solve an upper triangular system. This will be done in the proof of the next theorem.

Remark 3.4.1. The operator U_n^{ϱ} reproduces linear polynomials, which are therefore eigenfunctions corresponding to the eigenvalue 1.

Theorem 3.4.2. The operator U_n^{ϱ} can be represented in diagonal form

$$U_n^{\varrho}f = \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f), \text{ for all } f \in C[0,1],$$
(3.20)

with $\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ and $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ its eigenvalues and eigenfunctions and $\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ the dual functionals of $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$. The eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} = \varrho^{k-1} \frac{(n-1)(n-2)...(n-k+1)}{(n\varrho+1)(n\varrho+2)...(n\varrho+k-1)} = \frac{\varrho^k n!}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}(n-k)!}$$
(3.21)

and they satisfy

$$1 = \lambda_{\varrho,0}^{(n)} = \lambda_{\varrho,1}^{(n)} > \lambda_{\varrho,2}^{(n)} > \lambda_{\varrho,3}^{(n)} > \dots > \lambda_{\varrho,n}^{(n)} > 0.$$

The eigenfunction for $\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ *is a polynomial of degree k given by*

$$p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{k} c^{\varrho}(j,k,n) x^{j} = x^{k} - \frac{k}{2} x^{k-1} + lower order terms,$$
(3.22)

where the coefficients can be computed using the recurrence formula

$$c^{\varrho}(k,k,n) := 1,$$

$$c^{\varrho}(k-1,k,n) := -\frac{k}{2},$$

$$c^{\varrho}(k-j,k,n) := \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}}{\varrho^{k-j}[\varrho^{j}(n-k+1)^{\overline{j}} - (n\varrho+k-j)^{\overline{j}}]} \times$$

$$\sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \sum_{l=k-j}^{k-i} \frac{c^{\varrho}(k-i,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k-i}}} c_{k-i-l}^{(k-i)} \varrho^{l} S(l,k-j), \ j = 2, ..., k.$$
(3.23)

Proof. The eigenvalues of U_n^{ϱ} are determined from the upper triangular system of equations (3.19). They can be found on the diagonal and are equal to the coefficients of the terms with the highest degree of $U_n^{\varrho}(e_m)$. As we have seen before, we can write

$$U_n^{\varrho}(e_m; x) = \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^m} \left\{ c_0^{(m)} \varrho^m \sum_{k=0}^n k^m p_{n,k}(x) + c_1^{(m)} \varrho^{m-1} \sum_{k=0}^n k^{m-1} p_{n,k}(x) + \dots + c_{m-1}^{(m)} \varrho \sum_{k=0}^n k p_{n,k}(x) \right\}$$

and because

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} k^{m} p_{n,k}(x) = n(n-1)(n-2) \cdot \dots \cdot (n-m+1)x^{m} + \text{ terms of lower degree}$$

the eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_{\varrho,m}^{(n)} = \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{m}}} \varrho^m n(n-1)(n-2) \cdot \dots \cdot (n-m+1)$$
$$= \frac{\varrho^m \cdot n!}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{m}}(n-m)!}.$$

The linear polynomials are eigenfunctions for the eigenvalues $\lambda_{\varrho,0}^{(n)} = \lambda_{\varrho,1}^{(n)} = 1$, for which $p_{\varrho,0}^{(n)}(x) = 1$, $p_{\varrho,1}^{(n)}(x) = x - \frac{1}{2}$ are clearly a basis which satisfies (3.22) and (3.23). It remains to consider the 1-dimensional $\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ - eigenspace of polynomials of exact

It remains to consider the 1-dimensional $\lambda_{q,k}^{\vee}$ - eigenspace of polynomials of exact degree k = 2, 3, ..., n.

We shall plug into (3.13)

$$B_n(e_m; x) = \sum_{j=0}^m a(j, m, n) x^j,$$

where

$$a(j,m,n) = \frac{S(m,j)n!}{n^m(n-j)!}, 0 \le j \le m \le n,$$

as it was considered in [18] and we obtain

$$U_n^{\varrho}(e_m; x) = \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{m}}} \sum_{l=0}^m c_{m-l}^{(m)} (n\varrho)^l \sum_{r=0}^l a(r, l, n) x^r.$$

Express the eigenfunctions in the form

$$p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(x) = \sum_{s=0}^{k} c^{\varrho}(s,k,n) x^{s}, \ c^{\varrho}(k,k,n) := 1.$$
(3.24)

Then the eigenfunction equation (3.19) gives:

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \sum_{r=0}^{k} c^{\varrho}(r,k,n) x^{r} &= \sum_{s=0}^{k} \frac{c^{\varrho}(s,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{s}}} \sum_{l=0}^{s} c_{s-l}^{(s)} (n\varrho)^{l} \sum_{r=0}^{l} a(r,l,n) x^{r} \\ &= \sum_{s=0}^{k} \frac{c^{\varrho}(s,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{s}}} \sum_{r=0}^{s} \sum_{l=r}^{s} c_{s-l}^{(s)} (n\varrho)^{l} a(r,l,n) x^{r} \\ &= \sum_{r=0}^{k} \sum_{s=r}^{k} \frac{c^{\varrho}(s,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{s}}} \sum_{l=r}^{s} c_{s-l}^{(s)} (n\varrho)^{l} a(r,l,n) x^{r}. \end{split}$$

Equating the coefficients of x^r above gives for $0 \le r \le k$:

$$\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} c^{\varrho}(r,k,n) = \sum_{s=r}^{k} \frac{c^{\varrho}(s,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{s}}} \sum_{l=r}^{s} c_{s-l}^{(s)} (n\varrho)^{l} a(r,l,n).$$

Into this we make first the substitution s = k - i and subsequently r = k - j to obtain

$$\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} c^{\varrho}(k-j,k,n) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} \frac{c^{\varrho}(k-i,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k-i}}} \sum_{l=k-j}^{k-i} c_{k-i-l}^{(k-i)} (n\varrho)^{l} a(k-j,l,n).$$

which, for k > 1, can be solved for $c^{\varrho}(k - j, k, n)$ to give

$$\begin{split} c^{\varrho}(k-j,k,n) &= \left(\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} - \frac{(n\varrho)^{k-j}}{(n\varrho)^{k-j}}a(k-j,k-j,n)\right)^{-1}\sum_{i=0}^{j-1}\frac{c^{\varrho}(k-i,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{k-i}} \times \\ &\sum_{l=k-j}^{k-i}c_{k-i-l}^{(k-i)}(n\varrho)^{l}a(k-j,l,n) \\ &= \left(\frac{\varrho^{k}\cdot n!}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}(n-k)!} - \frac{(n\varrho)^{k-j}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k-j}}}\frac{S(k-j,k-j)\cdot n!}{n^{k-j}(n-k+j)!}\right)^{-1} \times \\ &\sum_{i=0}^{j-1}\frac{c^{\varrho}(k-i,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k-i}}}\sum_{l=k-j}^{k-i}c_{k-i-l}^{(k-i)}(n\varrho)^{l}\frac{S(l,k-j)n!}{n^{l}(n-k+j)!} \\ &= \left(\varrho^{k-j}\left[\frac{\varrho^{j}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}(n-k)!} - \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k-j}}(n-k+j)!}\right]\right)^{-1} \times \\ &\sum_{i=0}^{j-1}\frac{c^{\varrho}(k-i,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k-i}}}\sum_{l=k-j}^{k-i}c_{k-i-l}^{(k-i)}\varrho^{l}\frac{S(l,k-j)}{(n-k+j)!} \\ &= \frac{(n-k+j)!(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}}{\varrho^{k-j}[\varrho^{j}(n-k+1)^{\overline{j}}-(n\varrho+k-j)^{\overline{j}}]} \times \\ &\sum_{i=0}^{j-1}\frac{c^{\varrho}(k-i,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k-i}}}\sum_{l=k-j}^{k-i}c_{k-i-l}^{(k-i)}\varrho^{l}\frac{S(l,k-j)}{(n-k+j)!} \end{split}$$

From here we get easily the equations (3.23). In particular, for j = 1 we get

$$c^{\varrho}(k-1,k,n) = \frac{c_1^{(k)} + c_0^{(k)} \varrho^{\frac{k(k-1)}{2}}}{(n-k+1)\varrho - (n\varrho + k - 1)} = -\frac{k}{2}$$
(3.25)

because $c_0^{(k)} = 1$ and $c_1^{(k)} = 1 + 2 + \dots + (k-1) = \frac{k(k-1)}{2}$ and S(k-1,k-1) = 1, $S(k,k-1) = \frac{k(k-1)}{2}$.

Theorem 3.4.3. The dual functional $\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \in span\{f \to F_{n,j}^{\varrho}(f); j = 0, 1, ..., n\}$ defined on C[0, 1] satisfies

$$\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(p_{\varrho,i}^{(n)}) = \delta_{i,k}; \ i,k = 0, 1, ..., n_{k}$$

and is given by

$$\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} v^{\varrho}(j,k,n) F_{n,j}^{\varrho}(f); \ k = 0, 1, ..., n,$$
(3.26)

where the $(n + 1) \times (n + 1)$ matrix of coefficients $V := [v^{\varrho}(j,k,n)]_{j,k=0}^{n}$ is the inverse of $P := [F_{n,j}^{\varrho}(p_{\varrho,i}^{(n)})]_{i,j=0}^{n}$.

Proof. The biorthogonality condition $\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(p_{\varrho,i}^{(n)}) = \delta_{i,k}$ follows easily from (3.19) and (3.20). Using (3.26) it can be written as

$$\sum_{j=0}^{n} F_{n,j}^{\varrho}(p_{\varrho,i}^{(n)}) v^{\varrho}(j,k,n) = \delta_{i,k},$$

i.e., PV = I, and so $V = P^{-1}$.

Theorem 3.4.4. The eigenfunctions and the dual functionals satisfy the equations

$$p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(x) = (-1)^k p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(1-x), \ \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) = (-1)^k (f \circ R),$$
(3.27)

where R(x) = 1 - x is reflection about the point $\frac{1}{2}$. The eigenfunctions of degree ≥ 2 can be factored as follows:

$$p_{\varrho,2j}^{(n)}(x) = x(x-1)q(x-1/2),$$

$$p_{\varrho,2j+1}^{(n)}(x) = x(x-1/2)(x-1)q(x-1/2), \quad j = 1, 2,$$
(3.28)

In each case q is an even monic polynomial.

Proof. From (3.1) it follows that

$$U_n^{\varrho}(f \circ R) = (U_n^{\varrho}f) \circ R, \tag{3.29}$$

so that

$$U_{n}^{\varrho}(p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \circ R) = (U_{n}^{\varrho}p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}) \circ R = \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \circ R),$$

and $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \circ R$ is a $\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ - eigenfunction. For k = 0, 1 the property (3.27) of $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ is obvious, and for $k \ge 2$ the eigenfunction $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \circ R$ must be a scalar multiple of $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ (the eigenspace is 1- dimensional). By equating the coefficients of x^k yields

$$p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} = (-1)^k p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \circ R.$$

So $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ is even (odd) about the point 1/2 when *k* is even (odd). In particular, the zeros of $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ are symmetric about 1/2. Moreover, (3.29) implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f \circ R) &= \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} (p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \circ R) \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) \\ &= \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} (-1)^k p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f), \end{aligned}$$

and equating the coefficients of $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ in the preceding relation we get

$$\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) = (-1)^k \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f \circ R).$$

Taking j = k in (3.23) and using $S(m, 0) = 0, m \ge 1$, we obtain $c^{\varrho}(0, k, n) = 0, k \ge 2$. Thus, for $k \ge 2, x = 0$ is a zero of $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$, and by the symmetry property so is x = 1. Further, when k is odd the symmetry property of the zeros implies that x = 1/2must be a zero of $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$, which proves (3.28). This completes the proof.

3.4.2 Asymptotics of the eigenfunctions

We show that for each $\rho > 0$ and $k \ge 0$ the sequence $(p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})_{n\ge 1}$ is convergent.

Theorem 3.4.5. *For* $0 \le j \le k$ *,*

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}c^{\varrho}(j,k,n)=c^*(j,k),$$

where

$$c^{*}(0,1) = -\frac{1}{2}, c^{*}(j,k) := \prod_{i=1}^{k-j} \frac{(k+1-i)(k-i)}{i(i-2k+1)}, \quad (j,k) \neq (0,1).$$
(3.30)

This means that, $p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$ *converges uniformly on* [0,1] *to* $p_k^* \in \Pi_k$ *as* $n \to \infty$ *, where*

$$p_k^*(x) := \sum_{j=0}^k c^*(j,k) x^j = x^k - \frac{k}{2} x^{k-1} + \frac{k(k-1)(k-2)}{4(2k-3)} x^{k-2} - \dots$$

Proof. Noticing that $p_{\varrho,0}^{(n)}(x) = 1 = p_0^*(x), p_{\varrho,1}^{(n)}(x) = x - 1/2 = p_1^*(x)$, it is sufficient to prove the result for $k \ge 2$. This will be done using induction on j in order to prove that $\lim_{n\to\infty} c^{\varrho}(k-j,k,n)$ exists and is given by (3.30). Since $c^{\varrho}(k,k,n) = 1$, this result holds for j = 0. Suppose it is true for $\lim_{n\to\infty} c^{\varrho}(k-i,k,n), i = 0, ..., j - 1$, where $0 < j \le k$. Since for all j > 0,

$$\varrho^{k-j}[\varrho^{j}(n-k+1)^{\bar{j}} - (n\varrho+k-j)^{\bar{j}}] = -\varrho^{k-1}(\varrho+1)\frac{j(2k-j-1)}{2}n^{j-1} +$$

+lower order powers of *n*,

taking the limit as $n \to \infty$ on both sides of

$$c^{\varrho}(k-j,k,n) := \frac{(n\varrho)_k}{\varrho^{k-j}[\varrho^j(n-k+1)^{\overline{j}} - (n\varrho+k-j)^{\overline{j}}]} \times \sum_{i=0}^{j-1} \sum_{l=k-j}^{k-i} \frac{c^{\varrho}(k-i,k,n)}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k-i}}} c^{(k-i)}_{k-i-l} \varrho^l S(l,k-j)$$

and using the induction hypothesis gives

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} c^{\varrho}(k-j,k,n) = -\frac{\varrho^{k}}{\varrho^{k-1}(\varrho+1)\frac{j(2k-j-1)}{2}\varrho^{k-j+1}} \times [c^{*}(k-j+1,k)c_{1}^{(k-j+1)}\varrho^{k-j}S(k-j,k-j) + c^{*}(k-j+1,k)c_{0}^{(k-j+1)}\varrho^{k-j+1}S(k-j+1,k-j)].$$

But $c_0^{(k-j+1)} = 1, c_1^{(k-j+1)} = 1 + 2 + \dots + (k-j) = \frac{1}{2}(k-j)(k-j+1), S(k-j,k-j) = \frac{1}{2}(k-j)(k-j+1)$

1 and $S(k - j + 1, k - j) = {\binom{k-j+1}{2}} = \frac{1}{2}(k - j)(k - j + 1)$; so we get

$$\begin{split} \lim_{n \to \infty} c^{\varrho}(k-j,k,n) &= \frac{2\varrho}{(\varrho+1)\varrho^{k-j+1}j(j-2k+1)} \times \\ & \left[\frac{(k-j)(k-j+1)}{2}c^*(k-j+1,k)\varrho^{k-j} + \frac{(k-j)(k-j+1)}{2}c^*(k-j+1,k)\varrho^{k-j+1}\right] \\ &= \frac{2\varrho^{k-j}(\varrho+1)(k-j)(k-j+1)}{2\varrho^{k-j}(\varrho+1)j(j-2k+1)}c^*(k-j+1,k) \\ &= \frac{(k-j)(k-j+1)}{j(j-2k+1)}c^*(k-j+1,k) \\ &= \frac{(k-j)(k-j+1)}{j(j-2k+1)}\prod_{i=1}^{j-1}\frac{(k-i)(k-i+1)}{i(i-2k+1)} \\ &= \prod_{i=1}^{j}\frac{(k-i)(k-i+1)}{i(i-2k+1)}, \end{split}$$

which completes the induction.

3.4.3 The structure of the dual functionals

In the first part of this subsection we provide a recurrence relation for calculating the coefficients $v^{\varrho}(j,k,n)$ of the dual functional $\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}$, i.e.,

$$\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) = \sum_{j=0}^{n} v^{\varrho}(j,k,n) F_{n,j}^{\varrho}(f), k = 0, 1, ..., n.$$

Let $n \ge 1$ be fixed. For each $j \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$ there exists a unique polynomial $l_{q,j}^{(n)}$ of degree $\le n$ satisfying

$$F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}) = \delta_{i,j}.$$
(3.31)

Its coefficients can be determined from a system of linear equations with non-zero determinant. Indeed, consider the positive linear functionals $F_{n,i}^{\varrho}: C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, \ \varrho > 0$, and search the polynomials $l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} \in \Pi_n$ of the form $l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} = c_{j0}e_0 + c_{j1}e_1 + ... + c_{jn}e_n$ so that $F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}) = \delta_{i,j}$. For a fixed j we have $F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}) = c_{j0}F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(e_0) + c_{j1}F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(e_1) + ... + c_{jn}F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(e_n) = \delta_{i,j}$ which can be written as a system of linear equations:

$$\begin{cases} c_{j0}F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_{0}) + c_{j1}F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_{1}) + \dots + c_{jn}F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_{n}) = \delta_{0,j} \\ c_{j0}F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(e_{0}) + c_{j1}F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(e_{1}) + \dots + c_{jn}F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(e_{n}) = \delta_{1,j} \\ \dots \\ c_{j0}F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_{0}) + c_{j1}F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_{1}) + \dots + c_{jn}F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_{n}) = \delta_{n,j}. \end{cases}$$

We claim that

$$A := \begin{vmatrix} F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_0) & F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_1) & \dots & F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_n) \\ F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(e_0) & F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(e_1) & \dots & F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(e_n) \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_0) & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_1) & \dots & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_n) \end{vmatrix} \neq 0.$$

We have seen that $F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(e_m) = \frac{(i\varrho)^{\overline{m}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{m}}}$, so the determinant becomes

$$A = \begin{vmatrix} 1 & \frac{(0\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{1}}} & \frac{(0\varrho)^{\overline{2}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{2}}} & \dots & \frac{(0\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}} \\ 1 & \frac{(1\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{1}}} & \frac{(1\varrho)^{\overline{2}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{2}}} & \dots & \frac{(1\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ 1 & \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{1}}} & \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{2}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{2}}} & \dots & \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}} \end{vmatrix}$$

Elementary manipulations of the determinant yield that

$$A = \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{1}}(n\varrho)^{\overline{2}}...(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 \cdot \varrho & (0 \cdot \varrho)^2 & ... & (0 \cdot \varrho)^n \\ 1 & \varrho & (\varrho)^2 & ... & (\varrho)^n \\ ... & ... & ... & ... \\ 1 & n\varrho & (n\varrho)^2 & ... & (n\varrho)^n \end{vmatrix} = \frac{1}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{1}}(n\varrho)^{\overline{2}}...(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}} \prod_{0 \le i < j \le n} (j \cdot \varrho - i \cdot \varrho) \neq 0,$$

which means that $l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}$ is uniquely determined. We have by (3.1),

$$U_{n}^{\varrho}(l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}) p_{n,k}$$

and by (3.20) and (3.26),

$$U_n^{\varrho}(l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}) = \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \sum_{i=0}^n v^{\varrho}(i,k,n) F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(l_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}).$$

By using (3.31) and (3.24) we get successively

$$p_{n,j}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(x) v^{\varrho}(j,k,n), \quad j = 0, 1, ..., n_{\varrho,k}$$

$$\binom{n}{j} x^{j} (1-x)^{n-j} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \sum_{s=0}^{k} c^{\varrho}(s,k,n) x^{s} v^{\varrho}(j,k,n),$$

$$\binom{n}{j} x^{j} \sum_{i=0}^{n-j} (-1)^{i} \binom{n-j}{i} x^{i} = \sum_{s=0}^{n} \sum_{l=s}^{n} \lambda_{\varrho,l}^{(n)} c^{\varrho}(s,l,n) v^{\varrho}(j,l,n) x^{s}.$$

For i = n - j - k, equating the coefficients of x^{n-k} we get

$$(-1)^{n-j-k}\binom{n}{j}\binom{n-j}{k} = \sum_{l=n-k}^{n} \lambda_{\varrho,l}^{(n)} c^{\varrho}(n-k,l,n) v^{\varrho}(j,l,n).$$

Setting now s = n - l, we get

$$(-1)^{n-j-k}\binom{n}{j}\binom{n-j}{k} = \sum_{s=0}^{k-1} \lambda_{\varrho,n-s}^{(n)} v^{\varrho}(j,n-s,n) c^{\varrho}(n-k,n-s,n) + \lambda_{\varrho,n-k}^{(n)} v^{\varrho}(j,n-k,n).$$

For k = 0 this reduces to

$$v^{\varrho}(j,n,n) = (-1)^{n-j} \frac{(n\varrho)^n}{\varrho^n j! (n-j)!},$$
(3.32)

while for k = 1, ..., n we get

$$v^{\varrho}(j,n-k,n) = \frac{(-1)^{n-j-k}(n\varrho)^{\overline{n-k}}}{\varrho^{n-k}j!(n-j-k)!} - \sum_{s=0}^{k-1} \frac{k!}{s!} \varrho^{k-s} \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n-k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n-s}}} v^{\varrho}(j,n-s,n) c^{\varrho}(n-k,n-s,n).$$
(3.33)

Now (3.32) and (3.33) constitute the required recurrence.

In the sequel we shall study the limits of the dual functionals, acting on polynomials, as $n \to \infty$. Consider the linear functionals $\mu_k^* : C[0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$ defined by

$$\begin{split} \mu_0^*(f) &:= \frac{f(0) + f(1)}{2}, \quad \mu_1^*(f) := f(1) - f(0), \\ \mu_k^*(f) &:= \frac{1}{2} \binom{2k}{k} \left((-1)^k f(0) + f(1) - k \int_0^1 f(x) P_{k-2}^{(1,1)}(2x-1) dx \right), k \ge 2, \end{split}$$

where $(P_j^{(1,1)}(x))_{j\geq 0}$ are the Jacobi polynomials, orthogonal with respect to the weight (1-t)(1+t) on the interval [-1,1].

These functionals were introduced in [18], where it was proved that they are limits of the dual functionals in the setting of Bernstein operators. We shall obtain a similar result for the operators U_n^{ϱ} .

Theorem 3.4.6. Let $k \ge 0$ and $\varrho > 0$ be fixed. For every $f \in \Pi$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) = \mu_k^*(f).$$
(3.34)

Proof. First we prove that for each $j \ge 0$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_{\varrho, j}^{(n)}(f) = \mu_j^*(f), \ f \in \Pi_j.$$
(3.35)

So, let $f \in \Pi_j$. Because U_n^{ϱ} is degree reducing and $\lim_{n \to \infty} U_n^{\varrho} f = f$ (see [45], [46]), we have

$$U_n^{\varrho}f = \sum_{i=0}^j \lambda_{\varrho,i}^{(n)} p_{\varrho,i}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,i}^{(n)}(f) \to f = \sum_{i=0}^j p_i^* \mu_i^*(f), \ n \to \infty.$$

The last equality is a consequence of [18, (4.18)]. Since the above convergence takes place in the finite dimensional space Π_j , we may consider the coefficients of x^j in order to obtain

$$\lambda_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}\mu_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}(f) \to \mu_j^*(f).$$

Together with $\lambda_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} \to 1$, this leads to (3.35). We shall prove by induction on $r \ge 0$ that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) = \mu_k^*(f), \text{ for all } k \ge 0, \ f \in \Pi_{k+r},$$
(3.36)

and this will complete the proof of (3.34).

For r = 0, (3.36) is a consequence of (3.35). Suppose that (3.36) is also true for 1, ..., r - 1, and let $f \in \Pi_{k+r}$. As before, we have

$$U_n^{\varrho}f = \sum_{i=0}^{k+r} \lambda_{\varrho,i}^{(n)} p_{\varrho,i}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,i}^{(n)}(f) \to f = \sum_{i=0}^{k+r} p_i^* \mu_i^*(f).$$

By considering the coefficients of x^k as $n \to \infty$ we get

$$\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) + \sum_{i=1}^{r}\lambda_{\varrho,k+i}^{(n)}c^{\varrho}(k,k+i,n)\mu_{\varrho,k+i}^{(n)}(f) \to \mu_{k}^{*}(f) + \sum_{i=1}^{r}c^{*}(k,k+i)\mu_{k+i}^{*}(f).$$
(3.37)

We know that for all i = 1, ..., r,

$$\lambda_{\varrho,k+i}^{(n)} \to 1, c^{\varrho}(k,k+i,n) \to c^*(k,k+i).$$

By the induction hypothesis, $\mu_{\varrho,k+i}^{(n)}(f) \rightarrow \mu_{k+i}^*(f)$, i = 1, ..., r. Now (3.37) implies

$$\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) \to \mu_k^*(f),$$

and so $\mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) \to \mu_k^*(f)$. This concludes the induction.

Remark 3.4.7. For $\varrho \to \infty$, each result of this section has a corresponding one in [18], concerning the Bernstein operators B_n .

For $\rho = 1$ we cover some results concerning the eigenstructure of the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators, scattered in the literature; see, e.g., [31], [39], [40] and the references therein.

3.5 Variation diminution

In Chapter 2 we have proved that all the operators that belong to the BEJ classes have this property. In particular, for B_n and U_n the proof can be found in [88] and [30], respectively.

In what follows we present the detailed proof for U_n^{ϱ} .

Theorem 3.5.1. The operators U_n^{ϱ} have the (strong) variation-diminishing property, that *is*,

$$S_{[0,1]}[U_n^{\varrho}f] \leq S_{[0,1]}[f]$$
 for all $f \in C[0,1]$.

Proof. We use the fact that $U_n^{\varrho} = B_n(\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1})$ and that the Bernstein operators B_n are (strongly) variation–diminishing. Thus we have

$$S_{[0,1]}[U_n^{\varrho}f] \le S_{[0,1]}[\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}f] = S_{[0,1]}\left[\left[\int_0^1 t^{n\varrho x-1}(1-t)^{n\varrho-n\varrho x-1}f(t)\,dt\right].$$

Substituting $\left(\frac{t}{1-t}\right)^{n\varrho} = u$ the above integral becomes

$$\frac{1}{n\varrho}\int_0^\infty u^x \cdot \frac{u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}-2}}{(u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}}+1)^{n\varrho}} \cdot f\left(\frac{u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}}}{u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}}+1}\right) \, du$$

Obviously, the number of sign changes of $f(t), t \in [0, 1]$ equals the number of sign changes of the function $g(u) = f\left(\frac{u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}}}{u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}}+1}\right), u \in [0, \infty)$. Applying Theorem 1.1.31 for the functional $A(g) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} g(u) du$ with $w(u) = \frac{u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}-2}}{u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}-2}}$ we get that the

for the functional $A(g) = \int_0^\infty g(u) \, du$ with $w(u) = \frac{u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}-2}}{(u^{\frac{1}{n\varrho}}+1)^{n\varrho}}$ we get that the operators U_n^{ϱ} have the (strong) variation–diminishing property on C[0,1].

Remark 3.5.2. As degree $U_n^{\varrho}e_i = i$, i = 0, 1, ..., n (with $e_i(x) = x^i$, see [45, Lemma 3.5]) and U_n^{ϱ} have the (strong) variation-diminishing property, it follows from [29, Theorem 7] that U_n^{ϱ} , $n \in \mathbb{N}$, preserve the convexity of order *i*, for i = 0, 1, ..., n (*i.e.*, $U_n^{\varrho}f$ is convex of order *i*, provided that *f* is convex of order *i*). This preservation of convexity by U_n^{ϱ} was proved first by H. Gonska and R. Păltănea (see [45, Theorem 4.1], where also more details about the terminology and historical references can be found) and also at the end of Section 3.1, both using different methods.

3.6 Global smoothness preservation

Over the last decades there has been considerable interest in the preservation of global smoothness in various contexts. This intensive research culminated in the book by G. Anastassiou and S. Gal [8].

The results in this section generalize the corresponding statements available in the literature for both Bernstein (see [19]) and genuine Bernstein–Durrmeyer operators (see [55, S.3.3.2]) and they supplement results on the behavior of the operators U_n^{ϱ} with respect to Lipschitz classes very recently given in [85].

To that end, we use first the following result given earlier by C. Cottin and H. Gonska [19, Theorem 2.2].

Lemma 3.6.1. Let $k \ge 0$ and $s \ge 1$ be integers, and let I = [a, b] and $I' = [c, d] \subset [a, b]$ be compact intervals with non-empty interior. Furthermore, let $L : C^k(I) \to C^k(I')$ be a linear operator having the following properties:

- (i) L is convex of orders k 1 and k + s 1,
- (ii) L maps $C^{k+s}(I)$ into $C^{k+s}(I')$,
- (iii) $L(\Pi_{k-1}) \subseteq \Pi_{k-1}$ and $L(\Pi_{k+s-1}) \subseteq \Pi_{k+s-1}$
- (iv) $L(C^k(I)) \not\subset \Pi_{k-1}$

Then for all $f \in C^k(I)$ and all $\delta \ge 0$ we have

$$K_{s}(D^{k}Lf;\delta)_{I'} \leq \frac{1}{k!} ||D^{k}Le_{k}|| \cdot K_{s}\left(f^{(k)};\frac{1}{(k+s)^{\underline{s}}}\frac{||D^{k+s}Le_{k+s}||}{||D^{k}Le_{k}||}\delta\right).$$
(3.38)

First we provide the corresponding quantitative statement regarding the smoothing effect of the operators U_n^{ϱ} .
Theorem 3.6.2. Let $k \ge 0$ and $s \ge 1$ be fixed integers. Then for all $n \ge k + s$, all $f \in C^k[0,1]$ and all $\delta \ge 0$ the following inequality holds

$$K_{s}(D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}f;\delta)_{[0,1]} \leq \varrho^{k} \frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}} K_{s}\left(f^{(k)};\varrho^{s} \frac{(n-k)^{\underline{s}}(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k+s}}}\delta\right)_{[0,1]}.$$
(3.39)

Proof. We verify each statement of Lemma 3.6.1.

i) According to [45, Theorem 4.1]: The operators $U_n^{\varrho}, \varrho > 0, n \ge 1$, are convex of order r - 1 for all $0 \le r \le n$.

ii) U_n^{ϱ} is a polynomial operator so the general assumption and condition (ii) is satisfied.

iii) According to [45, Corollary 4.2]: $U_n^{\varrho}(\Pi_{k-1}) \subseteq \Pi_{k-1}$ for $\varrho > 0, 0 \le k \le n$. iv) Consider the *k*-th monomial $e_k \in C^k[0, 1]$. From the assumption that $n \ge k + s$ it follows that $U_n^{\varrho}e_k \in \Pi_k \setminus \Pi_{k-1}$, so that condition (iv) is also verified.

The images of the monomials under U_n^{ϱ} can be written in the form given in (3.13). Since (see [33, p.429])

$$D^l B_n e_l = \frac{n^{\underline{l}}}{n^l} l!$$

then

$$D^m U_n^{\varrho} e_m = m! \varrho^m \frac{n^m}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{m}}}, \quad m \in \{k, k+s\}.$$

Plugging these expressions into inequality (3.38) we get (3.39).

We now consider two special cases of $s \ge 1$ which are of particular interest. The first is the case s = 1 leading to

Proposition 3.6.3. Let $k \ge 0$ be a fixed integer. Then for all $n \ge k + 1$, $f \in C^k[0,1]$ and $\delta \ge 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} \omega_1(D^k U_n^{\varrho} f; \delta) &\leq \varrho^k \frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}} \widetilde{\omega}_1\left(f^{(k)}; \frac{\varrho(n-k)}{n\varrho+k}\delta\right) \\ &\leq 1 \cdot \widetilde{\omega}_1(f^{(k)}; \delta) \leq 2 \cdot \omega_1(f^{(k)}; \delta). \end{split}$$

where $\widetilde{\omega}_1(f, \cdot)$ denotes the least concave majorant of $\omega_1(f, \cdot)$ and is given by

$$\widetilde{\omega}_1(f,t) := \begin{cases} \sup_{\substack{0 \le x \le t \le y \le 1 \\ x \ne y \\ \omega_1(f,t), \end{cases}}} \frac{(t-x)\omega_1(f,y) + (y-t)\omega_1(f;x)}{y-x}, & \text{for } 0 \le t \le 1, \end{cases}$$

The leftmost inequality is best possible in the sense that for e_{k+1} *both sides are equal and do not vanish.*

Proof. Theorem 3.6.2 gives in this particular case

$$K_1(D^k U_n^{\varrho} f; \delta)_{[0,1]} \leq \varrho^k \frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}} K_1\left(f^{(k)}; \frac{\varrho(n-k)}{(n\varrho+k)}\delta\right)_{[0,1]}$$

For the *K*-functional K_1 it is known from Brudnyĭ's representation theorem (see, e.g. [70, p.1258]) that $K_1(f, \delta) = \frac{1}{2}\tilde{\omega}_1(f, 2\delta)$. Using this representation on both sides of

	-	
	_	_

the inequality involving K_1 and (1.3) leads to our first assertion.

Furthermore, for the function $e_{k+1}(x) = x^{k+1}$ it can be easily verified by using the property $\omega(c \cdot e_1 + d \cdot e_0 : \delta) = |c| \cdot \delta$, $c, d \in \mathbb{R}$ (the same for $\tilde{\omega}_1$). Thus, for $n \ge k+1$ and $\delta > 0$, both sides in the leftmost inequality above equal

$$(k+1)! \cdot \varrho^k \frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}} \cdot \frac{\varrho(n-k)}{n\varrho+k} \cdot \delta > 0.$$

Thus it follows

Corollary 3.6.4. For a fixed integer $k \ge 0$ the following assertion holds for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If $f^{(k)} \in Lip_M(\tau; [0,1])$ for some $M \ge 0$ and some $0 < \tau \le 1$, then $D^k U_n^{\varrho} f$ is in the same Lipschitz class.

The second case we discuss in more detail is s = 2. Here we get

Proposition 3.6.5. Let $k \ge 0$ be a fixed integer. Then for all $n \ge k + 2$, $f \in C^k[0,1]$ and $\delta \ge 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} \omega_2(D^k U_n^{\varrho} f; \delta) &\leq 3 \cdot \varrho^k \frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}} \left[1 + \varrho^2 \frac{(n-k)(n-k-1)}{2(n\varrho+k)(n\varrho+k+1)} \right] \omega_2\left(f^{(k)}; \delta\right) \\ &\leq \frac{9}{2} \omega_2(f^{(k)}; \delta). \end{split}$$

Proof. From Theorem 3.6.2 with s = 2 we arrive at

$$\begin{split} K_2(D^k U_n^{\varrho} f; \delta)_{[0,1]} &\leq \varrho^k \frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}} K_2\left(f^{(k)}; \varrho^2 \frac{(n-k)(n-k-1)}{(n\varrho+k)(n\varrho+k+1)}\delta\right)_{[0,1]} \\ &\leq K_2(f^{(k)}; \delta)_{[0,1]}. \end{split}$$

In our further argumentation we shall employ Žuk's function $Z_h f$ defined in Section 1.1.3. Thus we avoid using the statement of Theorem 3.6.2 and the equivalence between the *K*-functional and the modulus ω_2 , which would deteriorate the constants. First recall the identity

$$K_2(f;\delta) = K(f;\delta;C[0,1],C^2[0,1]) = K(f;\delta;C[0,1],W_{2,\infty}[0,1]).$$

Let now $f \in C^k[0,1]$, $0 < \delta < \frac{1}{2}$ be arbitrary given, and let $|h| \le \delta$. Then for a typical difference figuring in the definition of $\omega_2(D^k U_n^{\varrho} f; \delta)$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} |D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}f(x-h) - 2D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}f(x) + D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}f(x+h)| &= \\ |\{D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(f-g;x-h) - 2D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(f-g;x) + D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(f-g;x+h)\} + \\ \{D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(g;x-h) - 2D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(g;x) + D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(g;x+h)\}| \end{aligned}$$

where $g \in C^{k}[0, 1]$ with $g^{(k)} \in W_{2,\infty}[0, 1]$ arbitrarily chosen. The absolute value of the first term in braces can be estimated from above by

$$4||D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(f-g)||_{\infty} \leq 4\varrho^{k}\frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}}||(f-g)^{(k)}||_{\infty}.$$

For the modulus of the second expression in braces we have

$$\begin{aligned} |D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(g;x-h) - 2D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(g;x) + D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}(g;x+h)| \\ &= |D^{k+2}U_{n}^{\varrho}(g;\xi)| \cdot h^{2} \text{ (for some } \xi \text{ between } x-h \text{ and } x+h) \\ &\leq |D^{k+2}U_{n}^{\varrho}g| \cdot h^{2} \leq \varrho^{k+2} \frac{n^{k+2}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k+2}}} \cdot h^{2} \cdot ||g^{(k+2)}||_{L_{\infty}}. \end{aligned}$$

We substitute now the function $g^{(k)} \in W_{2,\infty}[0,1]$ by Žuk's function $Z_h(f^{(k)})$, yielding

$$||(f-g)^{(k)}|| = ||f^{(k)} - Z_h(f)|| \le \frac{3}{4} \cdot \omega_2(f^{(k)};h)$$

and

$$||g^{(k+2)}||_{L_{\infty}} = ||Z_{h}''(f)||_{L_{\infty}} \le \frac{3}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{h^{2}} \cdot \omega_{2}(f^{(k)};h)$$

Combining these estimates and taking into account the preceding steps we obtain

$$\begin{split} \omega_{2}(D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}f;\delta) &\leq 4 \cdot \frac{3}{4}\varrho^{k} \frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}} \omega_{2}(f^{(k)};\delta) + \frac{3}{2} \cdot \varrho^{k+2} \frac{n^{\underline{k+2}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k+2}}} \cdot \omega_{2}(f^{(k)};h) \\ &= 3 \cdot \varrho^{k} \frac{n^{\underline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{k}}} \left[1 + \varrho^{2} \frac{(n-k)(n-k-1)}{2(n\varrho+k)(n\varrho+k+1)} \right] \omega_{2} \left(f^{(k)};\delta \right) \\ &\leq \frac{9}{2} \omega_{2}(f^{(k)};\delta). \end{split}$$

г		٦
L		
L		
-		

Defining Lipschitz classes with respect to the second order modulus by

$$\operatorname{Lip}_{M}^{*}(\tau, [0, 1]) := \left\{ f \in C[0, 1] : \omega_{2}(f; \delta) \leq M \cdot \delta^{\tau}, \ 0 \leq \delta \leq \frac{1}{2} \right\}, \ 0 < \tau \leq 2,$$

we get

Corollary 3.6.6. For a fixed integer $k \ge 0$ the following assertion holds for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. If $f^{(k)} \in Lip_M^*(\tau; [0, 1])$ for some $M \ge 0$ and some $0 < \tau \le 2$, then

$$D^{k}U_{n}^{\varrho}f \in Lip_{4.5M}^{*}(\tau; [0, 1]).$$

3.7 Strong Voronovskaya-type inequality

In the attempt to prove a strong converse inequality of type B, as defined by Z. Ditzian and K.G. Ivanov in [22] we came across the following strong Voronovskaya-type inequality which is of interest by itself. The reason why we call this inequality "strong" is that in addition to the convergence of $U_n^{\varrho}f - f$ towards $\frac{(\varrho+1)}{2(n\varrho+1)}\varphi^2 f''$ it also expresses the degree of approximation depending on the smoothness properties of the function.

Theorem 3.7.1. *For* $f \in C^3[0, 1], 1$ *and* $<math>U_n^{\varrho}$ *given by* (3.1)*, we have*

$$\left\| \left| U_n^{\varrho} f - f - \frac{(\varrho+1)}{2(n\varrho+1)} \varphi^2 f'' \right| \right|_p \le C(p) C(\varrho) \left\{ \frac{||\varphi^3 f'''||_p}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}} + \frac{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}{(n\varrho+1)^4} ||f'''||_p \right\}$$
(3.40)

where $\varphi(x) = \sqrt{x(1-x)}$ and $C(\varrho) = \varrho^2 d_{\varrho} + \varrho(\varrho+1)\sqrt{c_{\varrho}}$ with $c_{\varrho} = \frac{5\varrho^2 + 13\varrho + 12}{\varrho^2}$, $d_{\varrho} = 6 + \frac{(\varrho+1)(\varrho+2)}{\varrho^2}$.

Proof. We expand f(t) by the Taylor formula

$$f(t) = f(x) + f'(x)(t-x) + \frac{1}{2}f''(x)(t-x)^2 + \frac{1}{2}\int_x^t (t-v)^2 f'''(v)dv.$$
(3.41)

Taking into account that

$$U_n^{\varrho}(t-x;x) = 0$$
 and $U_n^{\varrho}((t-x)^2;x) = \frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}\varphi^2(x)$

we get from (3.41)

$$U_n^{\varrho}f - f - \frac{(\varrho+1)}{2(n\varrho+1)}\varphi^2 f'' = \frac{1}{2}U_n^{\varrho}\left(\int_x^t (t-v)^2 f'''(v)dv;x\right) := I_n(f;x).$$

We define $\varphi_n(x) = \max\left\{\varphi(x), E := \sqrt{\frac{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}{(n\varrho+1)^2}}\right\}$ and observe that, for *v* between *t* and *x*,

$$\frac{|t-v|}{\varphi_n^2(v)} \le \frac{|t-v|}{\varphi^2(v)} \le \frac{|t-x|}{\varphi^2(x)} \text{ and } \frac{|t-v|}{\varphi_n^2(v)} \le \frac{|t-x|}{E^2}$$

and hence

$$\frac{|t-v|}{\varphi_n^2(v)} \le \frac{|t-x|}{\varphi_n^2(x)}.$$

Therefore,

$$|I_n(f;x)| = \left| \frac{1}{2} U_n^{\varrho} \left(\int_x^t (t-v)^2 f'''(v) dv; x \right) \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \frac{1}{2} U_n^{\varrho} \left(\left| \int_x^t (t-v)^2 f'''(v) dv \right|; x \right) \right|$$

Using inequality (9.6.1) in [23],

$$|I_n(f;x)| \leq U_n^{\varrho}\left(\frac{|t-x|^3}{\varphi_n^3(x)}\left|\frac{1}{t-x}\int\limits_x^t |\varphi_n^3(v)f^{\prime\prime\prime}(v)|dv\right|;x\right).$$

We write $g(v) := |\varphi_n^3(v)f'''(v)|$ and $M(g, x) := \sup_{0 \le t \le 1} \left| \frac{1}{t - x} \int_x^t g(v) dv \right|$ (see e.g. [98, Chapter 2]).

$$|I_n(f;x)| \le U_n^{\varrho} \left(\frac{|t-x|^3}{\varphi_n^3(x)} M(g,x); x \right) = \frac{M(g,x)}{\varphi_n^3(x)} U_n^{\varrho} (|t-x|^3;x).$$
(3.42)

To evaluate the expression $\frac{U_n^\varrho(|t-x|^3;x)}{\varphi_n^3(x)}$ we split the interval [0,1] as suggested in the proof of Theorem 4.2 in [46]. Thus we have

(i) for
$$x \in \left[0, \frac{\varrho}{n\varrho+1}\right] \cup \left[1 - \frac{\varrho}{n\varrho+1}, 1\right] \Leftrightarrow \varphi_n(x) = E \ge \varphi(x),$$

$$\frac{U_n^{\varrho}(|t-x|^3; x)}{\varphi_n^3(x)} \le \frac{\varrho^2 d_{\varrho}}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}}.$$
(ii) for $x \in \left[\frac{\varrho}{n\varrho+1}, 1 - \frac{\varrho}{n\varrho+1}\right] \Leftrightarrow \varphi_n(x) = \varphi(x) \ge E,$

$$\frac{U_n^{\varrho}(|t-x|^3; x)}{\varphi_n^3(x)} \le \frac{(\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho c_{\varrho}}}{(n\varrho+1)^{3/2}}.$$

In general

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{U_n^{\varrho}(|t-x|^3;x)}{\varphi_n^3(x)} &\leq \frac{\varrho^2 d_{\varrho}}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}} + \frac{\varrho(\varrho+1)\sqrt{c_{\varrho}}}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho(n\varrho+1)}} \\ &\leq \frac{\varrho^2 d_{\varrho} + \varrho(\varrho+1)\sqrt{c_{\varrho}}}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}} = \frac{C(\varrho)}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}}.\end{aligned}$$

Returning to (3.42) we can write

$$|I_n(f;x)| \leq \frac{C(\varrho)}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}}M(g,x).$$

We now recall an inequality about maximal functions given in [98, Theorem 1 (c)]

$$||M(g, \cdot)||_p \le C(p)||g||_p$$
, for $1 .$

Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} ||I_n(f;x)||_p &\leq C(p) \frac{C(\varrho)}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}} ||\varphi_n^3 f'''||_p \\ &\leq C(p)C(\varrho) \left\{ \frac{||\varphi^3 f'''||_p}{(n\varrho+1)\sqrt{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}} + \frac{\varrho[(n-1)\varrho+1]}{(n\varrho+1)^4} ||f'''||_p \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Remark 3.7.2. For the particular case $\rho \to \infty$, namely for the Bernstein operator (3.40) becomes:

$$\left| \left| B_n f - f - \frac{1}{2n} \varphi^2 f'' \right| \right|_p \le C(p)(7 + \sqrt{5}) \left\{ \frac{1}{n\sqrt{n-1}} ||\varphi^3 f'''||_p + \frac{n-1}{n^4} ||f'''||_p \right\}.$$

A similar result was proved by Ditzian and Ivanov in [22, Lemma 8.3], namely:

$$\left| \left| B_n f - f - \frac{1}{2n} \varphi^2 f'' \right| \right|_{\infty} \le n^{-3/2} ||\varphi^3 f'''||_{\infty}.$$

If we compare the two inequalities we notice that what we gained through generality we lost in precision, but still we can see that in both cases the order of approximation is the same: $O(n^{-3/2})$.

Remark 3.7.3. For the particular case $\rho = 1$, namely for the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operator (3.40) becomes:

$$\left| \left| U_n f - f - \frac{1}{n+1} \varphi^2 f'' \right| \right|_p \le C(p) (12 + 2\sqrt{30}) \left\{ \frac{1}{(n+1)\sqrt{n}} ||\varphi^3 f'''||_p + \frac{n}{(n+1)^4} ||f'''||_p \right\}.$$

We have not found a similar inequality to compare this with. The closest we got is a result of Parvanov and Popov [72]

$$\left|\left|U_nf-f-\frac{1}{n}\varphi^2f''\right|\right|_{\infty}\leq \frac{1}{2n^2}||\varphi^2(\varphi^2f'')''||_{\infty}.$$

We notice that in this case the function must admit a derivative of order four.

3.8 Approximation by powers of U_n^{ϱ}

3.8.1 Upper and lower inequalities

The operators U_n^{ϱ} are of the form given in [56] for certain general positive linear operators preserving linear functions, so that we can apply the general results provided there for iterates of such operators. We have namely

$$U_n^{\varrho}(e_2;x) = \left(1 - \frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}\right)x^2 + \frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}x,$$

Hence an application of Theorem 6 as well as of Corollaries 7, 8 and 10 in [56] (with the coefficient of x^2 in the above $a_n = 1 - \frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}$) yields the following statements.

Corollary 3.8.1. Let $\varphi(x) = \sqrt{x(1-x)}$ and let $\Phi : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a function such that Φ^2 is concave. Then for $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$, $f \in C[0,1]$ and $x \in [0,1]$ the following pointwise estimate holds for the iterates of U_n^{ϱ}

$$|[U_n^{\varrho}]^k(f;x) - f(x)| \le 2 \cdot K_2^{\Phi}\left(f; \frac{\varphi^2(x)}{\Phi^2(x)} \cdot \frac{1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k}{2}\right)$$

Corollary 3.8.2. Let $\Phi : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be an admissible step–weight function of the Ditzian– Totik modulus and such that Φ^2 is concave. Then for all $n, k \in \mathbb{N}$, $f \in C[0,1]$ and $x \in [0,1]$, we have

$$|[U_n^{\varrho}]^k(f;x) - f(x)| \le c \cdot \omega_2^{\Phi}\left(f; \frac{\varphi(x)}{\Phi(x)} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1})^k}{2}}\right),$$

where the constant *c* depends only on the function Φ . In particular, for $\Phi = \varphi^{\lambda}$, $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, $x \in [0, 1]$ we get

$$|[U_n^{\varrho}]^k(f;x) - f(x)| \le c \cdot \omega_2^{\varphi^{\lambda}} \left(f; \varphi^{1-\lambda}(x) \cdot \sqrt{\frac{1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k}{2}} \right).$$

In terms of the classical modulus of smoothness we have

Corollary 3.8.3. For all $f \in C[0,1]$, $n,k \in \mathbb{N}$, $x \in [0,1]$, and each h > 0 we have the following pointwise estimate

$$|[U_n^{\varrho}]^k(f;x) - f(x)| \le \left[1 + \frac{1}{2h^2} \cdot \left(1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k\right) \cdot x(1 - x)\right] \cdot \omega_2(f;h).$$

Taking, in particular, $h = \sqrt{\left(1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1})^k\right) \cdot x(1-x)}$, and $h = \sqrt{1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1})^k}$, yields

$$\begin{split} |[U_n^{\varrho}]^k(f;x) - f(x)| &\leq \frac{3}{2} \cdot \omega_2 \left(f; \sqrt{\left(1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k\right) \cdot x(1 - x)} \right), \text{ and} \\ \|[U_n^{\varrho}]^k f - f\| &\leq \frac{9}{8} \cdot \omega_2 \left(f; \sqrt{1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k} \right), \end{split}$$

respectively.

Furthermore, in terms of the second order Ditzian-Totik modulus we get

Corollary 3.8.4. For all $f \in C[0,1]$, $n,k \in \mathbb{N}$, and $h \in (0,\frac{1}{2}]$ there holds the uniform *estimate*

$$\|[U_n^{\varrho}]^k f - f\| \leq \left[1 + \frac{3}{2h^2} \cdot \left(1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k\right)\right] \cdot \omega_2^{\varphi}(f;h).$$

For the particular choice $h = \sqrt{1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k}$, this gives

$$\|[U_n^{\varrho}]^k f - f\| \leq \frac{5}{2} \cdot \omega_2^{\varphi} \left(f; \sqrt{1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k}\right).$$

Remark 3.8.5. Note that for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, and $0 < \varrho < \infty$, one has $0 \le 1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1} < 1$ and $1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1} \rightarrow 1$, for $n \rightarrow \infty$, so, for k fixed the results in the above imply uniform

convergence as $n \to \infty$. For n fixed and $k \to \infty$ one has $[U_n^{\varrho}]^k \to B_1 f$ (see [46]).

Applying the general results given above for k = 1 (no iterates) we get the following direct estimates, which supplement the corresponding results given by R. Păltănea [75, Theorem 2.3].

Corollary 3.8.6. Let $\varphi(x) = \sqrt{x(1-x)}$ and let $\Phi : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ be an admissible stepweight function of the Ditzian–Totik modulus such that Φ^2 is concave. Then for $f \in C[0,1]$ and $x \in [0,1]$ the following estimates hold for U_n^{ϱ} :

$$|U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)| \le 2 \cdot K_2^{\Phi}\left(f; \frac{\varphi^2(x)}{\Phi^2(x)} \cdot \frac{\varrho+1}{2(n\varrho+1)}\right)$$

and

$$|U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)| \le c \cdot \omega_2^{\Phi}\left(f; \frac{\varphi(x)}{\Phi(x)} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+1}{2(n\varrho+1)}}\right),$$

where the constant *c* depends only on the function Φ . In particular, for $\Phi = \varphi^{\lambda}$, $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, $x \in [0, 1]$ we get

$$|U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)| \le c \cdot \omega_2^{\varphi^{\lambda}} \left(f; \varphi^{1-\lambda}(x) \cdot \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+1}{2(n\varrho+1)}}\right).$$

Furthermore, in terms of the second order Ditzian–Totik modulus with $h = \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}}$ *respectively* $h = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n\varrho+1}}$ *, one has the uniform estimates*

$$\begin{aligned} ||U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)|| &\leq \frac{5}{2} \cdot \omega_2^{\varphi^{\lambda}} \left(f; \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}} \right), \\ ||U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)|| &\leq \frac{5+3\varrho}{2} \cdot \omega_2^{\varphi^{\lambda}} \left(f; \sqrt{\frac{1}{n\varrho+1}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

In terms of the classical modulus of smoothness we get for the particular choices $h = \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}x(1-x)}$ respectively $h = \sqrt{\frac{x(1-x)}{n\varrho+1}}$ the local estimates

$$\begin{aligned} |U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)| &\leq \frac{3}{2} \cdot \omega_2 \left(f; \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}x(1-x)} \right), \\ |U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)| &\leq \frac{3+\varrho}{2} \cdot \omega_2 \left(f; \sqrt{\frac{x(1-x)}{n\varrho+1}} \right), \end{aligned}$$

and for $h = \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}}$ respectively $h = \sqrt{\frac{1}{n\varrho+1}}$ the global estimates

$$|U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)| \le \frac{9}{8} \cdot \omega_2\left(f; \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}}\right),\tag{3.43}$$

$$|U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)| \le \frac{9+\varrho}{8} \cdot \omega_2\left(f;\sqrt{\frac{1}{n\varrho+1}}\right).$$
(3.44)

Remark 3.8.7. The reason we choose two different representations for h is that one case is better suited for the instance when $\varrho \to \infty$, and the other for small values of ϱ . However these are not the only choices available. One can manipulate h in order to get the best possible estimate.

Concerning the magnitude of the constants appearing in inequalities like (3.44), we show

Theorem 3.8.8. *The best possible constant c in the uniform estimate*

$$|U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x)| \le c \cdot \omega_2\left(f;\sqrt{\frac{1}{n\varrho+1}}\right).$$
(3.45)

cannot be smaller than 1 *for* $1 \le \rho < \infty$ *.*

Proof. Recall that for convex functions $f \in C[0,1]$ one has $U_n^{\varrho} \ge f$ and $B_n f \ge f$. Moreover, according to Lemma 3.1.2, it holds $U_n^{\varrho} f \ge B_n f$, thus

$$0 \le B_n f(x) - f(x) \le U_n^{\varrho} f(x) - f(x), \ x \in [0, 1],$$

implying

$$|B_nf - f|| \le ||U_n^{\varrho}f - f||$$

Let now *n* and ϱ be fixed, $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{n\varrho}$, and consider the convex function

$$f_{\varepsilon}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & 0 \le x \le 1 - \varepsilon, \\ \frac{1}{\varepsilon}x + 1 - \frac{1}{\varepsilon}, & 1 - \varepsilon < x \le \varepsilon. \end{cases}$$

We have

$$B_n f_{\varepsilon}(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} p_{n,k}(x) f_{\varepsilon}\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) + x^n \cdot f_{\varepsilon}(1) = x^n,$$

thus

$$||B_n f_{\varepsilon} - f_{\varepsilon}|| = \max_{x \in [0,1]} (B_n f_{\varepsilon}(x) - f_{\varepsilon}(x)) = B_n f_{\varepsilon}(1-\varepsilon) - f_{\varepsilon}(1-\varepsilon) = (1-\varepsilon)^n.$$

Next we compute

$$\omega_2\left(f_{\varepsilon};\frac{1}{\sqrt{n\varrho+1}}\right) = \sup_{\substack{|h| \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{n\varrho+1}}\\x \pm h \in [0,1]}} |f_{\varepsilon}(x-h) - 2f_{\varepsilon}(x) + f_{\varepsilon}(x+h)| = f_{\varepsilon}(1) = 1,$$

since the largest possible value for the second order difference is obtained for $x = 1 - \varepsilon, h = \varepsilon \left(< \frac{1}{n\varrho} \le \frac{1}{\sqrt{n\varrho+1}} \right)$. Hence, there holds

$$\frac{||B_n f_{\varepsilon} - f_{\varepsilon}||}{\omega_2 \left(f_{\varepsilon}; \frac{1}{\sqrt{n\varrho + 1}}\right)} \le (1 - \varepsilon)^n.$$

Assume that there exists a constant *a* such that

$$\frac{||B_n f_{\varepsilon} - f_{\varepsilon}||}{\omega_2 \left(f_{\varepsilon}; \frac{1}{\sqrt{n\varrho + 1}}\right)} \le a < 1$$

This gives $(1 - \varepsilon)^n \le a < 1$. With *n* fixed, we let $\varepsilon \to 0$, and obtain a contradiction $(\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} (1 - \varepsilon)^n < 1)$. Thus

$$\|B_n f_{\varepsilon} - f_{\varepsilon}\| \le c_1 \cdot \omega_2 \left(f_{\varepsilon}; \sqrt{\frac{1}{n\varrho+1}}\right) \text{ with } c_1 \ge 1.$$

Since

$$||B_n f_{\varepsilon} - f_{\varepsilon}|| \leq ||U_n^{\varrho} f_{\varepsilon} - f_{\varepsilon}||,$$

it follows that

$$||U_n^{\varrho}f_{\varepsilon} - f_{\varepsilon}|| \le c \cdot \omega_2\left(f_{\varepsilon}; \sqrt{\frac{1}{n\varrho+1}}\right), \text{ with } c \ge 1,$$

so for the best constant in (3.45) it also holds $c \ge 1$.

We apply now the results of Corollaries 13 – 16 in [56] for iterates of U_n^{ϱ} . This shows that lower inequalities in terms of the classical moduli, corresponding to the upper ones in the above, are not possible. More precisely, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ fixed, we have

Corollary 3.8.9. Lower inequalities of the form

$$C(f)\omega_{2}\left(f;\sqrt{1-(1-\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1})^{k}}\right) \leq \|[U_{n}^{\varrho}]^{k}(f)-f\| \text{ for all } f \in C[0,1]$$

do not hold.

Corollary 3.8.10. The lower pointwise estimates

$$C(f)\omega_2\left(f;\sqrt{\left(1-(1-\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1})^k\right)x(1-x)}\right) \le |[U_n^{\varrho}]^k(f;x)-f(x)| \text{ for } f \in C[0,1]$$

do not hold.

Corollary 3.8.11. Let $0 < \lambda \leq 1$ be fixed. The lower pointwise estimates

$$C(f)\omega_2\left(f;\varphi^{1-\lambda}(x)\sqrt{\frac{1-(1-\frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1})^k}{2}}\right) \le |[U_n^{\varrho}]^k(f;x) - f(x)|, \ f \in C[0,1],$$

do not hold.

Moreover, we have

Corollary 3.8.12. For $l \ge 3$ it is not possible to have an inequality of the type

$$C(f) \cdot \omega_l \left(f; \sqrt[l]{1 - (1 - \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1})^k} \right) \leq \| [U_n^{\varrho}]^k(f) - f \|$$

for all $f \in C[0,1]$ *and all* $n \in \mathbb{N}$ *.*

3.8.2 Applications using the eigenstructure

By Theorem 3.4.2,

$$(U_n^{\varrho})^i f = \sum_{k=0}^n (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^i p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f), \quad f \in C[0,1], \ i = 1, 2, \dots$$
(3.46)

The linear function $B_1(f; x) = f(0)(1 - x) + f(1)x$ is the uniform limit of the overiterated operator images $(U_n^{\varrho})^i f$, as $i \to \infty$ according to [46, Remark 3.2]. More generally we have

Corollary 3.8.13. Suppose $(g_j)_{j\geq 1}$ is a sequence of polynomials with $g_j(0) = 0$ and

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} g_j(\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}) = G(\varrho, k, n), \quad k = 0, 1, ..., n.$$

Then

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} (g_j(U_n^{\varrho}))f = \sum_{k=0}^n G(\varrho, k, n) p_{\varrho, k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho, k}^{(n)}(f),$$
(3.47)

the convergence being uniform.

Proof. By using (3.46) we get

$$(g_j(U_n^{\varrho}))f = \sum_{k=0}^n g_j(\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}) p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f), \quad f \in C[0,1], \ j = 1, 2,$$

Letting $j \rightarrow \infty$ yields (3.47).

Lemma 3.8.14. Suppose that j_n is a sequence of positive integers with

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{j_n}{n}=t,$$

then

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{j_n} = e^{-\frac{k(k-1)}{2}(\frac{1}{\varrho}+1)t}, \text{ for all } k, \ 0 \le t < \infty,$$
(3.48)

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{j_n} = 0, \text{ for all } k \ge 2, \quad t = \infty.$$
(3.49)

Proof. Let

$$y_n = (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{j_n - nt} = \left[\left(1 + \frac{1}{n\varrho} \right)^{-1} \dots \left(1 + \frac{k - 1}{n\varrho} \right)^{-1} \left(1 - \frac{1}{n} \right) \dots \left(1 - \frac{k - 1}{n} \right) \right]^{j_n - nt}$$

Then

$$\log y_n = (j_n - nt) \left[\log \left(1 + \frac{1}{n\varrho} \right)^{-1} + \dots + \log \left(1 + \frac{k - 1}{n\varrho} \right)^{-1} + \log \left(1 - \frac{1}{n} \right) + \dots + \log \left(1 - \frac{k - 1}{n} \right) \right]$$
$$= \left(\frac{j_n}{n} - t \right) \left(-\frac{k(k-1)}{2} \frac{\varrho + 1}{\varrho} + O\left(\frac{1}{n} \right) \right)$$
$$\rightarrow 0, \ n \to \infty.$$

Therefore

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{j_n - nt} = \lim_{n \to \infty} y_n = 1.$$
(3.50)

But

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{nt} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \left(1 + \frac{1}{n\varrho} \right)^{-nt} \dots \left(1 + \frac{k-1}{n\varrho} \right)^{-nt} \left(1 - \frac{1}{n} \right)^{nt} \dots \left(1 - \frac{k-1}{n} \right)^{nt} = e^{-\frac{k(k-1)}{2} \left(\frac{1}{\varrho} + 1 \right)t}.$$
(3.51)

Combining (3.50) and (3.51) gives (3.48). For $t \to \infty$ we obtain (3.49).

Corollary 3.8.15. Suppose that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{j_n}{n}=t.$$

Then for $0 \leq t < \infty$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (U_n^{\varrho})^{j_n} f = \sum_{k=0}^{s} e^{-\frac{k(k-1)}{2}(\frac{1}{\varrho}+1)t} p_k^* \mu_k^*(f)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{k(k-1)}{2}(\frac{1}{\varrho}+1)t} p_k^* \mu_k^*(f), \text{ for all } f \in \Pi_s,$$
(3.52)

and for $t = \infty$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (U_n^{\varrho})^{j_n} f = B_1 f = \sum_{k=0}^{1} p_k^* \mu_k^*(f), \text{ for all } f \in \Pi.$$
(3.53)

The convergence in (3.52) and (3.53) is uniform.

Proof. Suppose that $f \in \Pi_s$. Since U_n^{ϱ} is degree reducing, (3.46) gives

$$(U_n^{\varrho})^{j_n}f = \sum_{k=0}^s (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{j_n} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f), \quad n \ge s.$$

Take the limit as $n \to \infty$ in the above and use Lemma 3.8.14, Theorem 3.4.5 and Theorem 3.4.6 to obtain (3.53) and the first equality in (3.52). The second equality in (3.52) follows from (4.19) in [18].

3.9 The difference $U_n^{\varrho} - U_n^{\sigma}$

A first approach in order to study this difference is based on a method presented in [43]. We need the following result from that paper :

Theorem 3.9.1. Let $A, B : C[0, 1] \rightarrow C[0, 1]$ be positive linear operators such that

$$(A-B)((e_1-x)^i)(x) = 0$$
 for $i = 0, 1, ..., n$ and $x \in [0, 1]$,

also satisfying $Ae_0 = Be_0 = e_0$. Then for all $f \in C[0,1]$, $x \in [0,1]$ we have

$$|(A-B)(f)(x)| \le c_1 \cdot \omega_{n+1}\left(f; \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}(A+B)(|e_1-x|^{n+1})(x)}\right).$$

Here c_1 *is an absolute constant independent of* f, x *and* A *and* B*, and* $\omega_{n+1}(f, \cdot)$ *denotes the* (n + 1)*-st order modulus of smoothness.*

We choose $A = U_n^{\varrho}$ and $B = U_n^{\sigma}$. Both operators reproduce linear functions so we have

$$(U_n^{\varrho} - U_n^{\sigma})((e_1 - x)^i)(x) = 0$$
 for $i = 0, 1, x \in [0, 1]$.

We recall equation (3.17), which states that the second moments for U_n^{ϱ} and U_n^{σ} are given by

$$M_{n,2}^{t}(x) = \frac{(t+1)x(1-x)}{nt+1}$$

where $t = \rho, \sigma$. As a consequence of Theorem 3.9.1 the following statement holds: **Proposition 3.9.2.**

$$\begin{aligned} |(U_n^{\varrho} - U_n^{\sigma})(f)(x)| &\leq c_1 \cdot \omega_2 \left(f; \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} (U_n^{\varrho} + U_n^{\sigma})(|e_1 - x|^2)(x)} \right) \\ &\leq c_1 \cdot \omega_2 \left(f; \sqrt{\frac{1}{2} \frac{2n\varrho\sigma + (n+1)(\varrho + \sigma) + 2}{(n\varrho + 1)(n\sigma + 1)}} x(1 - x) \right). \end{aligned}$$

Another approach is described in the sequel. Consider the Beta-type operator $\mathcal{B}_r^{-1,-1}$ as given in Definition 1.3.1. It is not difficult to see that

$$U_n^{\varrho} = B_n \circ \mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}, \tag{3.54}$$

where $B_n : C[0,1] \to \Pi_n$ is the classical Bernstein operator. Taking into consideration Lemma 1.3.4 we are in a position to state

Theorem 3.9.3. *Let* $f \in C[0,1]$, $n \ge 1$, $\varrho > 0$, $\sigma > 0$. *Then*

$$|(U_n^{\varrho}-U_n^{\sigma})f(x)| \leq \frac{9}{4}\omega_2\left(f;\sqrt{\frac{(n-1)|\sigma-\varrho|}{(n\varrho+1)(n\sigma+1)}}x(1-x)\right),$$

where ω_2 is the second order modulus of smoothness.

Proof. Suppose that $0 < \varrho < \sigma$ and set $r := n\varrho$, $s := n\sigma$. According to (1.21), we have for each convex function $g \in C[0, 1]$,

$$\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}g \geq \mathcal{B}_{n\sigma}^{-1,-1}g.$$

This entails

$$B_n(\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}g) \ge B_n(\mathcal{B}_{n\sigma}^{-1,-1}g).$$
 (3.55)

Now (3.54) and (3.55) yield

$$U_n^{\varrho}g \ge U_n^{\sigma}g, \quad g \in C[0,1] \text{ convex.}$$
(3.56)

Let $x \in [0, 1]$ be fixed. Consider the functional $\Phi : C[0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$,

$$\Phi(f) := U_n^{\varrho} f(x) - U_n^{\sigma} f(x), \ f \in C[0,1].$$

The linear functional Φ is bounded on C[0,1] endowed with the uniform norm; moreover, Φ is different from 0, and according to (3.56),

$$\Phi(g) \ge 0, \ g \in C[0,1]$$
 convex.

By a result of T. Popoviciu [79] (see also [82]) it follows that for each $f \in C[0, 1]$ there exist distinct points t_0, t_1, t_2 in [0, 1] such that

$$\Phi(f) = \Phi(e_2)[t_0, t_1, t_2; f], \qquad (3.57)$$

where $[t_0, t_1, t_2; f]$ is the divided difference of the function f on the nodes t_0, t_1, t_2 . According to [45],

$$U_n^{\varrho}e_2(x) = x^2 + \frac{\varrho+1}{n\varrho+1}x(1-x),$$

so that

$$\Phi(e_2) = U_n^{\varrho} e_2(x) - U_n^{\sigma} e_2(x) = \frac{(n-1)(\sigma-\varrho)}{(n\varrho+1)(n\sigma+1)} x(1-x).$$

On the other hand, if $g \in C^2[0, 1]$, then

$$[t_0, t_1, t_2; g] = \frac{1}{2}g''(\xi)$$

for some $\xi \in [0, 1]$. Thus (3.57) leads to

$$U_n^{\varrho}g(x) - U_n^{\sigma}g(x) = \frac{(n-1)(\sigma-\varrho)}{(n\varrho+1)(n\sigma+1)}x(1-x)\frac{g''(\xi)}{2}, \ g \in C^2[0,1].$$

This entails

$$|U_n^{\varrho}g(x) - U_n^{\sigma}g(x)| \le \frac{(n-1)(\sigma-\varrho)}{2(n\varrho+1)(n\sigma+1)}x(1-x)||g''||_{\infty}, \ g \in C^2[0,1].$$

As a consequence of Theorem 1.1.19 and Corollary 1.1.20,
for
$$h^2 = \frac{(n-1)(\sigma-\varrho)}{(n\varrho+1)(n\sigma+1)}x(1-x), \alpha = 2$$
 and $\beta_2 = \frac{h^2}{2}$ we obtain
 $|(U_n^{\varrho} - U_n^{\sigma})(f)(x)| \leq \left(2 \cdot \frac{3}{4} + \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{3}{2}\right)\omega_2\left(f; \sqrt{\frac{(n-1)|\sigma-\varrho|}{(n\varrho+1)(n\sigma+1)}x(1-x)}\right)$
 $\leq \frac{9}{4}\omega_2\left(f; \sqrt{\frac{(n-1)|\sigma-\varrho|}{(n\varrho+1)(n\sigma+1)}x(1-x)}\right).$

Remark 3.9.4. The presence on the difference $|\sigma - \varrho|$ in Theorem 3.9.3 allows us to state that the estimation given there is much better then the one given in Proposition 3.9.2.

3.10 The commutators $[U_n^{\varrho}; U_n^{\sigma}]$ and $[U_m^{\varrho}; U_n^{\varrho}]$

The problem of studying the commutator [A; B] := AB - BA of two positive linear operators A and B was raised by A. Lupaş in [63]. Some answers to Lupaş's problem can be found in [44]. Here we shall study the commutators $[U_n^{\varrho}; U_n^{\sigma}]$ and $[U_m^{\varrho}; U_n^{\varrho}]$. First of all, we need information about the moments of the investigated operators. Let $M_{n,j}^{\varrho}(x) := U_n^{\varrho}(e_1 - xe_0)^j(x)$, be the *j*-th moment of U_n^{ϱ} .

By using the recurrence formula for the moments given by (3.16) it is not difficult to prove by induction on j that

$$M_{n,j}^{\varrho}(x) = \mathcal{O}\left(n^{-\left[\frac{j+1}{2}\right]}\right)$$
(3.58)

uniformly with respect to $x \in [0, 1]$. Now let

$$M_{n,r}^{\varrho,\sigma}(x) := U_n^{\varrho} U_n^{\sigma} (e_1 - x e_0)^r (x)$$

be the *r*-th moment of $U_n^{\varrho} U_n^{\sigma}$. According to [47, Theorem 4],

$$M_{n,r}^{\varrho,\sigma}(x) = \sum_{\substack{i,k\geq 0\\i+k=r}} \sum_{j=k}^{r} \binom{r}{k} \frac{1}{(j-k)!} M_{n,j}^{\varrho}(x) (M_{n,i}^{\sigma}(x))^{(j-k)}.$$
 (3.59)

Combining (3.58) and (3.59) (see also [47, Corollary 1]), we get

$$M_{n,r}^{\varrho,\sigma}(x) = \mathcal{O}\left(n^{-\left[\frac{r+1}{2}\right]}\right)$$

uniformly with respect to $x \in [0, 1]$. Now by a result of P.C. Sikkema [91] we have

$$U_n^{\varrho} U_n^{\sigma} f(x) = \sum_{r=0}^6 \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} M_{n,r}^{\varrho,\sigma}(x) + o(n^{-3})$$

uniformly with respect to $x \in [0,1]$, for each $f \in C^6[0,1]$. It follows that for $f \in C^6[0,1]$,

$$(U_n^{\varrho}U_n^{\sigma} - U_n^{\sigma}U_n^{\varrho})f(x) = \sum_{r=0}^6 \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} (M_{n,r}^{\varrho,\sigma}(x) - M_{n,r}^{\sigma,\varrho}(x)) + o(n^{-3}).$$
(3.60)

A combination of hand calculations and MAPLE shows that

$$M_{n,r}^{\varrho,\sigma}(x) - M_{n,r}^{\sigma,\varrho}(x) = 0, r = 0, 1, 2, 3,$$
(3.61)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^3 (M_{n,4}^{\varrho,\sigma}(x) - M_{n,4}^{\sigma,\varrho}(x)) = \frac{(\sigma - \varrho)(\varrho + 1)(\sigma + 1)}{\varrho^2 \sigma^2} x(1 - x),$$
(3.62)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^3 (M_{n,r}^{\varrho,\sigma}(x) - M_{n,r}^{\sigma,\varrho}(x)) = 0, r = 5, 6,$$
(3.63)

uniformly with respect to $x \in [0, 1]$. From (3.60)-(3.63) we derive

Theorem 3.10.1. *For each* $f \in C^{6}[0, 1]$ *one has*

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^3 (U_n^{\varrho} U_n^{\sigma} - U_n^{\sigma} U_n^{\varrho}) f(x) = \frac{(\sigma - \varrho)(\varrho + 1)(\sigma + 1)}{\varrho^2 \sigma^2} x(1 - x) f^{(4)}(x),$$

uniformly with respect to $x \in [0, 1]$.

In particular, we see that U_n^{ϱ} and U_n^{σ} do not commute if $\varrho \neq \sigma$. On the other hand it is well known (see [31]) that U_n^1 and U_m^1 (i.e., the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators) do commute. A combination of hand calculations and MAPLE shows that

$$(U_m^{\varrho}U_n^{\varrho}-U_n^{\varrho}U_m^{\varrho})e_r(x)=0, r=0,1,2,3,$$

and

$$(U_m^{\varrho}U_n^{\varrho} - U_n^{\varrho}U_m^{\varrho})e_4(x) = \frac{\varrho^3(\varrho-1)(\varrho+1)^2(m-1)(n-1)(n-m)}{(m\varrho+1)(m\varrho+2)(m\varrho+3)(n\varrho+1)(n\varrho+2)(n\varrho+3)}$$

We see that U_m^{ϱ} and U_n^{ϱ} do not commute if $\varrho \neq 1, m \neq 1, n \neq 1$ and $m \neq n$.

3.11 The behavior of U_n^{ϱ} with respect to Lipschitz classes of order m

Fix an integer $m \ge 0$ and M > 0. We say that a function $f \in C[0, 1]$ belongs to the Lipschitz class $Lip_m(M)$ if

$$|\Delta_h^m f(x)| \le M h^n$$

for all $x \in [0, 1]$ and h > 0 such that $x + mh \in [0, 1]$; $\Delta_h^m f(x)$ stands for the *m*-th order difference of *f* with step *h* at *x*. According to [10, Proposition 2.1], $f \in Lip_m(M)$ if and only if $\frac{M}{m!}e_m \pm f$ are *m*- convex functions.

Theorem 3.11.1. If $f \in Lip_m(M)$, then for all $n \ge 1, \varrho > 0$,

$$U_n^{\varrho} f \in Lip_m \left(\frac{M \varrho^m n(n-1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (n-m+1)}{m! (n\varrho) (n\varrho+1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (n\varrho+m-1)} \right).$$

Proof. Let $f \in Lip_m(M)$. Then $\frac{M}{m!}e_m \pm f$ are *m*-convex functions, so that

$$\frac{M}{m!}U_n^{\varrho}e_m\pm U_n^{\varrho}f$$

are *m*-convex functions. Since

$$U_n^{\varrho}e_m(x) = \frac{\varrho^m n(n-1) \cdot \dots \cdot (n-m+1)}{(n\varrho)(n\varrho+1) \cdot \dots \cdot (n\varrho+m-1)} x^m + \text{terms of lower degree,}$$

we deduce that

$$\frac{M}{m!} \cdot \frac{\varrho^m n(n-1) \cdot \dots \cdot (n-m+1)}{(n\varrho)(n\varrho+1) \cdot \dots \cdot (n\varrho+m-1)} e_m \pm U_n^{\varrho} f$$

are *m*-convex functions.

This means that $U_n^{\varrho} f$ belongs to the class

$$Lip_m\left(\frac{M\varrho^m n(n-1)\cdot\ldots\cdot(n-m+1)}{m!(n\varrho)(n\varrho+1)\cdot\ldots\cdot(n\varrho+m-1)}\right).$$

Let now M > 0 and $0 < \gamma \le 1$. Define

$$Lip(\gamma, M) := \{ f \in C[0, 1] : |f(x) - f(y)| \le M | x - y|^{\gamma}, x, y \in [0, 1] \},\$$

and remark that $Lip(1, M) = Lip_1(M)$. Let ω be the usual modulus of continuity.

Theorem 3.11.2. *For all* $n \ge 1$ *and* $\rho > 0$ *,*

a)
$$\omega(U_n^{\varrho}f,\delta) \leq 2\omega(f,\delta), f \in C[0,1], \delta > 0;$$

b) $U_n^{\varrho}(Lip(\gamma, M)) \subset Lip(\gamma, M).$

Proof. According to Theorem 3.11.1, $U_n^{\varrho}(Lip_1(M)) \subset Lip_1(M)$, hence $U_n^{\varrho}(Lip(1, M)) \subset Lip(1, M)$. Now the statements a) and b) follow from [7, Corollary 6 and 7].

3.12 Lagrange-type operators associated with U_n^{ϱ}

We will present the relationship between the U_n^{ϱ} operators and some Lagrange-type operators, using their eigenstructure, thus extending in a natural way results known for Lagrange interpolation (see [95, p.116-126]).

3.12.1 A first description of L_n^{ϱ}

Let $\varrho > 0$ and $n \ge 1$ be fixed. Consider the functionals $F_{n,k}^{\varrho} : C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, k = 0, 1, ..., n$, defined by

$$\begin{split} F^{\varrho}_{n,0}(f) &= f(0), F^{\varrho}_{n,n-1}(f) = f(1), \\ F^{\varrho}_{n,k}(f) &= \int_{0}^{1} \frac{t^{k\varrho-1}(1-t)^{(n-k)\varrho-1}}{B(k\varrho,(n-k)\varrho)} f(t) dt, \ k = 1, ..., n-1. \end{split}$$

Remember that the operator $U_n^{\varrho} : C[0, 1] \to \Pi_n$ is given by

$$U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) := \sum_{k=0}^n F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f) p_{n,k}(x), f \in C[0,1],$$

where $p_{n,k}(x) = \binom{n}{k} x^k (1-x)^{n-k}$, $x \in [0,1]$. With a slight abuse of notation consider also the operator $U_n^{\varrho} : \Pi_n \to \Pi_n$. Its eigenvalues $\lambda_{n,k}^{(n)}$ and eigenfunctions $p_{n,k}^{(n)}$, k = 0, 1, ..., n, are described in Section 3.4; in particular,

$$1 = \lambda_{\varrho,0}^{(n)} = \lambda_{\varrho,1}^{(n)} > \lambda_{\varrho,2}^{(n)} > \lambda_{\varrho,3}^{(n)} > \dots > \lambda_{\varrho,n}^{(n)} > 0,$$

which means that $U_n^{\varrho}: \Pi_n \to \Pi_n$ is invertible. Consider the inverse operator $(U_n^{\varrho})^{-1}: \Pi_n \to \Pi_n$ (note the domain of definition here!) and define $L_n^{\varrho}: C[0,1] \to \Pi_n$ by

$$L_n^{\varrho} = (U_n^{\varrho})^{-1} \circ U_n^{\varrho}.$$
(3.64)

Then $U_n^{\varrho}(L_n^{\varrho}f) = U_n^{\varrho}(f), f \in C[0,1]$, which leads to

$$F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(L_n^{\varrho}f) = F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f), f \in C[0,1], k = 0, 1, ..., n.$$
(3.65)

(3.65) expresses an interpolatory property with respect to the functionals $F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}$; more precisely, given $f \in C[0,1], L_n^{\varrho}f$ is the unique polynomial in Π_n satisfying (3.65). In particular, $L_n^{\varrho}p = p, \forall p \in \Pi_n$. It is known (see [45]) that

$$\lim_{\varrho \to \infty} F^{\varrho}_{n,k}(f) = f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right), f \in C[0,1], k = 0, 1, ..., n.$$
(3.66)

This entails

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} U_n^{\varrho}(f) = B_n f, \text{ uniformly on } [0,1], \tag{3.67}$$

for all $f \in C[0,1]$; here B_n denotes the classical Bernstein operator on C[0,1]. Let L_n be the Lagrange operator on C[0,1] based on the nodes $0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1$. It is easy to see that

$$L_n = B_n^{-1} \circ B_n, \tag{3.68}$$

where

$$C[0,1] \xrightarrow{B_n} \Pi_n \xrightarrow{(B_n)^{-1}} \Pi_n$$

We will see that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} L_n^{\varrho}(f) = L_n f, \text{ uniformly on } [0,1], \tag{3.69}$$

for all $f \in C[0, 1]$. If we interpret (3.67) by saying that $U_n^{\infty} = B_n$, then (3.69) can be interpreted as $L_n^{\infty} = L_n$. On the other hand, one has according to (3.20)

$$U_n^{\varrho}f = \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f), f \in C[0,1],$$

where $\mu_{q,k}^{(n)}$ are the dual functionals of $p_{q,k}^{(n)}$. This leads to

$$L_n^{\varrho}(f) = (U_n^{\varrho})^{-1}(U_n^{\varrho}f) = \sum_{k=0}^n \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \frac{1}{\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f),$$

i.e.,

$$L_n^{\varrho}(f) = \sum_{k=0}^n p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f), f \in C[0,1].$$
(3.70)

So the relationship between U_n^{ϱ} and L_n^{ϱ} , expressed by (3.20) and (3.70), is similar to the relationship between $B_n = U_n^{\infty}$ and $L_n = L_n^{\infty}$, described in [18, Section 6]. To conclude this section let us recall that

$$U_n^{\varrho} = B_n \circ \mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}.$$

From (3.64) and (3.68) it follows that

$$L_n^{\varrho} = (\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1})^{-1} \circ L_n \circ \mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}, \ \varrho > 0,$$
(3.71)

i.e., the operators L_n^{ϱ} and L_n are similar.

3.12.2 A concrete approach to L_n^{ϱ}

In order to obtain other representations of the operators L_n^{ϱ} we shall use a classical method described, for example, in [81, Section 1.2], [20], [67, Section 1.3]. Let $n \ge 1, \varrho > 0$ and $f \in C[0,1]$ be fixed. Then $L_n^{\varrho}f \in \Pi_n$ has the form $L_n^{\varrho}f = c_0e_0 + c_1e_1 + ... + c_ne_n$, where $e_j(x) = x^j, x \in [0,1], j \ge 0$, and $c_j \in \mathbb{R}$. According to (3.65), the coefficients $c_0, ..., c_n$ satisfy the system of equations

$$\begin{cases} L_n^{\varrho} f = c_0 e_0 + c_1 e_1 + \dots + c_n e_n \\ F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(f) = c_0 F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_0) + c_1 F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_1) + \dots + c_n F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_n) \\ \dots \\ F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) = c_0 F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_0) + c_1 F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_1) + \dots + c_n F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_n). \end{cases}$$

By eliminating $c_0, ..., c_n$, we get

$$\begin{vmatrix} L_n^{\varrho} f & e_0 & e_1 & \dots & e_n \\ F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(f) & F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_0) & F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_1) & \dots & F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(e_n) \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_0) & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_1) & \dots & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(e_n) \end{vmatrix} = 0.$$

$$(3.72)$$

Since $F_{n,i}^{\varrho}(e_m) = \frac{(i\varrho)^{\overline{m}}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{m}}}$, from (3.72) we get after elementary computations:

$$L_{n}^{\varrho}f = -V(0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1)^{-1} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & e_{0} & \frac{(n\varrho)^{1}}{(n\varrho)}e_{1} & ... & \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{n}}e_{n} \\ F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(f) & 1 & \frac{(0\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{(n\varrho)} & ... & \frac{(0\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{n}} \\ F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(f) & 1 & \frac{(1\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{(n\varrho)} & ... & \frac{(1\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{n}} \\ ... & ... & ... & ... & ... \\ F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) & 1 & \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{(n\varrho)} & ... & \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{n}} \end{vmatrix}$$
(3.73)

where V is the Vandermonde determinant. Now we are in the position to prove (3.69).

Theorem 3.12.1. For each $f \in C[0, 1]$ we have

$$\lim_{\varrho\to\infty}L_n^\varrho f=L_nf, \text{ uniformly on } [0,1].$$

Proof. Let us remark that

$$\lim_{\varrho \to \infty} \frac{(j\varrho)^{\overline{k}}}{(n\varrho)^k} = \left(\frac{j}{n}\right)^k.$$
(3.74)

From (3.66), (3.73), and (3.74) we deduce

$$\lim_{\varrho \to \infty} L_n^{\varrho} f = -V \left(0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1 \right)^{-1} \begin{vmatrix} 0 & e_0 & e_1 & ... & e_n \\ f(0) & 1 & 0 & ... & 0 \\ f(\frac{1}{n}) & 1 & \frac{1}{n} & ... & (\frac{1}{n})^n \\ ... & ... & ... & ... & ... \\ f(\frac{n-1}{n}) & 1 & \frac{n-1}{n} & ... & (\frac{n-1}{n})^n \\ f(1) & 1 & 1 & ... & 1 \end{vmatrix} \right).$$
(3.75)

Since the right hand-side of (3.75) is $L_n f$ (see, e.g., [95, Section 3.1], [67, Section 1.3].), the proof is complete.

3.12.3 The associated divided difference

The coefficient of e_n in the expression of $L_n f$ is the divided difference of f at the nodes $0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1$, and is given by (see e.g. [95, Section 2.6]):

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1; f \end{bmatrix} = V \left(0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1 \right)^{-1} \times$$

$$\times \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & ... & 0 & f(0) \\ 1 & \frac{1}{n} & (\frac{1}{n})^2 & ... & (\frac{1}{n})^{n-1} & f(\frac{1}{n}) \\ ... & ... & ... & ... & ... \\ 1 & \frac{n-1}{n} & (\frac{n-1}{n})^2 & ... & (\frac{n-1}{n})^{n-1} & f(\frac{n-1}{n}) \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & ... & 1 & f(1) \end{vmatrix}$$
(3.76)

Let us denote by $[F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; f]$ the coefficient of e_n in $L_n^{\varrho}f$.

Theorem 3.12.2. *For each* $f \in C[0, 1]$ *we have*

$$[F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; f] = \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{n}} V\left(0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1\right)^{-1} \times$$

$$\times \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & ... & 0 & F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(f) \\ 1 & \frac{1}{n} & (\frac{1}{n})^{2} & ... & (\frac{1}{n})^{n-1} & F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(f) \\ ... & ... & ... & ... & ... \\ 1 & \frac{n-1}{n} & (\frac{n-1}{n})^{2} & ... & (\frac{n-1}{n})^{n-1} & F_{n,n-1}^{\varrho}(f) \\ 1 & 1 & 1 & ... & 1 & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) \end{vmatrix} .$$

$$(3.77)$$

Proof. From (3.73) we get immediately

$$\begin{split} [F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, \dots, F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; f] &= \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^{n}} V\left(0, \frac{1}{n}, \dots, \frac{n-1}{n}, 1\right)^{-1} \times \\ & \times \begin{vmatrix} 1 & \frac{(0\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{n\varrho} & \dots & \frac{(0\varrho)^{\overline{n-1}}}{(n\varrho)^{n-1}} & F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(f) \\ 1 & \frac{(1\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{n\varrho} & \dots & \frac{(1\varrho)^{\overline{n-1}}}{(n\varrho)^{n-1}} & F_{n,1}^{\varrho}(f) \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ 1 & \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{1}}}{n\varrho} & \dots & \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n-1}}}{(n\varrho)^{n-1}} & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) \end{vmatrix} = \\ &= \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}/(n\varrho)^{n}}{(n\varrho)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}} V\left(0, \frac{1}{n}, \dots, \frac{n-1}{n}, 1\right)} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & (0\varrho)^{\overline{1}} & \dots & (0\varrho)^{\overline{n-1}} & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) \\ 1 & (1\varrho)^{\overline{1}} & \dots & (1\varrho)^{\overline{n-1}} & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ 1 & (n\varrho)^{\overline{1}} & \dots & (n\varrho)^{\overline{n-1}} & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) \end{vmatrix} = \\ &= \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}/(n\varrho)^{n}}{(n\varrho)^{\frac{n(n-1)}{2}} V\left(0, \frac{1}{n}, \dots, \frac{n-1}{n}, 1\right)} \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(f) \\ 1 & \varrho & \dots & \varrho^{n-1} & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) \\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots \\ 1 & n\varrho & \dots & (n\varrho)^{n-1} & F_{n,n}^{\varrho}(f) \end{vmatrix}$$

and this leads us to (3.77).

Remark 3.12.3. From (3.66), (3.76) and (3.77) we derive

$$\lim_{\varrho \to \infty} [F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; f] = \left[0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1; f\right]$$

for all $f \in C[0,1]$. Moreover, let $f \in C[0,1]$ and Φ_n a (Lagrange-type) polynomial with $\Phi_n \in \Pi_n, \Phi_n(\frac{j}{n}) = F_{n,j}^{\varrho}(f), j = 0, ..., n$. From (3.76) and (3.77) it is easy to deduce

$$[F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; f] = \frac{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n}}}{(n\varrho)^n} \left[0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{n-1}{n}, 1; \Phi_n\right]$$

The last (classical) divided difference can be computed by recurrence; see [95].

Remark 3.12.4. Using (3.70), we see that

$$\mu_{\varrho,n}^{(n)} = [F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; \cdot].$$
(3.78)

For the Bernstein operator (i.e., for $\rho \to \infty$), (3.78) can be found in [18, p.164].

Remark 3.12.5. $u_{n+1}^{\varrho} := e_{n+1} - L_n^{\varrho} e_{n+1}$ is the unique monic polynomial in Π_{n+1} such that $L_n^{\varrho} u_{n+1}^{\varrho} = 0$. For example, $u_{n+1}^{\infty} = x(x-1)(x-\frac{1}{n}) \cdot ... \cdot (x-\frac{n-1}{n})$. Moreover, $u_{n+1}^1(x) = x(x-1)J_{n-1}(x)$, where $J_0(x)$, $J_1(x)$, ... are the monic Jacobi polynomials, orthogonal on [0,1] with respect to the weight function x(1-x). Indeed, $F_{n,0}^1(u_{n+1}^1) = F_{n,n}^1(u_{n+1}^1) = 0$, and $\int_0^1 t^{k-1}(1-t)^{n-k-1}u_{n+1}^1(t)dt = \int_0^1 t^{k-1}(1-t)^{n-k-1}t(t-1)J_{n-1}(t)dt = 0$ (since for all k = 1, ..., n-1, $t^{k-1}(1-t)^{n-k-1}$ is a polynomial of degree n-2). This implies $F_{n,k}^1(u_{n+1}^1) = 0$, k = 1, ..., n-1, and so $L_n^1(u_{n+1}^1) = 0$.

Now we shall prove a general result.

Theorem 3.12.6. The polynomial u_{n+1}^{ϱ} has n+1 distinct roots in [0,1].

Proof. By using Remark 3.12.5 and (3.71) we get $((\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1})^{-1} \circ L_n \circ \mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1})(u_{n+1}^{\varrho}) = 0$, which entails $L_n(\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}u_{n+1}^{\varrho}) = 0$. Now the same Remark 3.12.5 yields

$$\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}u_{n+1}^{\varrho} = \frac{(n\varrho)^{n+1}}{(n\varrho)^{\overline{n+1}}}u_{n+1}^{\infty}.$$

So $\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}u_{n+1}^{\varrho}$ has n+1 distinct roots in [0,1]. According to [57], u_{n+1}^{ϱ} has at least n+1 distinct roots in [0,1]; to finish the proof, it suffices to remark that u_{n+1}^{ϱ} is a polynomial of degree n+1.

Now let us recall the representation of L_n in terms of the fundamental Lagrange polynomials:

$$L_n f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^n l_{n,k}(x) f\left(\frac{k}{n}\right), f \in C[0,1], x \in [0,1].$$

Using (3.71) we infer that L_n^{ϱ} has a similar representation, namely

$$L_{n}^{\varrho}f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} l_{n,k}^{\varrho}(x) F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f)$$

where

$$l_{n,k}^{\varrho} := (\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1})^{-1}(l_{n,k}), k = 0, 1, ..., n.$$
(3.79)

Theorem 3.12.7. For each k = 0, 1, ..., n, the polynomial $l_{n,k}^{\varrho}$ has n distinct roots in [0,1].

Proof. Since, according to (3.79), $\mathcal{B}_{n\varrho}^{-1,-1}(l_{n,k}^{\varrho}) = l_{n,k}$, the proof is similar to that of Theorem 3.12.6 and we omit it.

In what follows we shall establish mean value theorems for the generalized divided difference and for the remainder $R_n^{\varrho} f := f - L_n^{\varrho}$.

Theorem 3.12.8. *Let* $n \ge 1, \rho > 0$ *and* $f \in C[0, 1]$ *be given. Then there exist* $0 = t_0 < t_1 < ... < t_n = 1$ *such that*

$$R_n^{\varrho} f(t_i) = 0, \ i = 0, 1, ..., n.$$
(3.80)

Proof. According to (3.65), $F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(R_n^{\varrho}f) = 0, k = 0, 1, ..., n$, i.e.

$$R_n^{\varrho} f(0) = R_n^{\varrho} f(1) = 0, (3.81)$$

$$\int_{0}^{1} t^{k\varrho-1} (1-t)^{(n-k)\varrho-1} R_{n}^{\varrho} f(t) dt = 0, k = 1, ..., n-1.$$
(3.82)

Set $x := \left(\frac{t}{1-t}\right)^{\varrho}$, j := k-1, and $h(x) := R_n^{\varrho} f\left(\frac{x^{1/\varrho}}{1+x^{1/\varrho}}\right)$, $x \ge 0$. Then (3.82) becomes

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} (1+x^{1/\varrho})^{-n\varrho} x^{j} h(x) dx = 0, \ j = 0, 1, ..., n-2.$$
(3.83)

Suppose that the number of the roots of *h* in $(0, +\infty)$ is at most n - 2, i.e. $\{x \in (0, +\infty) : h(x) = 0\} = \{x_1, ..., x_r\}, r \le n - 2$. Then there exists a polynomial $p \in \Pi_{n-2}$ such that $\{x \in (0, +\infty) : p(x) = 0\} \subset \{x_1, ..., x_r\}$ and, moreover,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} (1+x^{1/\varrho})^{-n\varrho} p(x)h(x)dx > 0.$$
(3.84)

Obviously (3.84) contradicts (3.83), which means that *h* has at least n - 1 roots in $(0, +\infty)$. It follows that $R_n^{\varrho} f$ has at least n - 1 roots in (0, 1). Together with (3.81), this proves the theorem.

Corollary 3.12.9. Let $n \ge 1$, $\varrho > 0$ and $f \in C^n[0,1]$ be given. Then there exists $\xi \in (0,1)$ such that

$$[F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; f] = \frac{f^{(n)}(\xi)}{n!}$$

Proof. According to Theorem 3.12.8, $R_n^{\varrho} f$ has at least n + 1 roots in [0, 1]. It follows that $(R_n^{\varrho} f)^{(n)}$ has at least a root $\xi \in (0, 1)$. Thus

$$0 = (R_n^{\varrho} f)^{(n)}(\xi) = f^{(n)}(\xi) - n! [F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; f],$$

and the proof is finished.

Let now $n \ge 1, \varrho > 0$ and $f \in C^{n+1}[0,1]$ be given. Consider the points $t_0, t_1, ..., t_n$ satisfying (3.80), and let $\omega(t) = (t - t_0) \cdot ... \cdot (t - t_n)$.

Corollary 3.12.10. Let $x \in [0,1] \setminus \{t_0, t_1, ..., t_n\}$. Under the above assumption there exists $\eta_x \in (0,1)$ such that

$$R_n^{\varrho} f(x) = \omega(x) \frac{f^{(n+1)}(\eta_x)}{(n+1)!}.$$

Proof. Consider the function $w(t) = \omega(x)R_n^{\varrho}f(t) - \omega(t)R_n^{\varrho}f(x), t \in [0,1]$. Then $x, t_0, ..., t_n$ are roots of w, which means that there exists $\eta_x \in (0,1)$ such that $w^{(n+1)}(\eta_x) = 0$. Now it suffices to remark that $w^{(n+1)}(t) = \omega(x)f^{(n+1)}(t) - (n+1)!R_n^{\varrho}f(x)$. \Box

Corollaries 3.12.9 and 3.12.10 generalize the mean value theorems for the divided difference and the remainder in classical Lagrange interpolation; see [95, Section 3.1], [67, Section 1.4].

3.13 Iterated Boolean sums of the operators U_n^{ϱ}

The eigenstructure of U_n^{ϱ} helps describe the convergence behavior of iterated Boolean sums based on a single mapping U_n^{ϱ} , with ϱ and n fixed. For M > 1, let

$$\oplus^{M} U_{n}^{\varrho} = I - (I - U_{n}^{\varrho})^{M}$$

be the iterated Boolean sum of U_n^{ϱ} ; here *I* stands for the identity operator on C[0, 1]. Iterated Boolean sums of the classical Bernstein operator and modifications thereof were investigated by numerous authors in the past, among them G. Mastroianni and M.R. Occorsio (see [68],[69]). Some historical information on this method which may be traced to I.P. Natanson can be found in [52]. From a general result of H.J. Wenz [102, Theorem 2] it follows that $\lim_{M\to\infty} \bigoplus^M U_n^{\varrho} f = L_n^{\varrho} f, f \in C[0,1], n \ge 1$. With the notation from the preceding sections, we can say more, namely

Theorem 3.13.1. Let $n \ge 2$ and $f \in C[0, 1]$ be given. Then

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} (1 - \lambda_{\varrho,n}^{(n)})^{-M} (\oplus^{M} U_{n}^{\varrho} f - L_{n}^{\varrho} f) = -[F_{n,0}^{\varrho}, F_{n,1}^{\varrho}, ..., F_{n,n}^{\varrho}; f] p_{\varrho,n}^{(n)},$$
(3.85)

uniformly on [0, 1].

Proof. We have, according to (3.20)

$$\mathbb{B}^{M} U_{n}^{\varrho} f = (I - (I - U_{n}^{\varrho})^{M}) f = \sum_{i=1}^{M} (-1)^{i+1} {\binom{M}{i}} (U_{n}^{\varrho})^{i} f$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{M} (-1)^{i+1} {\binom{M}{i}} \sum_{k=0}^{n} (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{i} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} (f)$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} (f) \sum_{i=1}^{M} (-1)^{i+1} {\binom{M}{i}} (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{i}$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} (f) (1 - (1 - (\lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{M}).$$

Combined with (3.70) this yields

$$\oplus^{M} U_{n}^{\varrho} f - L_{n}^{\varrho} f = -\sum_{k=0}^{n} p_{\varrho,k}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) (1 - \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)})^{M},$$

i.e.

$$(1 - \lambda_{\varrho,n}^{(n)})^{-M} (\bigoplus^{M} U_{n}^{\varrho} f - L_{n}^{\varrho} f) = -p_{\varrho,n}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,n}^{(n)}(f) - \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) \mu_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}(f) \left(\frac{1 - \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}}{1 - \lambda_{\varrho,n}^{(n)}}\right)^{M}$$

Since $0 < \frac{1 - \lambda_{\varrho,k}^{(n)}}{1 - \lambda_{\varrho,n}^{(n)}} < 1, k = 0, ..., n - 1$, we get

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} (1 - \lambda_{\varrho,n}^{(n)})^{-M} (\oplus^{M} U_{n}^{\varrho} f - L_{n}^{\varrho} f) = -\mu_{\varrho,n}^{(n)}(f) p_{\varrho,n}^{(n)}$$

To conclude the proof it suffices to use (3.78).

Remark 3.13.2. For $\rho \rightarrow \infty$, (3.85) was obtained in [86, Theorem 26.7].

3.14 The derivatives of U_n^{ϱ}

In this section we show that there is a natural relationship between the derivatives of the operator images and the divided differences $[...; \Phi_n]$ which we introduced in Remark 3.12.3.

Theorem 3.14.1. With the usual notation the following relationships hold:

$$(i) \quad (U_n^{\varrho}(f;x))' = n \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} p_{n-1,k}(x) \Delta^1 F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} p_{n-1,k}(x) \left[\frac{k}{n}, \frac{k+1}{n}; \Phi_n \right];$$

$$(ii) \quad (U_n^{\varrho}(f;x))^{(j)} = n(n-1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (n-j+1) \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} p_{n-j,k}(x) \Delta^j F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f)$$

$$= n(n-1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (n-j+1) \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} p_{n-j,k}(x) \frac{j!}{n^j} \left[\frac{k}{n}, \ldots, \frac{k+j}{n}; \Phi_n \right];$$

$$(\dots) \quad U_n^{\varrho}(f) = n(n-1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (n-j+1) \sum_{k=0}^{n-j} p_{n-j,k}(x) \frac{j!}{n^j} \left[\frac{k}{n}, \ldots, \frac{k+j}{n}; \Phi_n \right];$$

(iii)
$$U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) = \sum_{k=0}^n {n \choose k} \Delta^k F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(f) e_k(x) = \sum_{k=0}^n {n \choose k} \frac{k!}{n^k} \left[0, \frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{k}{n}; \Phi_n \right] e_k(x);$$

where as before $\Phi_n\left(\frac{k}{n}\right) = F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f)$.

Proof. (i) The forward difference was defined in [45, p. 792] by:

$$\Delta^{j}F^{\varrho}_{n,k}(f) = \sum_{i=0}^{j} \binom{j}{i} (-1)^{i+j}F^{\varrho}_{n,k+i}(f).$$

Thus we have

$$\left[\frac{k}{n}, \frac{k+1}{n}; \Phi_n\right] = \frac{\Phi_n(\frac{k+1}{n}) - \Phi_n(\frac{k}{n})}{\frac{k+1}{n} - \frac{k}{n}} = n[F_{n,k+1}^{\varrho}(f) - F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f)] = n\Delta^1 F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f);$$

(ii) The first equality can be found in [45, p. 792]. It remains to show that

$$\Delta^{j}F^{\varrho}_{n,k}(f) = \frac{j!}{n^{j}}\left[\frac{k}{n},...,\frac{k+j}{n};\Phi_{n}\right].$$

We have that $\Delta^{j+1}F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f) = \Delta(\Delta^{j}F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f)) = \Delta^{j}F_{n,k+1}^{\varrho}(f) - \Delta^{j}F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f)$. By using the recurrence formula for divided differences (see e.g. [95, p.104]) we get:

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta^{j} F_{n,k+1}^{\varrho}(f) - \Delta^{j} F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f) &= \frac{j!}{n^{j}} \cdot \frac{j+1}{n} \cdot \frac{\left[\frac{k+1}{n}, ..., \frac{k+j+1}{n}; \Phi_{n}\right] - \left[\frac{k}{n}, ..., \frac{k+j}{n}; \Phi_{n}\right]}{\frac{k+j+1}{n} - \frac{k}{n}} \\ &= \frac{(j+1)!}{n^{j+1}} \left[\frac{k}{n}, ..., \frac{k+j+1}{n}; \Phi_{n}\right] = \Delta^{j+1} F_{n,k}^{\varrho}(f). \end{aligned}$$

(iii) We apply Taylor's formula to U_n^{ϱ} of degree *n*

$$U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) = \sum_{j=0}^n \frac{(U_n^{\varrho}f)^{(j)}(0)}{j!} x^k$$

and show that $(U_n^{\varrho}(f;x))^{(j)} = n(n-1) \cdot ... \cdot (n-j+1)\Delta^j F_{n,0}^{\varrho}(f)$. To this end we take x = 0 in (ii); because $p_{n-j,0}(0) = 1$ and for all $k \ge 1$, $p_{n-j,k}(0) = 0$, from $\sum_{k=0}^{n-j}$ only the first term remains, which concludes the proof.

Remark 3.14.2. *In the case* $\rho \to \infty$ *we can find the analogues of the above relationships in* [95, *p.* 300-302].

3.15 Asymptotic formula

Here we present first two asymptotic formulae for higher order moments of U_n^{ϱ} in order to arrive at Voronovskaya-type results.

Theorem 3.15.1. The following proposition

$$(P_l): \begin{cases} \lim_{n \to \infty} n^l M_{n,2l}^{\varrho}(x) = (2l-1)!! \left(\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\right)^l X^l \\ \lim_{n \to \infty} n^l M_{n,2l-1}^{\varrho}(x) = X^{l-1} X'(l-1)! 2^{l-2} \frac{(\varrho+1)^{l-1}}{\varrho^l} (\varrho+2) \sum_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} \end{cases}$$
(3.86)

holds true for all $l \ge 1$. The convergence is uniform on [0, 1].

Proof. We shall prove the proposition by induction on $l \ge 1$. $M_{n,1}^{\varrho}$ and $M_{n,2}^{\varrho}$ are given Corollary 3.3.2, and it is easy to prove that (P_1) is true. Suppose that (P_l) is true. According to (3.16) and (3.86)

$$\begin{split} \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} M_{n,2l+1}^{\varrho}(x) &= \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{2l(\varrho+1)X}{n\varrho+2l} M_{n,2l-1}^{\varrho}(x) + \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{2lX'}{n\varrho+2l} M_{n,2l}^{\varrho}(x) \\ &+ \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{\varrho X}{n\varrho+2l} (M_{n,2l}^{\varrho}(x))' \\ &= \frac{2l(\varrho+1)X}{\varrho} X^{l-1} X'(l-1)! 2^{l-2} \frac{(\varrho+1)^{l-1}}{\varrho^l} (\varrho+2) \sum_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} + \\ &+ \frac{2lX'}{\varrho} (2l-1)!! \left(\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\right)^l X^l + X(2l-1)!! \left(\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\right)^l X^{l-1} X'l \\ &= X^l X' l! 2^{l-1} \frac{(\varrho+1)^l}{\varrho^{l+1}} (\varrho+2) \sum_{k=1}^l \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} \end{split}$$

and this proves the second formula in (3.86) for l + 1. Similarly,

$$\begin{split} \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} M_{n,2l+2}^{\varrho}(x) &= \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{(2l+1)(\varrho+1)X}{n\varrho+2l+1} M_{n,2l}^{\varrho}(x) + \\ &+ \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{(2l+1)X'}{n\varrho+2l+1} M_{n,2l+1}^{\varrho}(x) + \lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l+1} \frac{\varrho X}{n\varrho+2l+1} (M_{n,2l+1}^{\varrho}(x))' \\ &= \frac{(2l+1)(\varrho+1)X}{\varrho} (2l-1)!! \left(\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\right)^l X^l = \left(\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\right)^{l+1} (2l+1)!! X^{l+1}, \end{split}$$

which is the first formula in (3.86) for l + 1. This concludes the proof by induction on l.

Remark 3.15.2. In the proof above we have used the fact that $M_{n,2l}^{\varrho} \in \Pi_{2l}$ for all $n \ge 1$. Together with the first formula in (3.86) this means that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l} (M_{n,2l}^{\varrho}(x))' = (2l-1)!! \left(\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\right)^{l} (X^{l})'.$$

As a consequence of Corollary 1.3.13 (ii) we have the following Voronovskayatype relation which can also be found in [46, Theorem 5.2].

Corollary 3.15.3. *Let* $f \in C^2[0,1]$ *. Then*

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n \left\{ U_n^{\varrho}(f; x) - f(x) \right\} = \frac{\varrho + 1}{2\varrho} x(1 - x) f''(x),$$

uniformly on [0, 1].

Proof. For $\varphi(n) = n$ and q = 2 as given in Corollary 1.3.13 (ii),

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n\left\{ U_n^{\varrho}(f;x) - f(x) \right\} = \sum_{r=1}^2 c_r(x) \frac{f^{(r)}(x)}{r!} = c_1(x) \frac{f'(x)}{1!} + c_2(x) \frac{f''(x)}{2!}$$

where $c_r(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} n M_{n,r}^{\varrho}(x)$. By using Lemma 3.15.1 with l = 1 we get

$$c_1(x) = 0$$

$$c_2(x) = \frac{\varrho + 1}{\varrho} X,$$

and this concludes the proof.

Remark 3.15.4. As a consequence of Theorem 3.15.1 and Corollary 1.3.13 (ii) we deduce similarly that for $f \in C^{2l}[0,1]$,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^l \left\{ U_n^{\varrho}(f(t); x) - \sum_{k=0}^{2l-1} \frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!} M_{n,k}^{\varrho}(x) \right\} = \frac{(2l-1)!!}{(2l)!} \left(\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\right)^l X^l f^{(2l)}(x), l \ge 1.$$

From this we get also

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^{l} \left\{ U_{n}^{\varrho}(f(t);x) - \sum_{k=0}^{2l-2} \frac{f^{(k)}(x)}{k!} M_{n,k}^{\varrho}(x) \right\} = \frac{(2l-1)!!}{(2l)!} \left(\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\right)^{l} X^{l} f^{(2l)}(x) + X^{l-1} X' \frac{(l-1)!}{(2l-1)!} 2^{l-2} \frac{(\varrho+1)^{l-1}}{\varrho^{l}} (\varrho+2) \sum_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} f^{(2l-1)}(x)$$
(3.87)

$$= X^{l-1} \frac{(\varrho+1)^{l-1}}{\varrho^l(2l)!} \times \\ \times \left[(\varrho+1)X(2l-1)!!f^{(2l)}(x) + l(\varrho+2)X'(2l-2)!! \sum_{k=1}^{l-1} \frac{(2k-1)!!}{(2k-2)!!} f^{(2l-1)}(x) \right].$$

Remark 3.15.5. Another Voronovskaya-type result for U_n^{ϱ} can be determined from:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n \left[n(U_n^{\varrho}(f(t); x) - f(x)) - \frac{\varrho + 1}{2\varrho} X f''(x) \right] =$$

=
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n^2 \left[U_n^{\varrho}(f(t); x) f(x) - M_{n,2}^{\varrho}(x) \frac{f''(x)}{2} \right] + \frac{1}{2} \lim_{n \to \infty} n \left[n M_{n,2}^{\varrho}(x) - \frac{\varrho + 1}{\varrho} X \right] f''(x)$$

Thus by using (3.87) with l = 2 we get

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n \left[n(U_n^{\varrho}(f(t); x) - f(x)) - \frac{\varrho + 1}{2\varrho} X f''(x) \right] =$$

= $X \frac{\varrho + 1}{8\varrho^2} \left[(\varrho + 1) X f^{IV}(x) + \frac{2}{3} (\varrho + 2) X' f'''(x) - 4f''(x) \right].$

3.16 Power series of the operators U_n^{ϱ}

In [74] R. Păltănea defined power series of Bernstein operators (with *n* fixed) and studied their approximation behavior for functions defined on the space $C_0[0, 1] := \{f | f(x) = x(1-x)h(x), h \in C[0,1]\}$ to some extent. This article motivated a number of authors to study similar problems or give different proofs of Păltănea's main result. See [1], [2], [3], [84]. In this section we study power (geometric) series of the operators U_n^{ϱ} , thus bridging the gap between power series of Bernstein operators and such of the genuine operators U_n .

Our main results will concern the convergence of the series as n (the degree of the polynomials inside the series) tends to infinity. The first non-quantitative theorem will essentially use the eigenstructure of the U_n^{ϱ} presented in detail in Section 3.4. The second result describes the degree of convergence to the "inverse

Voronovskaya operators" $-A_{\varrho}^{-1}$ using a smoothing (K- functional) approach and makes use of exact representations of the moments.

The quantitative statement also holds in the limiting case of Bernstein operators, thus supplementing the original work of R. Păltănea.

As already shown in Section 3.4 the numbers

$$\lambda_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} := \frac{\varrho^{j} n!}{(n\varrho)^{\bar{j}} (n-j)!}, \quad j = 0, 1, ..., n,$$
(3.88)

are eigenvalues of U_n^{ϱ} . To each of them there corresponds a monic eigenpolynomial $p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}$ such that $deg \ p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} = j, \ j = 0, 1, ..., n$. In particular,

$$p_{\varrho,0}^{(n)}(x) = 1, p_{\varrho,1}^{(n)}(x) = x - \frac{1}{2}, x \in [0,1].$$
 (3.89)

From (3.28) we get

$$p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}(0) = p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}(1) = 0, j = 2, ..., n.$$
(3.90)

Obviously $U_n^{\varrho} f$ can be decomposed with respect to the basis $\{p_{\varrho,0}^{(n)}, p_{\varrho,1}^{(n)}, ..., p_{\varrho,n}^{(n)}\}$ of Π_n ; this allows us to introduce the dual functionals $\mu_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} : C[0,1] \to \mathbb{R}, j = 0, 1, ..., n$, by means of the formula

$$U_n^{\varrho}f = \sum_{j=0}^n \lambda_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} \mu_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}(f) p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}, f \in C[0,1].$$
(3.91)

In particular, since U_n^{ϱ} restricted to Π_n is bijective, we have

$$p = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \mu_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}(p) p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}, p \in \Pi_n.$$
(3.92)

Now consider the numbers

$$\lambda_{\varrho,j} := -\frac{\varrho+1}{2\varrho}(j-1)j, j = 0, 1, \dots$$
(3.93)

and the monic polynomials

$$p_0^*(x) = 1, p_1^*(x) = x - \frac{1}{2}, p_j^*(x) = x(x-1)P_{j-2}^{(1,1)}(2x-1), j \ge 2,$$
 (3.94)

where $P_i^{(1,1)}(x)$ are Jacobi polynomials, orthogonal with respect to the weight (1 - x)(1 + x) on $[-1, 1], i \ge 0$. Moreover, consider the linear functionals $\mu_j^* : C[0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$, defined as

$$\mu_0^*(f) = \frac{f(0) + f(1)}{2}, \\ \mu_1^*(f) = f(1) - f(0),$$
(3.95)

$$\mu_j^*(f) = \frac{1}{2} \binom{2j}{j} [(-1)^j f(0) + f(1) - j \int_0^1 f(x) P_{j-2}^{(1,1)}(2x-1) dx], j \ge 2.$$
(3.96)

It is easy to verify that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n(\lambda_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} - 1) = \lambda_{\varrho,j}, j \ge 0.$$
(3.97)

The following result can be found in [48].

Theorem 3.16.1. ([48]) *For each* $j \ge 0$ *we have*

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)} = p_j^*, \text{ uniformly on } [0,1],$$
(3.98)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mu_{\varrho, j}^{(n)}(p) = \mu_j^*(p), p \in \Pi.$$
(3.99)

3.16.1 The power series A_n^{ϱ}

Consider the space

$$C_0[0,1] := \{ f | f(x) = x(1-x)h(x), h \in C[0,1] \}.$$

For $f \in C_0[0, 1]$, f(x) = x(1 - x)h(x), define the norm

$$||f||_0 := ||h||_{\infty}.$$

Endowed with the norm $|| \cdot ||_0$, $C_0[0, 1]$ is a Banach space. Obviously,

$$||f||_{\infty} \le \frac{1}{4} ||f||_{0}, f \in C_{0}[0, 1].$$
 (3.100)

Lemma 3.16.2. As a linear operator on $(C_0[0,1], || \cdot ||_0), U_n^{\varrho}$ has the norm

$$||U_n^{\varrho}||_0 = \frac{(n-1)\varrho}{n\varrho+1} < 1.$$
(3.101)

Proof. Let $f \in C_0[0,1]$, f(x) = x(1-x)h(x), $h \in C[0,1]$. By straightforward computation we get $U_n^{\varrho}f(x) = x(1-x)u(x)$, where

$$u(x) = n(n-1) \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} \frac{\int\limits_{0}^{1} t^{k\varrho} (1-t)^{(n-k)\varrho} h(t) dt}{k(n-k)B(k\varrho, (n-k)\varrho)} p_{n-2,k-1}(x).$$

It follows immediately that $U_n^{\varrho} f \in C_0[0,1]$ and

$$||U_n^{\varrho}f||_0 = ||u||_{\infty} \le \frac{(n-1)\varrho}{n\varrho+1}||h||_{\infty} = \frac{(n-1)\varrho}{n\varrho+1}||f||_0.$$

Thus

$$||U_n^{\varrho}||_0 \le \frac{(n-1)\varrho}{n\varrho+1}.$$
(3.102)

On the other hand, let $g(x) = x(1-x), x \in [0,1]$. Then $||g||_0 = 1$ and $U_n^{\varrho}g(x) = x(1-x)\frac{(n-1)\varrho}{n\varrho+1}$, which entails $||U_n^{\varrho}g||_0 = \frac{(n-1)\varrho}{n\varrho+1}$ and so

$$||U_n^{\varrho}||_0 \ge \frac{(n-1)\varrho}{n\varrho+1}.$$
 (3.103)

Now (3.101) is a consequence of (3.102) and (3.103).

According to Lemma 3.16.2, it is possible to consider the operator $A_n^{\varrho} : C_0[0,1] \to C_0[0,1]$,

$$A_{n}^{\varrho} := \frac{\varrho}{n\varrho + 1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (U_{n}^{\varrho})^{k}, n \ge 1.$$
(3.104)

For later purposes we also introduce the notation

$$A_n^{\infty} := \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (B_n)^k, \ n \ge 1,$$

in order to have Păltănea's power series included. By using (3.101) we get $||A_n^{\varrho}||_0 \le \frac{\varrho}{\varrho+1}$, and with the same function g(x) = x(1-x) we find

$$||A_n^{\varrho}||_0 = \frac{\varrho}{\varrho+1}, n \ge 1.$$
 (3.105)

Let $p \in \Pi_m \cap C_0[0,1]$, i.e., p(0) = p(1) = 0. Then $m \ge 2$. Let $n \ge m$. From (3.89), (3.90) and (3.92) we derive

$$p = \sum_{j=2}^{m} \mu_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}(p) p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}$$

and, moreover,

$$(U_n^{\varrho})^k p = \sum_{j=2}^m (\lambda_{\varrho,j}^{(n)})^k \mu_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}(p) p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}, k \ge 0, \text{ for all } n \ge m.$$

According to (3.104), for all $p \in \Pi_m \cap C_0[0, 1]$ and $n \ge m$,

$$A_{n}^{\varrho}p = \frac{\varrho}{n\varrho+1}\sum_{j=2}^{m}\frac{1}{1-\lambda_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}}\mu_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}(p)p_{\varrho,j}^{(n)}.$$

By using (3.97), (3.98) and (3.99) we get

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} A_n^{\varrho} p = \frac{\varrho}{\varrho + 1} \sum_{j=2}^m \frac{2}{j(j-1)} \mu_j^*(p) p_j^*,$$
(3.106)

uniformly on [0, 1], for all $p \in \Pi_m \cap C_0[0, 1]$.

3.16.2 The Voronovskaya operator A_{ϱ}

It was proved in [46, p. 918] that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} n(U_n^{\varrho}g(x) - g(x)) = \frac{\varrho + 1}{2\varrho} x(1 - x)g''(x), g \in C^2[0, 1],$$

uniformly on [0, 1]. We need the following result.

Theorem 3.16.3. *The operator* $\{y \in C^2[0,1] | y(0) = y(1) = 0\} \rightarrow C_0[0,1]$ *defined by*

$$A_{\varrho}y(x) := \frac{\varrho+1}{2\varrho}x(1-x)y''(x), x \in [0,1],$$

is bijective, and

$$||A_{\varrho}^{-1}f||_{\infty} \le \frac{\varrho}{4(\varrho+1)}||f||_{0}, f \in C_{0}[0,1].$$
(3.107)

Proof. Obviously A_{ϱ} is injective. To prove the surjectivity, let $f \in C_0[0,1]$, f(x) = x(1-x)h(x), $h \in C[0,1]$. It is a matter of calculus to verify that the function

$$-\frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1}F_{\infty}(h;x) = y(x) := -\frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1} \left[(1-x)\int_{0}^{x} th(t)dt + x\int_{x}^{1} (1-t)h(t)dt \right], x \in [0,1],$$

is in $C^2[0,1]$, y(0) = y(1) = 0, and $A_{\varrho}y = f$. Therefore A_{ϱ} is bijective. Moreover, for $x \in [0,1]$, $y = A_{\varrho}^{-1}(f) \Rightarrow -y(x) = -A_{\varrho}^{-1}(f;x) = +\frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1}F_{\infty}(h;x)$

$$\begin{aligned} |A_{\varrho}^{-1}f(x)| &\leq \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1} \left[(1-x) \int_{0}^{x} t dt + x \int_{x}^{1} (1-t) dt \right] ||h||_{\infty} \\ &= \frac{\varrho}{\varrho+1} x (1-x) ||h||_{\infty} \leq \frac{\varrho}{4(\varrho+1)} ||f||_{0}, \end{aligned}$$

and this leads to (3.107).

Remark 3.16.4. *Further below we will use the notations* $\Psi(x) = x(1-x)$ *, and*

$$-A_{\infty}^{-1}(\Psi h) := 2 \cdot F_{\infty}(h), \ h \in C[0,1],$$

in order to also cover the Bernstein case.

Another useful result reads as follows.

Lemma 3.16.5. *For all* $p \in \Pi \cap C_0[0, 1]$ *we have*

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} A_n^{\varrho} p = -A_{\varrho}^{-1} p, \qquad (3.108)$$

uniformly on [0, 1].

Proof. The polynomials p_i^* from (3.94) satisfy

$$x(1-x)(p_j^*)''(x) = -j(j-1)p_j^*(x), x \in [0,1], j \ge 0$$

(see, e.g., [18, p.155]). This yields $A_{\varrho}p_{j}^{*} = -\frac{\varrho+1}{2\varrho}j(j-1)p_{j}^{*}, j \ge 0$, and, moreover,

$$A_{\varrho}\left(\sum_{j=2}^{m}\frac{2}{j(j-1)}\mu_{j}^{*}(p)p_{j}^{*}\right) = -\frac{\varrho+1}{\varrho}\sum_{j=2}^{m}\mu_{j}^{*}(p)p_{j}^{*}$$
(3.109)

for all $p \in \Pi_m \cap C_0[0, 1]$. According to ([18, (4.18)]), $\sum_{j=2}^m \mu_j^*(p) p_j^* = p$, so that (3.109) yields

$$\frac{\varrho}{\varrho+1}\sum_{j=2}^{m}\frac{2}{j(j-1)}\mu_{j}^{*}(p)p_{j}^{*}=-A_{\varrho}^{-1}p,$$
(3.110)

for all $p \in \Pi_m \cap C_0[0, 1]$. Now (3.108) is a consequence of (3.106) and (3.110).

3.16.3 The convergence of A_n^{ϱ} on $C_0[0, 1]$

The main result of the section is contained in

Theorem 3.16.6. *For all* $f \in C_0[0, 1]$ *,*

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}A_n^\varrho f=-A_\varrho^{-1}f,$$

uniformly on [0, 1].

Proof. Let $f \in C_0[0,1]$, f(x) = x(1-x)h(x), $h \in C[0,1]$. Consider the polynomials $p_i(x) := x(1-x)B_ih(x)$, where B_i are the classical Bernstein operators, $i \ge 1$. Then $p_i \in C_0[0,1]$, $i \ge 1$, and $\lim_{i\to\infty} ||p_i - f||_0 = \lim_{i\to\infty} ||B_ih - h||_{\infty} = 0$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and fix $i \ge 1$ such that

$$||p_i - f||_0 \le \frac{2\varrho + 2}{3\varrho + 2}\varepsilon.$$

$$(3.111)$$

Then, according to Lemma 3.16.5, there exists n_{ε} such that

$$||A_n^{\varrho}p_i + A_{\varrho}^{-1}p_i||_{\infty} \le \frac{2\varrho+2}{3\varrho+2}\varepsilon, n \ge n_{\varepsilon}.$$
(3.112)

Now using (3.100) and (3.105) we infer

$$||A_n^{\varrho}f - A_n^{\varrho}p_i||_{\infty} \leq \frac{1}{4}||A_n^{\varrho}f - A_n^{\varrho}p_i||_0 \leq \frac{1}{4}||A_n^{\varrho}||_0||f - p_i||_0 \leq \frac{\varrho}{4(\varrho+1)}\frac{2\varrho+2}{3\varrho+2}\varepsilon,$$

so that

$$||A_n^{\varrho}f - A_n^{\varrho}p_i||_{\infty} \le \frac{\varrho}{2(3\varrho+2)}\varepsilon.$$
(3.113)

On the other hand, (3.107) and (3.111) yield

$$||A_{\varrho}^{-1}f - A_{\varrho}^{-1}p_{i}||_{\infty} \le \frac{\varrho}{4(\varrho+1)}||f - p_{i}||_{0} \le \frac{\varrho}{2(3\varrho+2)}\varepsilon.$$
(3.114)

Finally, using (3.112), (3.113) and (3.114) we obtain, for all $n \ge n_{\varepsilon}$, $||A_n^{\varrho}f + A_{\varrho}^{-1}f||_{\infty} \le ||A_n^{\varrho}f - A_n^{\varrho}p_i||_{\infty} + ||A_n^{\varrho}p_i + A_{\varrho}^{-1}p_i||_{\infty} + ||A_{\varrho}^{-1}f - A_{\varrho}^{-1}p_i||_{\infty} \le \varepsilon$, and this concludes the proof.

On $(C[0,1], ||\cdot||_{\infty})$ consider the linear operator $H_n^{\varrho} := A_n^{\varrho} - (-A_{\varrho}^{-1})$ given by

$$C[0,1] \ni h \mapsto A_n^{\varrho}(\Psi h; x) = \frac{\varrho}{n\varrho + 1} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (U_n^{\varrho})^k (\Psi h; x) \in C_0[0,1]$$

$$C[0,1] \ni h \mapsto -A_{\varrho}^{-1}(\Psi h; x) = \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho + 1} \left[(1-x) \int_0^x th(t) dt + x \int_x^1 (1-t)h(t) dt \right]$$

$$= \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho + 1} F_{\infty}(h; x) \in C_0[0,1]$$

Theorem 3.16.7. Let $h \in C[0,1], \varrho > 0, n \ge \frac{4\varrho+6}{\varrho}, \varepsilon = \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+2}{n\varrho+2}} \le \frac{1}{2}$ and $\Psi(x) = x(1-x)$. Then

$$|H_n^{\varrho}(h;x)| \leq \Psi(x) \left[\frac{2\varrho}{3(\varrho+1)} \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+2}{n\varrho+2}} \omega_1(h;\varepsilon) + + \frac{3}{4} \left(\frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1} + \frac{2\varrho}{3(\varrho+1)} \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+2}{n\varrho+2}} + \frac{7(\varrho+3)}{6(\varrho+1)} \right) \omega_2(h;\varepsilon) \right].$$

$$(3.115)$$

Proof. Let $h \in C[0, 1]$ be fixed, and $g \in C^2[0, 1]$ be arbitrary. Then $|H_n^{\varrho}(h; x)| \le |H_n^{\varrho}(h - g; x)| + |H_n^{\varrho}(g; x)| = |E_1| + |E_2|$. Here

$$\begin{aligned} |E_{1}| &= |A_{n}^{\varrho}(\Psi(h-g);x) - (-A_{\varrho}^{-1}(\Psi(h-g);x))| \\ &= |A_{n}^{\varrho}(\Psi(h-g);x) - \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1}F_{\infty}(h-g;x)| \\ &\leq ||h-g||_{\infty}A_{n}^{\varrho}(\Psi;x) + \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1}|F_{\infty}(h-g;x)| \\ &= ||h-g||_{\infty}\frac{\varrho}{\varrho+1}\Psi(x) + \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1}||h-g||_{\infty}\frac{1}{2}\Psi(x) \\ &= \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1}\Psi(x)|h-g||_{\infty} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$|E_2| = |A_n^{\varrho}(\Psi g; x) - (-A_{\varrho}^{-1}(\Psi g; x))|.$$

For $g \in C^2[0,1]$ one has $F_{\infty} := F_{\infty}(g) \in C^4[0,1]$, $F''_{\infty} = -g$, $F'''_{\infty} = -g'$, $F^{(4)}_{\infty} = -g''$. Moreover, by Taylor's formula we obtain for any points $y, t \in [0,1]$:

$$F_{\infty}(t) = F_{\infty}(y) + F_{\infty}'(y)(t-y) + \frac{1}{2}F_{\infty}''(y)(t-y)^2 + \frac{1}{6}F_{\infty}'''(y)(t-y)^3 + \Theta_y(t) \quad (3.116)$$

where

$$\Theta_y(t) := \frac{1}{6} \int_y^t (t-u)^3 F_{\infty}^{(4)}(u) du$$

Fix *y* and consider (3.116) as an equality between two functions in the variable *t*. Applying to this equality the operator $U_n^{\varrho}(\cdot, y)$ one arrives at

$$\begin{aligned} U_n^{\varrho}(F_{\infty}, y) &= F_{\infty}(y) + \frac{1}{2} F_{\infty}''(y) U_n^{\varrho}((t-y)^2; y) + \frac{1}{6} F_{\infty}'''(y) U_n^{\varrho}((t-y)^3; y) + U_n^{\varrho}(\Theta_y; y) \\ &= F_{\infty}(y) - \frac{1}{2} g(y) U_n^{\varrho}((t-y)^2; y) - \frac{1}{6} g'(y)(y) U_n^{\varrho}((t-y)^3; y) + U_n^{\varrho}(\Theta_y; y). \end{aligned}$$

This implies

$$\frac{1}{2}g(y)U_n^{\varrho}((e_1-y)^2;y) - F_{\infty}(y) + U_n^{\varrho}(F_{\infty},y) = -\frac{1}{6}g'(y)U_n^{\varrho}((e_1-y)^3;y) + U_n^{\varrho}(\Theta_y;y).$$

In the above equality we rewrite the left hand side as $\frac{1}{2}g(y)U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - y)^2; y) - (I - U_n^{\varrho})(F_{\infty}, y)$. Thus we have

$$g(y)U_n^{\varrho}((e_1-y)^2;y) - 2(I-U_n^{\varrho})(F_{\infty},y) = -\frac{1}{3}g'(y)(y)U_n^{\varrho}((e_1-y)^3;y) + 2U_n^{\varrho}(\Theta_y;y).$$

Application of A_n^{ϱ} yields

$$A_{n}^{\varrho}(g(\cdot)U_{n}^{\varrho}((e_{1}-\cdot)^{2};\cdot);x) - 2A_{n}^{\varrho} \circ (I-U_{n}^{\varrho})(F_{\infty},x) = -\frac{1}{3}A_{n}^{\varrho}(g'(\cdot)U_{n}^{\varrho}((e_{1}-\cdot)^{3};\cdot);x) + 2A_{n}^{\varrho}(Q;x)$$
(3.117)

where $Q(y) := U_n^{\varrho}(\Theta_y; y)$. Note that the first five moments are given by Corollary 3.3.2. In the above expression we have $2A_n^{\varrho} \circ (I - U_n^{\varrho})(F_{\infty}, x) = \frac{2\varrho}{n\varrho + 1}F_{\infty}(x) = \frac{2\varrho}{n\varrho + 1}F_{\infty}(g; x)$. Also $A_n^{\varrho}(g(\cdot)U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - \cdot)^2; \cdot); x) = A_n^{\varrho}(g(\cdot)\frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1}\Psi(\cdot); x) = \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1}A_n^{\varrho}(\Psi g; x)$. Hence (3.117) can be written as

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\varrho + 1}{n\varrho + 1} A_n^{\varrho}(\Psi g; x) - \frac{2\varrho}{n\varrho + 1} F_{\infty}(g; x) \right| \\ &= \left| -\frac{1}{3} g'(\cdot) U_n^{\varrho}(((e_1 - \cdot)^3; \cdot); x) - 2A_n^{\varrho}(Q; x) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{3} \left| A_n^{\varrho} \left(\frac{(\varrho + 1)(\varrho + 2)}{(n\varrho + 1)(n\varrho + 2)} \Psi'(\cdot) \Psi(\cdot); x \right) \right| + |2A_n^{\varrho}(Q; x)| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{3} \frac{(\varrho + 1)(\varrho + 2)}{(n\varrho + 1)(n\varrho + 2)} ||g'||_{\infty} \frac{\varrho}{\varrho + 1} \Psi(x) + |2A_n^{\varrho}(Q; x)|. \end{aligned}$$

Multiplying the outermost sides of the latter inequality by $\frac{n\varrho+1}{\varrho+1}$ gives

$$\begin{aligned} |E_2| &= \left| A_n^{\varrho}(\Psi g; x) - \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1} F_{\infty}(g; x) \right| \\ &\leq \left| \frac{\varrho(\varrho+2)}{3(n\varrho+2)(\varrho+1)} \Psi(x) ||g'||_{\infty} + 2\frac{n\varrho+1}{\varrho+1} |A_n^{\varrho}(Q; x)|. \end{aligned}$$

In the last summand we have $Q(y) = U_n^{\varrho}(\Theta_y; y)$ thus

$$\begin{aligned} |U_n^{\varrho}(\Theta_y; y)| &\leq \quad \frac{1}{6} U_n^{\varrho}((e_1 - y)^4; y) ||g''||_{\infty} \\ &\leq \quad \frac{1}{6} \cdot \frac{7}{4} \cdot \frac{(\varrho + 1)(\varrho + 2)(\varrho + 3)}{\varrho(n\varrho + 1)(n\varrho + 2)} \Psi(y) ||g''||_{\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{2(n\varrho+1)}{\varrho+1} |A_n^{\varrho}(Q;x)| &\leq \frac{2(n\varrho+1)}{\varrho+1} \cdot \frac{7}{24} \cdot \frac{(\varrho+1)(\varrho+2)(\varrho+3)}{\varrho(n\varrho+1)(n\varrho+2)} A_n^{\varrho}(\Psi;x) ||g''||_{\infty} \\ &= \frac{7}{12} \cdot \frac{(\varrho+2)(\varrho+3)}{(\varrho+1)(n\varrho+2)} \Psi(x) ||g''||_{\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

This leads to

$$\begin{aligned} |E_2| &\leq \frac{\varrho(\varrho+2)}{3(n\varrho+2)(\varrho+1)} \Psi(x) ||g'||_{\infty} + \frac{7}{12} \cdot \frac{(\varrho+2)(\varrho+3)}{(\varrho+1)(n\varrho+2)} \Psi(x) ||g''||_{\infty} \\ &= \frac{(\varrho+2)}{3(n\varrho+2)(\varrho+1)} \Psi(x) \left\{ \varrho ||g'||_{\infty} + \frac{7}{4}(\varrho+3) ||g''||_{\infty} \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence for $h \in C[0,1]$ fixed, $g \in C^2[0,1]$ arbitrary we have

$$|H_n^{\varrho}(h;x)| = |E_1| + |E_2|$$

$$\leq \frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1}\Psi(x)||h-g||_{\infty} + \frac{(\varrho+2)}{3(n\varrho+2)(\varrho+1)}\Psi(x)\left\{\varrho||g'||_{\infty} + \frac{7}{4}(\varrho+3)||g''||_{\infty}\right\}$$

Next we choose $g = h_{\varepsilon}$, $0 < \varepsilon = \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+2}{n\varrho+2}} \le \frac{1}{2}$ and by applying Lemmas 1.1.14 and 1.1.15 we obtain

$$\begin{split} ||h-g||_{\infty} &\leq \frac{3}{4}\omega_{2}(h;\varepsilon) \\ ||g'|| &\leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon}[2\omega_{1}(h;\varepsilon) + \frac{3}{2}\omega_{2}(h;\varepsilon)] \\ ||g''|| &\leq \frac{3}{2\varepsilon^{2}}\omega_{2}(h;\varepsilon). \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} |H_n^{\varrho}(h;x)| &\leq \Psi(x) \left[\frac{2\varrho}{3(\varrho+1)} \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+2}{n\varrho+2}} \omega_1(h;\varepsilon) + \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{3}{4} \left(\frac{2\varrho}{\varrho+1} + \frac{2\varrho}{3(\varrho+1)} \sqrt{\frac{\varrho+2}{n\varrho+2}} + \frac{7(\varrho+3)}{6(\varrho+1)} \right) \omega_2(h;\varepsilon) \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Remark 3.16.8. *If we let* $1 \le \rho \rightarrow \infty$ *, then for all* $n \ge 10$

$$\begin{split} \lim_{\varrho \to \infty} |H_n^{\varrho}(h;x)| &= \lim_{\varrho \to \infty} |A_n^{\varrho}(\Psi h;x) - (-A_{\varrho}^{-1})(\Psi h;x)| \\ &= |A_n^{\infty}(\Psi h;x) - (-A_{\infty}^{-1})(\Psi h;x)| \\ &\leq 3\Psi(x) \left[\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\omega_1\left(h;\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\right) + \omega_2\left(h;\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\right)\right] \end{split}$$

This is a quantitative form of Păltănea's convergence result in [74, Theorem 3.2].

].

Bibliography

- U. Abel: Geometric series of Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators, *East J. Approx.* 15 (2009), 439-450.
- [2] U. Abel, M. Ivan, R. Păltănea: Geometric series of Bernstein operators revisited, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* **400** (2013), 22-24.
- [3] U. Abel, M. Ivan, R. Păltănea: Geometric series of positive linear operators and inverse Voronovskaya theorem, arxiv:1304.5721, 21 Apr. 2013.
- [4] U. Abel, V. Gupta, R.N. Mohapatra: Local approximation by Beta operators, *Nonlinear Analysis* **62** (2005), 41-52.
- [5] J.A. Adell, F. G. Badia, J. de la Cal, F. Plo: On the property of monotonic convergence for Beta operators, J. Approx. Theory 84 (1996), 61-73.
- [6] F. Altomare, M. Campiti: *Korovkin-type Approximation Theory and its Applications*. Berlin, New York: Walter de Gruyter 1994.
- [7] G. Anastassiou, C. Cottin, H. Gonska: Global smoothness of approximating functions, *Analysis* 11 (1991), 43-57.
- [8] G. Anastassiou, S. Gal: *Approximation Theory, Moduli of Continuity and Global Smoothness Preservation.* Boston: Birkhäuser 2000.
- [9] O. Aramă: Proprietăți privind monotonia şirului polinoamelor de interpolare ale lui S.N. Bernstein şi aplicarea lor la studiul aproximării funcțiilor. Acad. R.P.Rom.Fil. Cluj, Cerc. mat.8 (1957), 195-210. (this article has appeared in Russian translation [Mathematica 2 (25) 25-40 (1960)].)
- [10] A. Attalienti, I. Raşa: Total Positivity: an application to positive linear operators and to their limiting semigroup, *Anal. Numer. Theor. Approx.* **36** (2007), 51 66.
- [11] A. Attalienti, I. Raşa: Overiterated linear operators and asymptotic behavior of semigroups, *Mediterr. J. Math.* **5** (2008), 315-324.
- [12] S.N. Bernstein: Démonstration du théorème de Weierstrass fondée sur le calcul des probabilités, *Comm. Soc. Math. Kharkow* 13 (1912/13), 1-2. [Also appears in Russian translation in Bernstein's Collected Works].
- [13] H. Bohman: On approximation of continuous and of analytic functions, Ark. Mat. 2 (1952), 43-56.
- [14] P.L. Butzer, H. Berens: Semi-groups of operators and Approximation. Berlin-Heidelberg-New- York: Springer Verlag 1967.

- [15] G. Călugăreanu: On the S. N. Bernstein polynomials. The operator spectrum. (Romanian) *Gaz. Mat.*, seria A, vol.71, nr. 12 (1966), 448-451.
- [16] W. Chen: On the modified Durrmeyer-Bernstein operator. In: *Report of the Fifth Chinese Conference on Approximation Theory*, Zhen Zhou, China, 1987.
- [17] H. Comptet: Advanced Combinatorics the art of finite and infinite expansions. Dordrecht: Reidel 1974.
- [18] S. Cooper, S. Waldron: The eigenstructure of the Bernstein operator, J. Approx. Theory 105 (2000), 133-165.
- [19] C. Cottin, H. Gonska: Simultaneous approximation and global smoothness preservation, *Rend. Circ. Mat. Palermo* (2) Suppl. 33 (1993), 259-279.
- [20] P. J. Davis: Interpolation and Approximation, Dover, New York, 1975.
- [21] R.A. DeVore, G.G. Lorentz, Constructive Approximation, vol. 303. Springer-Verlag: Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1993.
- [22] Z. Ditzian, K.G. Ivanov: Strong converse inequalities, J. Anal. Math. 61 (1993), 61-111.
- [23] Z. Ditzian, V. Totik: *Moduli of Smoothness*. Springer-Verlag: New York-Berlin-Heidelberg-London, 1987.
- [24] V.K. Dzjadyk: Introduction to the theory of uniform approximation of functions by polynomials (Russian), Moscow: Izdat. Nauka 1977.
- [25] J.L. Durrmeyer: Une formule d'inversion de la transformée de Laplace: Application à la théorie des moments, Thèse de 3e cycle, Faculté des Scieces de l'Université de Paris, 1967.
- [26] Z. Finta: Direct and converse results for Stancu operator, *Periodica Mathematica Hungarica* **44** (2001), 1-7.
- [27] Z. Finta: Quantitative estimates for some linear and positive operators, *Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai*, Mathematica 47 (2002), 71-84.
- [28] Z. Finta: Direct and converse theorems for generalized Bernstein type operators, *Serdica Math. J.* 30 (2004), 33-42.
- [29] I. Gavrea, H. Gonska, D. Kacsó: On the variation-diminishing property, *Result. Math.* 33 (1998), 96-105.
- [30] T.N.T. Goodman, A. Sharma: A modified Bernstein-Schoenberg operator. In: Proc. of the Conference on Constructive Theory of Functions, Varna 1987 (ed. by Bl. Sendov et al.), 166–173. Sofia: Publ. House Bulg. Acad. of Sci. 1988.
- [31] T.N.T. Goodman, A. Sharma: A Bernstein-type operator on the Simplex, *Math. Balkanica* **5** (1991), 129-145.
- [32] H. Gonska: Quantitative Aussagen zur Approximation durch positive lineare Operatoren, Ph. D. Thesis, Duisburg: Universität Duisburg 1979.
- [33] H. Gonska: Quantitative Korovkin-type theorems on simultaneous approximation, Math. Z. 186 (1984), 419-433.
- [34] H. Gonska: Degree of approximation by lacunary interpolants: (0, ..., *R* − 2, *R*) interpolation, *Rocky Mountain J. Math* **19** (1989), 157-171.
- [35] H. Gonska: The rate of convergence of bounded linear processes on spaces of continuous functions, *Automat. Comput. Appl. Math.* 7 (1998), 38-97.
- [36] H. Gonska: On the composition and decomposition of positive linear operators. In: *Approximation Theory and its Applications* (Pr. Inst. Mat. Nats. Akad. Nauk Ukr. Mat. Zastos., 31. Kiev. 1999). Kiev: Natsional. Akad. Nauk Ukraïni, Inst. Mat. 2000, 161-180.
- [37] H. Gonska, M. Heilmann, A. Lupaş, I. Raşa: On the composition and decomposition of positive linear operators III: A non-trivial decomposition of the Bernstein operator. arXiv: 1204.2723 (2012).
- [38] H. Gonska, R.K. Kovacheva: The second order modulus revisited: remarks, applications, problems, *Conferenze del seminario di matematica dell'universita di Bari* **257** (1994).
- [39] H. Gonska, D. Kacsó, I. Raşa: On genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators, *Result. Math.* 50 (2007), 213-225.
- [40] H. Gonska, D. Kacsó, I. Raşa: The genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators revisited, *Results. Math.* 62 (2012), 295-310.
- [41] H. Gonska, J. Meier-Gonska: A bibliography on approximation of functions by Bernstein-type operators (1955-1982). Approximation theory IV, College Station, Tex., (1983), 739-785, Academic Press, New York, 1983.
- [42] H. Gonska, J. Meier-Gonska: A bibliography on approximation of functions by Bernstein-type operators (supplement 1986). Approximation theory V, Proc. 5th Int. Symp., College Station/Tex. (1986), 621-654.
- [43] H. Gonska, P. Piţul, I. Raşa: On differences of positive linear operators, *Carpathian J. Math.* 22 (2006), 65-78.
- [44] H. Gonska, P. Piţul, I. Raşa: On Peano's form of the Taylor remainder, Voronovskaja's theorem and the commutator of positive linear operators. In: *Numerical Analysis and Approximation Theory* (Proc. Int. Conf. NAAT 2006, ed. by O. Agratini and P. Blaga), 55-80, Cluj-Napoca: Casa Cărţii de Ştiinţă 2006.
- [45] H. Gonska, R. Păltănea: Simultaneous approximation by a class of Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators preserving linear functions, *Czechoslovak Math. J.* 60 (2010), 783-799.
- [46] H. Gonska, R. Păltănea: Quantitative convergence theorems for a class of Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators preserving linear functions, *Ukrainian Math. J.* 62 (2010), 913-922.

- [47] H. Gonska, I. Raşa: On the composition and decomposition of positive linear operators (II), *Stud. Sci. Math. Hung.* **47** (2010), 948 461.
- [48] H. Gonska, I. Raşa, E.D. Stănilă: The eigenstructure of operators linking the Bernstein and the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators, *Mediterr. J. Math.* (2013), DOI: 10.1007/s00009-013-0347-0
- [49] H. Gonska, I. Raşa, E.D. Stănilă: Power series of the operators U_n^{ϱ} , arXiv: 1402.3216 (2014).
- [50] H. Gonska, I. Raşa, E.D. Stănilă: Beta operators with Jacobi weights, arXiv: 1402.3485 (2014).
- [51] H. Gonska, I. Raşa, E.D. Stănilă: Lagrange-type operators associated with U_n^{ϱ} , arXiv: 1402.5040 (2014).
- [52] H. Gonska, X.-L. Zhou: Approximation theorems for the iterated Boolean sums of Bernstein operators, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 53 (1994), 21-31.
- [53] D. Jackson: Über die Genauigkeit der Annäherung stetiger Funktionen durch ganze rationale Funktionen gegebenen Grades und trigonometrische Summen gegebener Ordnung, Ph.D. Thesis, Göttingen: Georg-August-Univ. Göttingen 1911.
- [54] H. Johnen: Inequalities connected with moduli of smoothness, Mat. Vesnik 9 (1972), 289-303.
- [55] D. Kacsó: Certain Bernstein-Durrmeyer type operators preserving linear functions. Habilitationsschrift, University of Duisburg-Essen 2006. Schriftenreihe des Fachbereichs Mathematik, University of Duisburg-Essen, SM-DU-675.
- [56] D. Kacsó: Estimates for iterates of positive linear operators preserving linear functions, *Result. Math.* 54 (2009), 85-101.
- [57] D. Kacsó, E.D. Stănilă: On the class of operators U_n^{ϱ} linking the Bernstein and the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators, *J. Appl. Funct. Anal.*, **9** (2014), 335-348.
- [58] S. Karlin: Total Positivity Vol. I. Stanford: Stanford University Press, 1968.
- [59] H.B. Knoop, X.L. Zhou: The lower estimate for linear positive operators (II), *Results in Mathematics* 25 (1994), 315-330.
- [60] N.P. Korneičuk: On best constants in Jackson's inequality for continuous periodic functions (Russian), *Mat. Zametki* 32 (1982), 669-674.
- [61] P.P. Korovkin: Convergence of positive linear operators in the space of continuous functions, (Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR 90 (1953), 961-964.
- [62] A. Lupaş: *Die Folge der Betaoperatoren*, Ph.D. Thesis, Stuttgart: Universität Stuttgart 1972.

- [63] A. Lupaş: The approximation by means of some linear positive operators. In *Approximation Theory* (M.W. Müller et al., eds.), 201-227, Berlin: Akademie-Verlag 1995.
- [64] A. Lupaş, L. Lupaş: Polynomials of binomial type and approximation operators, *Studia Univ. Babeş-Bolyai*, *Mathematica XXXII* 4, 1987.
- [65] D.H. Mache, D.X. Zhou: Characterization theorems for the approximation by a family of operators, J. Approx. Theory 84 (1996), 145-161.
- [66] R.G. Mamedov: The asymptotic value of the approximation of multiply differentiable functions by positive linear operators. (Russian) *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR* 146 (1962), 1013-1016.
- [67] G. Mastroianni, G. V. Milovanovic,: Interpolation Processes. Basic Theory and Applications, Springer, 2008.
- [68] G. Mastroianni, M. R. Occorsio: Una generalizzazione dell'operatore di Bernstein, Rend. Accad. Sci. Mat. Fis. Nat. Napoli, Serie IV, 44 (1977), 151-169.
- [69] G. Mastroianni, M. R. Occorsio: Una generalizzazione dell'operatore di Stancu. *Rend. Accad. Sci. Mat. Fis. Mat. Napoli*, Serie IV, 45 (1978), 495-511.
- [70] B. Mitjagin, E. Semenov: Lack of interpolation of linear operators in spaces of smooth functions, *Math. USSR–Izv.* **11** (1977), 1229–1266.
- [71] G. Mühlbach: Rekursionsformeln für die zentralen Momente der Pólya und der Beta-Verteilung, Metrika 19 (1972), 171-177.
- [72] P.E. Parvanov, B.D. Popov: The limit case of Bernstein's operators with Jacobiweights, *Mathematica Balkanica*, New series Vol. 8, 1994, Fasc.2-3.
- [73] R. Păltănea, Sur un opérateur polynomial défini sur l'ensemble des fonctions intégrables. In: *Babeş-Bolyai Univ., Faculty of Math., Research Seminar*, 1983, Vol. 2, pp. 101-106.
- [74] R. Păltănea: The power series of Bernstein operators, Autom. Comput. Appl. Math. 15 (2006), 247-253.
- [75] R. Păltănea: A class of Durrmeyer type operators preserving linear functions, Ann. Tiberiu Popoviciu Sem. Funct. Equat. Approxim. Convex. (Cluj-Napoca) 5 (2007), 109-117.
- [76] R. Păltănea: Representation of the *K* functional $K(f, C[a, b], C_1[a, b], \cdot)$ a new approach, *Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Braşov*, Vol 3, **52** (2010), Series III: Mathematics, Informatics, Physics, 93-100.
- [77] J. Peetre: A theory of interpolation of normed spaces. In: Noteas de mathematica 39, Rio de Janeiro: Instituto de Mathemática Pura e Applicada, Conselho Nacional de Pesquidas, 1968.
- [78] P. Piţul: Evaluation of the approximation order by positive linear operators, Ph.D. Thesis, Cluj-Napoca: Babeş-Bolyai University 2007.

- [79] T. Popoviciu: Notes sur les fonctions convexes d'ordre supérieure IX. Inégalités linéaires et bilinéaires entre les functions convexes. Quelques généralisations d'une inégalité de Tchebycheff, *Bull. Math. Soc. Roumanie Sci.* 43 (1941), 85-141.
- [80] T. Popoviciu: Asupra demonstrației teoremei lui Weierstrass cu ajutorul polinoamelor de interpolare, Lucrările Sesiunii Generale Științifice, Acad. RPR, 1950, 1664-1667.
- [81] E. Popoviciu: Teoreme de Medie din Analiza Matematică și Legatura lor cu Teoria Interpolării, Editura Dacia, Cluj, 1972.
- [82] I. Raşa: Sur les fonctionnelles de la forme simple au sens de T. Popoviciu, Anal. Numer. Theor. Approx. 9 (1980), 261-268.
- [83] I. Raşa: C₀ semigroups and iterates of positive linear operators: asymptotic behaviour, *Rendiconti del Circolo Matematico di Palermo*, Ser. II, Suppl. 82 (2010),123-142.
- [84] I. Raşa: Power series of Bernstein operators and approximation of resolvents, Mediterr. J. Math. 9 (2012), 635-644.
- [85] I. Raşa, E.D. Stănilă: On some operators linking the Bernstein and the genuine Bernstein-Durrmeyer operators, J. Appl. Funct. Anal., 9 (2014), 369-378.
- [86] I. Raşa, T. Vladislav: Analiza Numerică. Aproximare, problema lui Cauchy abstractă, proiectori Altomare, Ed. Tehnica, Bucureşti 1999.
- [87] R.T. Rockafellar: Convex Analysis. Princeton: Pricenton University Press, 1970.
- [88] I. J. Schoenberg: On variation diminishing approximation methods. In: On Numerical Approximation, pp. 249-274. Madison, Wisconsin: Univ. of Wisconsin Press, 1959.
- [89] I. J. Schoenberg: On spline functions. In: "Inequalities" (Proc. Sympos. Wright-Patterson Air Force Base Ohio 1965; ed. by O. Shisha), 255-291. New York: Acad Press 1967.
- [90] L. Schumaker: Spline functions: Basic theory. New-York: John Wiley & Sons, 1981.
- [91] P.C. Sikkema: On some linear positive operators, *Indag. Math.* **32** (1970), 327-337.
- [92] P.C. Sikkema: Über die Schurerschen linearen positiven Operatoren. I. (German) Nederl. Akad. Wetensch. Proc. Ser. A 78 = Indag. Math. 37 (1975), 230-242.
- [93] D.D. Stancu: On the monotonicity of the sequence formed by the first order derivatives of the Bernstein pollynomials, *Math. Zeitschr.* **98** (1967), 46-51.
- [94] D.D. Stancu: Approximation of functions by a new class of linear polynomial operators, *Rev. Roumaine Math. Pures Appl.* XIII **8** (1968), 1173-1194.
- [95] D.D. Stancu, O. Agratini, Gh. Coman, R. Trâmbiţaş: *Analiză Numerică și Teoria Aproximării*, vol. I, Cluj-Napoca: Presa Universitară Clujeană 2001.

- [96] E.L. Stark: Bernstein-Polynome, 1912-1955. (German. English summary) [Bernstein polynomials, 1912-1955] Functional analysis and approximation (Oberwolfach, 1980), pp. 443-461, Internat. Ser. Numer. Math., 60, Birkhüser, Basel-Boston, Mass., 1981.
- [97] E.D. Stănilă: Remarks on Bernstein-Euler-Jacobi (BEJ) type operators, *General Mathematics* Vol. 20, **5** (2012), Special Issue, 123-132.
- [98] E.M. Stein: *Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals.* Princeton University Press, 1993.
- [99] W.B. Temple: Stieltjes integral representation of convex functions, *Duke Math. J.* **21** (1954), 527-531.
- [100] E. Voronovskaya: Détermination de la forme asymptotique d'approximation des functions par les polynômes de M. Bernstein. Doklady Akademii Nauk SSSR (1932), 79-85.
- [101] K.G. Weierstrass: Über die analytische Darstellbarkeit sogenannter willkürlischer Funktionen einer reellen Veränderlichen, Sitzungsber. Akad. Berlin (1885), 633-639, 789-805.
- [102] H.J. Wenz: On the limits of (linear combinations of) iterates of linear operators, J. Approx. Theory 89 (1997), 219-237.
- [103] V. Żuk: Functions of the Lip 1 class and S.N. Bernstein's polynomials (Russian), Vestnik Leningrad. Univ. Mat. Mekh. Astronom. 1 (1989), 25-30, 122-123.